



HN9000 Satellite Modem Installation Guide

1037576-0001 Revision E December 19, 2008

11717 Exploration Lane, Germantown, MD 20876 T: 301.428.5500 F: 301.428.1868/2830

Copyright © 2008 Hughes Network Systems, LLC

All rights reserved. This publication and its contents are proprietary to Hughes Network Systems, LLC. No part of this publication may be reproduced in any form or by any means without the written permission of Hughes Network Systems, LLC, 11717 Exploration Lane, Germantown, Maryland 20876.

Hughes Network Systems, LLC has made every effort to ensure the correctness and completeness of the material in this document. Hughes Network Systems, LLC shall not be liable for errors contained herein. The information in this document is subject to change without notice. Hughes Network Systems, LLC makes no warranty of any kind with regard to this material, including, but not limited to, the implied warranties of merchantability and fitness for a particular purpose.

HughesNet.



Trademarks

Hughes, Hughes Network Systems, HughesNet, and SPACEWAY are trademarks of Hughes Network Systems, LLC. All other trademarks are the property of their respective owners. This product is compatible with the Hughes SPACEWAY system.

Contents

Understanding safety alert messages	xiii
Messages concerning personal injury	xiii
Messages concerning property damage	xiii
Safety symbols	xiii
Scope and audience	XV
Chanter 1. Satellite modern overview	1
Supported configurations	••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••
Satellite modem specifications	4
Chapter 2: Preparing for installation	5
Installation summary	6
Installation checklist	
Conducting a site survey	
Instructions for other terminal components.	9
Power supply information	10
Primary tools and equipment needed for installation	11
Additional equipment	11
Use a surge protector	12
Requirements for IFL cables, connectors, and ground blocks	12
A hub may be required	12
Computer requirements	12
Configuring the installer laptop IP address	13
Configuring a link-local IP address on the installer laptop	14
Configuring an alternate IP address on the installer laptop	
Chapter 3: Installing the satellite modem	17
Selecting the modem location	18
Modem operating position	18
Powering up the modem	18
Connecting the installer laptop to the modem	19
Entering the installation parameters	20
Chapter 4: Installing outdoor equipment and antenna pointing	27
Installing the IFL cables	
Routing and connecting the IFL cables	
IFL grounding requirement	28
Labeling the IFL cables	29

Definitions the entering	
Pointing the antenna	
hapter 5: Commissioning the satellite modem	
Prerequisites for commissioning	
Monitoring the commissioning process	
Implementation of second IP address	
Commissioning and installation reference information	
Commissioning activities and progress messages	
Registration error messages	
Terminal Info parameters	
Troubleshooting installation problems	40
hantor 6. Validating the installation	41
A quick look at the validation procedure	4 2
Prerequisites	42
Accessing the OVT	43
Service activation prerequisites	
Connecting the satellite modern to the sustamer's computer	52
Connecting the saterifie modelli to the customer's computer	
Activation procedure	
Activation procedure hapter 8: Completing the installation Printing the System Information page	
Activation procedure hapter 8: Completing the installation Printing the System Information page Creating a shortcut to the System Control Center Installation and activation complete	
Activation procedure Activation procedure Printing the System Information page Creating a shortcut to the System Control Center Installation and activation complete hapter 9: System Control Center	
Activation procedure. Chapter 8: Completing the installation Printing the System Information page. Creating a shortcut to the System Control Center Installation and activation complete. Chapter 9: System Control Center	
Activation procedure Chapter 8: Completing the installation Printing the System Information page Creating a shortcut to the System Control Center Installation and activation complete Creating the System Control Center Accessing the System Control Center Creating a shortcut to the System Control Center	
Connecting the satellite model to the customer's computer Activation procedure Chapter 8: Completing the installation Printing the System Information page Creating a shortcut to the System Control Center Installation and activation complete Chapter 9: System Control Center Accessing the System Control Center Creating a shortcut to the System Control Center Creating a shortcut to the System Control Center System Control Center home page	
Activation procedure	
Connecting the satellite inotent to the customer's computer Activation procedure. Chapter 8: Completing the installation. Printing the System Information page. Creating a shortcut to the System Control Center Installation and activation complete. Chapter 9: System Control Center. Accessing the System Control Center. Creating a shortcut to the System Control Center. System Control Center home page. Text links. Common features on System Control Center screens.	
Connecting the satellite inotent to the customer's computer Activation procedure. Chapter 8: Completing the installation. Printing the System Information page. Creating a shortcut to the System Control Center . Installation and activation complete. Chapter 9: System Control Center. Accessing the System Control Center. Creating a shortcut to the System Control Center. Creating a shortcut to the System Control Center. System Control Center home page. Text links. Common features on System Control Center screens. Button links.	
Activation procedure. Chapter 8: Completing the installation. Printing the System Information page. Creating a shortcut to the System Control Center Installation and activation complete. Chapter 9: System Control Center. Accessing the System Control Center. Creating a shortcut to the System Control Center. Creating a shortcut to the System Control Center. System Control Center. Creating a shortcut to the System Control Center. Creating a shortcut to the System Control Center. System Control Center home page. Text links. Common features on System Control Center screens. Button links. System Status button.	
Activation procedure. Activation procedure. Printing the System Information page. Creating a shortcut to the System Control Center Installation and activation complete. Chapter 9: System Control Center Accessing the System Control Center. Creating a shortcut to the System Control Center. Creating a shortcut to the System Control Center. Creating a shortcut to the System Control Center. System Control Center home page. Text links. Common features on System Control Center screens. Button links. System Status button. Links in left panel.	
Connecting the sateline model to the customer's computer Activation procedure. Printing the System Information page. Creating a shortcut to the System Control Center Installation and activation complete. Chapter 9: System Control Center Accessing the System Control Center. Creating a shortcut to the System Control Center. Accessing the System Control Center. Creating a shortcut to the System Control Center. System Control Center home page. Text links. Common features on System Control Center screens. Button links. System Status button. Links in left panel. Icon to access Advanced Pages.	
Activation procedure. Chapter 8: Completing the installation. Printing the System Information page. Creating a shortcut to the System Control Center Installation and activation complete. Chapter 9: System Control Center. Accessing the System Control Center. Creating a shortcut to the System Control Center. System Control Center home page. Text links. Common features on System Control Center screens. Button links. System Status button. Links in left panel. Icon to access Advanced Pages. Status and information screens.	
Activation procedure. Chapter 8: Completing the installation. Printing the System Information page. Creating a shortcut to the System Control Center Installation and activation complete. Chapter 9: System Control Center. Accessing the System Control Center. Creating a shortcut to the System Control Center. System Control Center home page. Text links. Common features on System Control Center screens. Button links. System Status button. Links in left panel. Icon to access Advanced Pages. Status and information screens. State codes on status and information screens.	
Activation procedure. Activation procedure. Printing the System Information page. Creating a shortcut to the System Control Center . Installation and activation complete. Chapter 9: System Control Center. Accessing the System Control Center. Creating a shortcut to the System Control Center. Accessing the System Control Center. Creating a shortcut to the System Control Center. System Control Center home page. Text links. Common features on System Control Center screens. Button links. System Status button. Links in left panel. Icon to access Advanced Pages. Status and information screens. Red flag indicator.	

iv

Contents

Typical values for System Status parameters	74
Red flags on System Status page	76
Reception Information page	77
Typical values for Reception Information parameters	
Red flags on Reception Information page	
Transmission Information page	80
Typical values for Transmission Information parameters	80
Red flags on Transmission Information page	81
Terminal Status page	
Typical values for Terminal Status parameters	83
System Information page	
Typical values for System Information parameters	85
State codes	
Viewing the state codes list	
Connectivity Test page	

Chapter 10: LEDs	
Front panel LEDs	
LAN port LEDs	

Chapter 11: Troubleshooting	
Rescue switch	
Cannot access the System Control Center	

Chapter 12: Advanced Pages	
Accessing the Advanced Pages	
Expanding and collapsing menus	
Opening the Installation sub-menu	

Appendix A: Computer settings	107
Understanding the modem address and computer address	107
If you don't know the modem's public IP address	
Configuring a computer to use DHCP	
Configuring Windows Vista to use DHCP	
Configuring Windows XP to use DHCP	
Configuring Windows 2000 to use DHCP	
Configuring a Mac computer to use DHCP	
Configuring a computer for a public IP address	117
Configuring Windows Vista – Public IP address	117
Configuring Windows XP – Public IP address	
Configuring Windows 2000 – Public IP address	
Configuring a Mac computer – Public IP address	

V

Configuring proxy settings	
Configuring Internet Explorer to not use a proxy server	125
Configuring Netscape to not use a proxy server	126

Appendix B: Conformance with standards and directives		
Electromagnetic interference (EMI)	129	
FCC Part 15		
Canada Class B warning		
Operational and safety requirements for Canada		
Repairs in Canada		

Appendix C: Ac	ronyms used i	n this	guide	13	1
----------------	---------------	--------	-------	----	---

Table of Figures

Figure 1: HN9000 satellite modem	1
Figure 2: Single-host configuration	2
Figure 3: Multiple-host configuration in an Ethernet wired LAN	
Figure 4: Private network configuration	
Figure 5: Satellite modem installation summary	7
Figure 6: Power supply for the HN9000 satellite modem	
Figure 7: Internet Protocol Properties dialog	15
Figure 8: Settings for link-local and alternate addresses on the laptop	16
Figure 9: HN9000 in vertical position	
Figure 10: Powering up the modem	19
Figure 11: Connecting the installer's laptop computer to the modem	
Figure 12: System Control Center home page	21
Figure 13: Icon for opening Advanced Pages	21
Figure 14: Installation Parameters screen	
Figure 15: Fields where latitude and longitude are entered	23
Figure 16: Example of a GPS receiver display	
Figure 17: State code displayed below latitude and longitude fields	
Figure 18: Terminal Pointing Info screen	
Figure 19: In-line connection of the DAPT	
Figure 20: Connecting the transmit and receive cables	
Figure 21: Terminal Initialization Sequence in progress	
Figure 22: Terminal Initialization Sequence complete	
Figure 23: Latest values compared to target values (partial screen)	42
Figure 24: Validate link on System Control Center page	44
Figure 25: Installation Portal, installer login screen	45
Figure 26: Installation Portal Welcome screen	46
Figure 27: Data Collection screen	47
Figure 28: Site and installer ID information	
Figure 29: OVT screen comparing latest and target values	49
Figure 30: Terminal Initialization Sequence screen (top part)	
Figure 31: Activate link indicating modem is ready for service activation	53
Figure 32: Connecting Ethernet cable to customer's computer or other device	
Figure 33: Activate link on the System Control Center home page	55
Figure 34: Subscriber agreement	
Figure 35: Subscriber agreement with SAN and PIN fields	
Figure 36: Welcome screen	
Figure 37: Downloading Software screen	
Figure 38: Computer verified screen	
Figure 39: Configure Software (HughesNet Tools) screen	
Figure 40: Implement Public IP? screen	60
Figure 41: Activation Complete screen	61

Figure 42: Icon for creating shortcut	66
Figure 43: System Control Center home page	67
Figure 44: Common features on System Control Center screens	69
Figure 45: System Control Center button links	69
Figure 46: Icon for accessing the Advanced Pages	71
Figure 47: Format of status and information screens	72
Figure 48: Example of a state code	72
Figure 49: Red flag problem indicator	
Figure 50: System Status page	74
Figure 51: Reception Information page	77
Figure 52: Transmission Information page	80
Figure 53: Terminal Status page (top part)	
Figure 54: System Information page (top part)	85
Figure 55: Examples of state codes	
Figure 56: Terminal Connectivity Test page	
Figure 57: Front panel LEDs on the HN9000 modem	96
Figure 58: LAN port LEDs	97
Figure 59: Satellite loopback connectivity test	
Figure 60: Terminal Connectivity Test page	
Figure 61: Connectivity Test results page	
Figure 62: Icon for accessing Advanced Pages	
Figure 63: Advanced Pages example showing the Advanced menu	
Figure 64: Example of Addressing parameters showing available private IP addresses	
Figure 65: Example of Addressing parameters showing one available public IP address	
Figure 66: Network connections – Windows Vista	
Figure 67: Local Area Connection Properties – Windows Vista	
Figure 68: Internet Protocol Properties – Windows Vista	
Figure 69: Network connections – Windows XP	
Figure 70: Local Area Connection Properties – Windows XP	
Figure 71: Internet Protocol Properties – Windows XP	
Figure 72: Accessing Local Area Connection Properties – Windows 2000	
Figure 73: Local Area Connection Properties Dialog – Windows 2000	
Figure 74: Internet Protocol Properties – Windows 2000	
Figure 75: Mac System Preferences menu	
Figure 76: Mac Network screen	
Figure 77: Select DHCP from the configure drop-down menu	117
Figure 78: Network connections – Windows Vista	
Figure 79: Local Area Connection Properties – Windows Vista	
Figure 80: Internet Protocol Properties – Windows Vista	119
Figure 81: Accessing Local Area Connection Properties – Windows XP	
Figure 82: Local Area Connection Properties Dialog – Windows XP	
Figure 83: Internet Protocol Properties – Windows XP	
Figure 84: Accessing Local Area Connection Properties – Windows 2000	
Figure 85: Local Area Connection Properties Dialog – Windows 2000	
Figure 86: Internet Protocol Properties – Windows 2000	

Table of Figures

Figure 87: Mac System Preferences menu	
Figure 88: Mac Network screen	
Figure 89: Select Manually from the configure drop-down menu	
Figure 90: LAN settings – Internet Explorer	
Figure 91: Proxy settings in Netscape Preferences window	

Table of Tables

Table 1: Specifications for the HN9000 satellite modem	4
Table 2: Related installation documents	9
Table 3: Power supply specifications for the HN9000 satellite modem	10
Table 4: Commissioning progress messages	35
Table 5: Reasons for registration errors and corrective actions	
Table 6: Parameters in Terminal Info section (appears on two installation screens)	
Table 7: Guidelines for installation troubleshooting	40
Table 8: Button links on System Control Center screens	69
Table 9: Meaning of System Status button colors	70
Table 10: System Status parameters – typical values and range	74
Table 11: Explanation of red flags on System Status page	76
Table 12: Reception Information parameters – typical values and range	78
Table 13: Explanation of red flags on Reception Information page	79
Table 14: Transmission Information parameters – typical values and range	80
Table 15: Terminal Status parameters – typical values and range	83
Table 16: System Information parameters – typical values and range	86
Table 17: State codes	
Table 18: Front panel LED indications	96
Table 19: HN9000 standards compliance	129

Understanding safety alert messages

Safety alert messages call attention to potential safety hazards and tell you how to avoid them. These messages are identified by the signal words DANGER, WARNING, CAUTION, or NOTICE, as illustrated below. To avoid possible property damage, personal injury, or in some cases possible death, read and comply with all safety alert messages.

Messages concerning personal injury

The signal words DANGER, WARNING, and CAUTION indicate hazards that could result in personal injury or in some cases death, as explained below. Each of these signal words indicates the severity of the potential hazard.



DANGER indicates a potentially hazardous situation which, if not avoided, *will* result in death or serious injury.



WARNING indicates a potentially hazardous situation which, if not avoided, *could* result in death or serious injury.



CAUTION indicates a potentially hazardous situation which, if not avoided, could result in *minor or moderate* injury.

Messages concerning property damage

NOTICE

NOTICE is used for messages concerning possible property damage, product damage or malfunction, data loss, or other unwanted results—but *not* personal injury.

Safety symbols

The generic safety alert symbol \bigwedge calls attention to a potential personal injury hazard. It appears next to the DANGER, WARNING, and CAUTION signal words as part of the signal word label. Other symbols may appear next to DANGER, WARNING, or CAUTION to indicate

a specific type of hazard (for example, fire or electric shock). If other hazard symbols are used in this document they are identified in this section.

Additional symbols

This document uses this symbol 2^{12} to indicate a safety alert message that concerns a potential electric shock hazard.

Scope and audience

This installation guide explains how to install, commission, activate, and troubleshoot the Hughes HN9000 satellite modem. It also contains certain reference information concerning operation of the satellite modem.

This guide is written primarily for professional installers. It may also be useful for:

- Trainers who train installers
- · Call center operators who respond to customers' calls

This guide is written for satellite modem installations in the United States and Canada.

Chapter 1

Satellite modem overview

Topics:

- Supported configurations
- Satellite modem specifications

The HN9000 satellite modem connects to the Internet or an intranet by satellite and provides Internet or intranet service to a single host, typically a computer, or to multiple hosts on a LAN. A host may be a computer using Windows or other supported operating system.

The modem is a self-hosted unit, meaning that it does not depend on a computer to establish and maintain the Internet or intranet connection. However, the modem must be connected to a properly aligned satellite antenna. The modem has an Ethernet port so it can be connected to a computer or to an Ethernet LAN.



Figure 1: HN9000 satellite modem

Note: Acronyms used in this installation guide are identified in *Acronyms used in this guide* on page 131.

Supported configurations

This section shows examples of supported configurations using the HN9000 satellite modem.

The satellite modem may be used in a single-host configuration or multiple-host configuration. In a single-host configuration, the satellite modem is directly connected to the host (a computer), as shown in *Figure 2: Single-host configuration* on page 2. The Hughes Internet Gateway is a Hughes-operated satellite station that provides a connection between the Internet and the satellite. The gateway routes data to and from the Internet and to and from the satellite, which in turn beams a signal down to the satellite modem to provide Internet connectivity.



Figure 2: Single-host configuration

In a multiple-host configuration, the hosts on the LAN share satellite Internet or intranet connectivity through an Ethernet hub, router, or wireless base station. The satellite modem is connected to the hub, router, or wireless base station, as shown in *Figure 3: Multiple-host configuration in an Ethernet wired LAN* on page 3.

Note: The customer must provide and configure hub, router, or wireless base station equipment.



Figure 3: Multiple-host configuration in an Ethernet wired LAN

Figure 4: Private network configuration on page 3 shows a private network using two satellite modems at two locations. The thick broken line shows how the network connects a PC at one location and to a PC at a second location. This configuration requires two antennas—one at each location. The Hughes Internet Gateway connection is optional and is based upon the network design for the customer private network. Typically this type of configuration is used only in enterprise (business) environments.





Satellite modem specifications

Weight	1.6 lb (0.73 kg)
Width	2.4 inch (6.1 cm)
Height	7.8 inch (19.8 cm)
Depth	9.0 inch (22.9 cm)
Safe operating temperature range	5 to 40° C (Above 5000 ft altitude, the maximum temperature is reduced by 1° C per 1000 ft.)
Safe operating humidity range	5% to 95% non-condensing
Safe altitude	Up to 10,000 ft
Cooling method	Convection
Protocol support	TCP/IP (Transmission Control Protocol / Internet Protocol) protocol suite
Interface ports	One Ethernet port supporting 10BaseT or 100BaseT operation, RJ-45-switched
Power supplies and power requirements	See Power supply information on page 10.

Table 1: Specifications for the HN9000 satellite modem

Chapter

2

Preparing for installation

Topics:

- Installation summary
- Installation checklist
- Conducting a site survey
- Instructions for other terminal components
- Power supply information
- Primary tools and equipment needed for installation
- Additional equipment
- Computer requirements
- Configuring the installer laptop IP address

This section describes preparations for installing the satellite modem and includes information you should know before you begin. Review this information before you install the satellite modem, antenna assembly, antenna mount, or IFL cables. Refer also to *Installation summary* on page 6.

To install the satellite modem, you need the *Installation Reference Sheet*. This form includes parameters you need to enter to install the modem (A code, B code, C code, and U code, which are explained later). Print the Installation Reference Sheet for your specific installation from the online HughesNet Installation Portal.

Before you proceed, review the sections in this chapter, which are listed in the left panel.

Installation summary

This installation guide covers installation of the satellite modem. It does not cover installation of the other satellite terminal components: the antenna and radio assembly, antenna mount, and IFL cables. However, to understand modem installation, you must understand the overall installation process, which includes installation of all of the satellite terminal components. A summary of the overall terminal installation process is presented in *Figure 5: Satellite modem installation summary* on page 7. This diagram focuses on tasks performed by the installer to install the satellite modem. Details for modem installation tasks are included in the sections that follow.

Prepare for installation

1. Make sure you have the Installation Reference Sheet, all equipment to be installed, and required tools.

 Conduct a site survey. Use a GPS receiver to determine latitude and longitude at the antenna site.

3. Move the satellite modem, antenna, radio assembly, and mount to their respective installation locations.

Install satellite modem

Physically install the satellite modem:

Place it. Connect power. Make sure the modem passes its self-test.

Connect modem to installer laptop.

6. Start browser and open the initial installation screen.

Enter installation parameters

Enter installation parameters.

8. Read and note the azimuth, elevation, tilt, and ODU polarization values to be used for initial antenna pointing; these values are displayed by the installation software.

Outdoor tasks	Install outdoor equipment
These tasks are not modem installation tasks, but are closely	9. Confirm line of sight using azimuth and elevation displayed by the installation software
related and are required for overall	10 Install the antenna mount.
installation of the terminal.	 Install the antenna and radio assembly.
	12. Set the ODU polarizer (LHCP or RHCP).
	13 Route and connect the IFL cables to the radio with the DAPT connected in-line on the receive cable.
14. Connect the transmit and receive IFL cables to the modem.	< See 14 (indoor step).
	Point antenna and validate results
	 Point the antenna as instructed in the Antenna Pointing Guide.
	16 Validate pointing and store the pointing results.

Monitor commissioning

17. Monitor commissioning progress messages. (Commissioning includes registration.)

Validate the installation

18. Use the Onsite Validation Tool to validate the installation.

Activate the broadband service

19. Connect modem to customer PC.

20. Customer activates the broadband service. For detailed information, see the *Quick Start Guide*, which is shipped in the box with the modem, and *Activating the HughesNet service* in this guide.

Details for satellite modem installation tasks are included in the sections that follow.

Figure 5: Satellite modem installation summary

Complete the steps in the order shown in *Figure 5: Satellite modem installation summary* on page 7 unless you have a specific reason for doing them in a different order. In any case, make sure all steps are completed. Be aware that the satellite modem has to provide the azimuth, elevation, polarization, and tilt angle values before antenna pointing can be completed.

Installation checklist

Later in the installation process you are instructed to use the onsite validation tool (OVT) to validate the installation. Validation ensures that the site is performing to acceptable standards. To increase the likelihood that the site will pass validation the first time you try, **pay careful attention to the items listed in the checklist below as you install the modem, antenna, and IFL cables**.

IFL cables

 \Box Use only approved cables.

 \Box Do not exceed maximum length for the ODU type (such as 2 W or 4 W), cable type, and cable part number.

 \Box Do not exceed the cable bend radius.

Properly terminate cables.

Connectors and connections

 \Box Use only connector types that are approved for the type of cable used. Check all connections for tightness.

Outdoors:

☐ Make sure F connectors connected to the radio assembly are tightened to 22 in-lb torque.

□ Carefully follow waterproofing procedures, using dielectric grease and Hughes-approved weatherproof tape.

Power source

□ Before connecting the modem power supply to the AC power source (using a surge protector), use an AC outlet tester to verify that the power outlet is wired correctly. Wiring problems may include:

- · Hot and neutral wires reversed
- Neutral and ground wires reversed
- Open ground (incomplete connection)
- Open neutral

If the outlet is wired improperly, notify the customer that you are not permitted to connect the system to a faulty outlet. Do not proceed with the installation until a properly wired outlet is provided.

Grounding (modem, antenna, radio, and IFL)

Adhere to Hughes grounding requirements.

Use only approved ground wires, ground blocks, lugs, and clamps.

For detailed information refer to the appropriate FSB, as listed in *Table 2: Related installation documents* on page 9.

Conducting a site survey

Survey the customer site to confirm that it is satisfactory for installation of the satellite terminal.

The tasks listed here are the key tasks related to installation of the satellite modem. For complete site survey information, see the *Antenna Site Preparation and Mount Installation Guide* (1035678-0001).

- **1.** Use a GPS receiver to determine the latitude and longitude at the antenna site. Note the readings.
- **2.** Make sure there is an unobstructed line of sight to the satellite indicated on the Installation Reference Sheet.
- **3.** Confirm that the customer's computer meets the requirements listed in *Computer requirements* on page 12.

Instructions for other terminal components

This installation guide covers only installation of the satellite modem. For installation instructions for other components, see *Table 2: Related installation documents* on page 9. You can view or download these documents on the HughesNet Installation Portal at https://dwayinstalls.hns.com/start/loginInstaller.jsp. If you have any problem logging in, contact Installer Support.

Component or topic	Where to find instructions
Safety (all components)	Antenna Site Preparation and Mount Installation Guide (1035678-0001)
Site survey	
Site preparation	
Antenna mounts	
IFL	
IFL cables (specifications, approved types, maximum lengths)	Field Service Bulletin (FSB), <i>IFL Cable, Approved List (with lengths) for Spaceway Domestic Installations</i> (FSB_080202_01)
IFL cable connectors	Field Service Bulletin (FSB), <i>HNS Broadband Requirements for</i> <i>RG-6 and RG-11 IFL Cable Connectors, Ground Blocks, and</i>
Grounding	Ground Block Location (FSB_050518_01)
Ground blocks	
Antenna	See the antenna installation manual for the specific antenna model
Radio assembly	you are instanting.
Antenna pointing	Ka-Band Antenna Pointing Guide (1037663-0001)
Site validation (OVT)	Installer's Guide to the Ka-Band Onsite Validation Tool (OVT) (1038091-0001)

Table 2: Related installation documents

Also see and adhere to the customer-specific installation specification. Typically these specifications apply to all installations for a particular company.

Power supply information

The power supply is included in the satellite modem shipping carton.



Figure 6: Power supply for the HN9000 satellite modem

Before proceeding, make sure you have the correct power supply. Check the part number on the power supply and refer to *Table 3: Power supply specifications for the HN9000 satellite modem* on page 10.

NOTICE

- Always use the power supply provided with the satellite modem. The modem's performance may suffer if the wrong power supply is used.
- Connect the power supply to a three-wire, grounded outlet with an input of 110/130 VAC. A suitable surge protector is recommended to protect the satellite modem from possible damage due to power surges.
- If the satellite modem is installed outside the United States or Canada, observe the power standards and requirements of the country where it is installed.

Table 3: Power supply specifications for the HN9000 satellite modem

Power supply type and part number	Application	Electrical requirements	Power cord
AC/DC, 73 W	HN9000 satellite modem with 1-W or 2-W radio	Input line voltage:	Detachable, for 110
P/N 1501006-0001		100 – 130 V, 2 A maximum	VAC outlet type.
		Input line frequency:	
		60 Hz AC	
		Rated power consumption: 73 W	





If there is any reason to remove power from the satellite modem, always unplug the AC power cord from the power source (power outlet, power strip, or surge protector). Do *not* remove the DC power cord from the modem's rear panel. Doing so could result in an electrical shock or damage the modem.

When you re-apply power to the modem, plug the AC power cord into the power source.

Primary tools and equipment needed for installation

To install the satellite modem, you need the following items, which are included in the satellite modem shipping carton:

- Satellite modem.
- Power supply.
- Ethernet cable.

To install the satellite modem, antenna assembly, and IFL cables you also need the additional items listed below.

- Antenna.
- IFL cables, cable connectors, and ground blocks You need enough cable to connect the satellite modem to the antenna (transmit cable and receive cable). For additional information, see *Table 2: Related installation documents* on page 9.
- Laptop computer (installer computer) with Internet Explorer browser installed.
- DAPT A small device that guides the installer through the antenna pointing process and displays pointing values.
- Squinter A tool used to fine point the antenna by capturing the satellite signal from different portions of the antenna reflector surface. The squinter type depends on the radio assembly to be installed, as explained in the *Ka-Band Antenna Pointing Guide* (1037663-0001).
- Fine azimuth pointing tool Required for some antenna models.
- GPS receiver The GPS receiver must give readings accurate to 1/1000 minute (for example, 60 degrees, 15.152 minutes).
- Installation Reference Sheet This document describes the work to be done and provides important information that needs to be entered on the installation screens—the Terminal site name or ID and parameters that are required for installation.

No tools are required to install the modem. For tools needed to install the antenna mount and antenna and point the antenna, see:

- Antenna Site Preparation and Mount Installation Guide (1035678-0001)
- Ka-Band Antenna Pointing Guide (1037663-0001)
- The installation manual for the antenna model you are installing

Additional equipment

This section discusses additional equipment that is recommended and equipment you may need depending on the specific installation.

Use a surge protector

The customer is advised to provide a surge protector (recommended). If a surge protector is not present, connect the modem power supply to a wall outlet or other power source.

NOTICE

A suitable surge protector is recommended to protect the satellite modem from possible damage due to power surges.

Requirements for IFL cables, connectors, and ground blocks

You must use approved cable types and connectors to connect the modem to the outdoor satellite antenna. For grounding, you must use approved ground blocks and grounding connectors. For detailed specifications and information on these components, see the documents listed in *Table 2: Related installation documents* on page 9.

A hub may be required

If the satellite modem is to be connected to a network, an Ethernet hub or other similar device is required. The customer must supply and configure the hub or other device, including required cables, according to the documentation for the hub or other network device.

Computer requirements

Make sure the laptop computer you use to install the satellite modem and the customer's computer that will be connected to the modem meet the following minimum requirements. Requirements are listed by operating system.

All requirements are minimum requirements except those identified as recommended.

The satellite modem may work with a computer that does not meet these requirements, but Hughes supports only computers that meet these requirements.

Microsoft Windows Vista Home Basic

- Processor speed: 800 MHz
- System memory: 512 MB
- Free hard disk space: 150 MB

Microsoft Windows Vista Home Premium, Business, Enterprise, or Ultimate

- Processor speed: 1 GHz
- System memory: 1 GB
- Free hard disk space: 150 MB

Microsoft Windows XP, Professional or Home Edition

- Processor speed: 233 MHz. Recommended: 300 MHz or higher
- System memory: 128 MB. Recommended: 256 MB or more
- Free hard disk space: 150 MB

Microsoft Windows 2000, Professional Edition with Service Pack 4

- Processor speed: 133 MHz
- System memory: 128 MB
- Free hard disk space: 150 MB

Apple Mac 9.0-10.5 (excludes 10.0)

- Processor speed: 300 MHz
- System memory: 128 MB
- Free hard disk space: 150 MB

Note: The satellite modem can be used with a Mac computer that meets these requirements, but Mac computers are not supported as a tool for installing the satellite modem.

Networking requirements

- Ethernet port
- Ethernet cable (provided)
- Ethernet NIC, 10/100 Mbps, configured as follows:
 - Auto-negotiate
 - DHCP enabled
 - · Obtain an IP address automatically
 - **Note:** The computer can be configured to use a public IP address if the HughesNet service plan provides for one or more public IP addresses.

Internet browser

- Internet Explorer 6 or greater, Netscape Navigator, Mozilla Firefox, Safari (for Windows and Mac)
- Browser settings:
 - HTTP 1.1 or greater enabled
 - Proxy settings disabled

Configuring the installer laptop IP address

You have several options for configuring the IP address on your installer laptop computer, as explained below.

The option you choose affects your ability to perform various installation tasks. To enter installation parameters and subsequently monitor commissioning progress, including state codes, which indicate installation progress, the laptop must be configured for link-local IP address 169.254.10.10. However, you cannot browse the Internet if the laptop is configured to use this address. After commissioning, you must use the address 192.168.0.1 with DHCP enabled to open the System Control Center.

From the following options, choose the address configuration that best suits your preferences and the way you work.

• Link-local IP address with alternate private IP address – If you want to configure the link-local IP address 169.254.10.10 on the installer laptop, but you do not want to remove that address each time you go to the System Control Center, you can configure an alternate private IP address, 192.168.0.2, along with the 169.254.10.10 address. For instructions see *Configuring a link-local IP address on the installer laptop* on page 14 and *Configuring an alternate IP address on the installer laptop* on page 15.

• **DHCP enabled** – If you enable DHCP on the laptop (no static IP address) you can type 192.168.0.1 or *www.systemcontrolcenter.com* in the browser address bar anytime *after commissioning* to go to the System Control Center home page. DHCP allows your laptop to obtain IP addresses automatically. This option may be more convenient if you use your laptop for a variety of activities.

However, if DHCP is enabled on the laptop during commissioning, you must periodically press the F5 function key or increase the screen refresh rate to see if a commissioning error has occurred or to know when commissioning has completed. Also, with DHCP enabled, you cannot observe the entire registration process (part of commissioning) as it occurs. This is because when the modem is updating and rebooting, you cannot launch the screen that shows the registration progress.

For instructions see Configuring a computer to use DHCP on page 109.

- **Note:** If you switch from using the link-local IP address to DHCP enabled, the modem may acquire the dynamic address more quickly if you force a new connection (on a Windows computer) as follows:
 - 1. Open a (DOS) Command Prompt window.
 - 2. Type ipconfig/release.
 - 3. Press Enter.
 - 4. Type ipconfig/renew.
 - 5. Press Enter.
- Link-local IP address (only) If you configure link-local address 169.254.10.10 on the installer laptop, you *will not* be able to open the System Control Center by entering 192.168.0.1 or *www.systemcontrolcenter.com* in the browser address bar. The configured link-local IP address will not allow access to the typed-in address. A typed address will only work if you clear the link-local IP address from the laptop IP configuration and enable DHCP, or configure an additional static private IP address as explained in *Configuring an alternate IP address on the installer laptop* on page 15.

Configuring a link-local IP address on the installer laptop

These instructions explain how to configure the installer laptop computer to use the link-local IP address 169.254.10.10. If you also want to configure an alternate address on the installer laptop (optional, for convenience), see *Configuring an alternate IP address on the installer laptop* on page 15.

These instructions are for Windows XP. Procedures for other Windows operating systems are similar. If you need additional instructions, see *Configuring a computer for a public IP address* on page 117.

1. Use the Windows Control Panel on the installer laptop to open the Local Area Connection Properties dialog and then the Internet Protocol (TCP/IP) Properties dialog. If you need more specific instructions, see *Configuring a computer for a public IP address* on page 117.

Network C	onnections		
File Edit Vie	W Favorites Tools Advanced H	des ? X	
Address 🔕 Ne	General Advanced	Internet Protocol (TCP/IP) Properties	×
LAN or High	Connect using:	General	1
Local Area	Intel(R) 82566DM-2 Gigabit	You can get IP settings assigned auto capability. Otherwise, you need to ask appropriate IP settings. Shown here.	
Wizard	Client for Microsoft Network	Obtain an IP address automatically Ottain an IP address: IP address: IP address:	
New Connecti	Install Un	Subnet mask: 255 . 255 . 0 . 0 Default gateway: 169 . 254 . 0 . 1	
	Transmission Control Protocol/I area network protocol that provi diverse interconnected network	Obtain DNS server address automatically Otse the following DNS server addresses:	
	Show icon in notification area w Notify me when this connection 	Preferred DNS server: 66 82 4 8 Alternate DNS server: - - -	
		Advanced]
Intel(K) 82566D		OK Cancel	

Figure 7: Internet Protocol Properties dialog

- 2. In the Internet Protocol Properties dialog, click Use the following IP address.
- 3. Enter the following:
 - a) In the IP address field, type 169.254.10.10. This will be the laptop IP address.
 - b) Typically the Subnet mask field auto-populates to 255.255.0.0. If it does not, enter this value manually.
 - c) In the Default gateway field, type 169.254.0.1. This is the address you will use to access the modem's installation screens.
 - d) In the Preferred DNS server field, type 66.82.4.8.
 - e) Click **OK** twice to close the Internet Protocol Properties dialog and the Network Connections dialog.

The laptop computer is now configured to communicate with the satellite modem so you can enter installation parameters and monitor commissioning progress.

Configuring an alternate IP address on the installer laptop

If you do not want to make address changes on the laptop computer during modem installation, you can configure a link-local IP address and a *second* (alternate) private IP address. Then you can access the satellite modem and browse the Internet without changing the IP address settings on the laptop. **The instructions here assume you have already set up an address** on the laptop as explained in *Configuring a link-local IP address on the installer laptop* on page 14.

Configure the second (alternate) IP address as follows:

- 1. Use the Windows Control Panel to open the Local Area Connection Properties dialog and then the Internet Protocol (TCP/IP) Properties dialog.
- 2. Click Advanced to open the Advanced TCP/IP Settings dialog.
- 3. In the IP addresses box, click Add to open the TCP/IP Address dialog.

- a) Type the second IP address 192.168.0.2.
- b) Type the subnet mask 255.255.255.0.
- c) Click Add.
- 4. In the Default gateways box, click Add to open the TCP/IP Gateway Address dialog.
 - a) Type the second gateway IP address 192.168.0.1.
 - b) Click Add.
- **5.** Click **OK** three times to close the Advanced TCP/IP settings dialog, Internet Protocol Properties (TCP/IP) dialog and the Network Connections dialog.
- 6. Close the Network Connections and Control Panel windows.

For your reference, *Figure 8: Settings for link-local and alternate addresses on the laptop* on page 16 shows the information you should see in the Internet Protocol Properties dialog and Advanced TCP/IP Settings dialog after you have set up the primary address and an alternate address on the installer laptop. In the Advanced TCP/IP Settings dialog, the laptop addresses are listed under IP Addresses (primary first, then alternate), and the modem addresses are listed under Default gateways.

	Advanced TCP/IP Settings
Internet Protocol (TCP/IP) Properties	IP Settings DNS WINS Options
General You can get IP settings assigned automatically if your network supports this capability. Otherwise, you need to ask your network administrator for the appropriate IP settings.	IP addresses Subnet mask 163.254 10 10 255.255.00 192.168.02 255.255.0
C Obtain an IP address automatically Use the following IP address: IP address: 169 . 254 . 10 . 10 Subnet mask: 255 . 255 . 0 . 0 Default gateway: 169 . 254 . 0 . 1 	Add Edit Remove
Obtain DNS server address automatically Use the following DNS server addresses: Preferred DNS server: Alternate DNS server:	Add Edit Remove
Advance OK Ca	OK Cancel

Figure 8: Settings for link-local and alternate addresses on the laptop

Chapter

3

Installing the satellite modem

Topics:

- Selecting the modem location
- Modem operating position
- Powering up the modem
- Connecting the installer laptop to the modem
- Entering the installation parameters

Installation of the HN9000 satellite modem consists of physical installation, which is very simple, followed by a complex but highly automated process that fully prepares the modem for operation on the satellite network. Installation tasks include:

- Physical installation and power-up
- Entering required installation parameters
- Pointing the antenna
- Monitoring the commissioning process
- Service activation

Typically, the satellite modem is installed as part of a new satellite terminal installation. Under some circumstances, a modem may have to be re-installed.

Note: In some cases re-installation may correct a specific service problem. Re-installation should only be done by a qualified installer or service technician or someone under specific direction by Hughes Customer Care.

The installation software is factory pre-installed in the satellite modem. If necessary, this software is automatically updated as part of the installation process. You access the installation software through a browser on your installer computer to perform tasks such as entering required installation parameters.

Selecting the modem location

Select a location for the satellite modem that will accommodate all required cable connections, including the power source. Place the modem in the desired location.

NOTICE

- Do not block any ventilation openings. Do not place the satellite modem near heat sources such direct sunlight, radiators, heat registers or vents, ovens, stoves, or other apparatus (including amplifiers) that produce heat.
- Leave 6 inches of space around the top and sides of the modem to ensure ventilation and prevent overheating.

Modem operating position

Install and operate the HN9000 modem only in a vertical position, that is, resting on its built-in base as shown in *Figure 9: HN9000 in vertical position* on page 18. In any other position, the modem may overheat and malfunction because of inadequate ventilation.



Figure 9: HN9000 in vertical position

NOTICE

To avoid overheating, install and operate the HN9000 modem only in the upright vertical position as shown in *Figure 9: HN9000 in vertical position* on page 18.

Powering up the modem

For this task you must have the satellite modem and the correct power supply. To make sure you have the correct power supply, see *Power supply information* on page 10.

Test the power outlet and power up the satellite modem:

- 1. Use an AC outlet tester to verify that the power outlet is wired correctly. Wiring problems may include:
 - · Hot and neutral wires reversed
 - Neutral and ground wires reversed
 - Open ground (incomplete connection)
 - Open neutral

If the outlet is wired improperly, notify the customer that you are not permitted to connect the system to a faulty outlet. Do not proceed with the installation until a properly wired outlet is provided.

- 2. Connect the DC power cord to the modem's DC IN connector, as shown in *Figure 10: Powering up the modem* on page 19.
- 3. Connect the AC power cord to the three-prong connector on the modem's power supply.
- 4. Connect the surge connector (recommended) to an AC power outlet.
- Apply power by connecting the AC power cord to the surge connector. The Power LED turns on, and various LEDs turn on and off as the modem performs a self-test and transitions to boot phase. (Indication that the self-test passed appears later as Self Test : Passed on the screen shown in *Figure 22: Terminal Initialization Sequence complete* on page 34.)



Figure 10: Powering up the modem

NOTICE

A suitable surge protector is recommended to protect the satellite modem from possible damage due to power surges.

Connecting the installer laptop to the modem

For this task you need the provided Ethernet cable.

To access the satellite modem so you can perform the required installation procedures, you connect your installer laptop computer to the modem. After the modem is installed and registered

with the satellite network, you connect the modem to the customer's computer. During modem installation the installer laptop computer must be directly connected to the modem without any intervening connection.

Connect the installer laptop to the modem:

1. Use the Ethernet cable to connect your laptop computer *directly* to the modem's LAN port, as shown in *Figure 11: Connecting the installer's laptop computer to the modem* on page 20.

Do not connect the installer laptop to the modem through an Ethernet router or switch.



Figure 11: Connecting the installer's laptop computer to the modem

- 2. Make sure the satellite modem is not connected to the customer's computer.
- **3.** If you are running firewall software on the laptop computer, disable it until you complete installation of the modem.

The LAN LED on the front of the modem should now be on.

Entering the installation parameters

Prerequisites:

- Before proceeding, make sure the link-local IP address 169.254.0.1 is set up on the installer laptop computer as explained in *Setting the installer laptop IP address*.
- For this task you need the Installation Reference Sheet, which lists parameters you need to enter on screens displayed by the modem's installation software.

Installation of the satellite modem is accomplished through actions performed by the installer, network and installation software, and interaction between the satellite modem and the NOCC. After powering up the modem, the installer enters required parameters. Then, before installation can continue, the installer must accurately point the antenna.

Enter information about the site, satellite, antenna, and radio, as explained in this section. Enter the values shown on the Installation Reference Sheet. **Be sure to enter the information correctly or you may not be able to successfully install the modem**.

1. Start a web browser on your laptop computer.
2. Type 169.254.0.1 in the browser address bar and press Enter.

The System Control Center home page opens.

Note: Use 169.254.0.1 to open the System Control Center only before the satellite modem is commissioned. After the modem is commissioned, use the address www.systemcontrolcenter.com *or* 192.168.0.1. To use 192.168.0.1, the installer's laptop must be configured for two addresses as described in *Configuring an alternate IP address on the installer laptop* on page 15, and DHCP must be enabled.



Figure 12: System Control Center home page

The System Status and System Info buttons are always visible near the top of the System Control Center screens. Three additional buttons are visible after the modem has been commissioned and is operational.

3. Click the small icon indicated by the arrow in *Figure 13: Icon for opening Advanced Pages* on page 21.

		🖌 🗲 🗙 Live Search	٩
		🔓 • 🖻 • 🖶	• 📴 Page • 🎯 Tools •
System Status	System Info		
•	0		<u> </u>
	<u> </u>	Vhat do these controls mean?	*
0	System Control C	enter	



The browser opens the Installation Parameters screen, which appears within a larger screen titled Advanced Configuration and Statistics (*Figure 14: Installation Parameters screen* on page 22). The Installation Parameters screen is the first of several screens that appear within the Advanced Configuration and Statistics screen as you install the modem.

Figure 14: Installation Parameters screen on page 22 is an example, showing the Installation Parameters screen with parameters entered. You must enter the specific parameters for the site where you are installing the satellite modem, as listed on the Installation Reference Sheet. Do not copy parameters from this example.

🖉 Terminal Local User Interface - Wir	ndows Internet Explorer		
🚱 🗣 🙋 http://169.254.0.1/stlui/fs/	advanced/install.html	🖌 😽 🗙 Google 🖉 🖓	
😭 🏟 🏠 • 🗟 - 🖶 • 🔂 Bage	• 💮 Tgols • 🕢 • 🚉 🤹		
ST Name Ste IC ESN: 110100020- Commissioning Sw Version: 0740 Operating Sw Version: 0750	e: N/A D: N/A 13010 J46ca 222aa ■ Enable Auto Refresh Interval (s	and Statistics Home Restart HN9000 sec): 15 Submit UpTime 000:00:01:51	
+ Control	Installation Parameters		
+ Diagnostics + Status Shell	Fill in your configuration information to start installation. (Enter Latitude and Longitude information below.)		
Installation	Terminal Site Name (1-20 Characters)	HNSHS010005599 WARNING: Site Name is case sensitive.	
	A code - Satellite Orbital Location (7 Digits)	0949505	
	B code - Antenna Size (4 Digits)	0749	
	C code - ODU Power (6 Digits)	000103	
	U code (Satellite ID)	A	
	Latitude (DD MM.MMM)	Congitude (DDD MM.MMM)	
	State Code: 5(Acquiring point-to-point SNR in boot phase)		
	Antenna Pointing Indicator Delay (b/w fine and coarse Modes) 30		
	Submit Installation Parame Use values from I "To select a value not on the list, choose 'enter v key to ic	ast successful registration	

Figure 14: Installation Parameters screen

- **Note:** On some screens and in some messages you may see the word *terminal*. This word refers to the satellite modem.
- **4.** For each of the following parameters, select the value that is listed on the Installation Reference Sheet:
 - Terminal site name Note that this field is case-sensitive.
 - A code Satellite orbital location. The value 0949505, which corresponds to the orbital location 94.950° W.
 - B code Antenna size. The B code and C code values are used to ensure that the satellite modem transmits at the correct maximum power.

B code	Antenna size
0749	0.74 m
0988	0.98 m
1208	1.2 m

B code	Antenna size
1804	1.8 m

For the HN9000 modem, select 0.74 m or 0.98 m antenna size only.

```
• C code – ODU power
```

C code	Nominal ODU power
000103	1 W
000200	2 W
000406	4 W
001004	10 W Power booster unit

For the HN9000 modem, select 1 W or 2 W ODU power only.

• U code - Select the U Code (Satellite ID) shown on the Installation Reference Sheet.

The A, B, C, and U code fields each have a drop-down menu for easier and more accurate data entry. Make your selections from these menus. You can type your own value in the space that reads, *Enter Your Own Value*—but do this *only if you are specifically instructed to do so by Hughes Installer Support*.

- **Note:** You can clear previously entered installation information by clicking **Control** in the screen's left panel, and then clicking **Clear Terminal Install**. A message warns that **this operation could make the modem inoperable**. Execute this command only if you are confident you know what to expect. The modem reboots, and all fields are cleared.
- **5.** Enter the site latitude and longitude values from your GPS receiver, in degrees and minutes to three decimal places.

CLatitude (DD MM.MMM)	CLongitude (DDD MM.MMM)
 North O South 	West O East
39 deg 10.760 min	77 deg 14.810 min

Figure 15: Fields where latitude and longitude are entered

The modem's installation software uses the site latitude and longitude to determine the uplink and downlink cells to which the modem will be assigned and the uplink polarization setting on the radio assembly (LHCP or RHCP).

You must enter the latitude and longitude in the format shown in *Figure 15: Fields where latitude and longitude are entered* on page 23:

- Latitude: DD MM.MMM
- Longitude: DDD MM.MMM

Enter **degrees** in whole numbers only, with no decimals. Degrees latitude is 1 or 2 digits $(0 - 90^{\circ} \text{ north or south})$. Degrees longitude is 1 - 3 digits $(0 - 180^{\circ} \text{ east or west})$. Examples of degrees correctly entered:

5, 05, 42 or 112

Enter **minutes** as a whole number plus a decimal fraction to three places (thousandths) with no seconds. Examples of minutes correctly entered:

7.223 and 34.775

If you type a number with a leading zero, the zero is not displayed after you press **Submit Installation Parameters**. For example, if you type 06 it is displayed as 6.

If you enter the site latitude and longitude incorrectly, the modem will report a **Probing** Failure and will not be able to uplink to the satellite. *Probing* refers to the first time the modem tries to transmit back to the satellite.

Some GPS receivers are suitable for Ka-band installations such as HN9000; some are not suitable. For a complete discussion on various GPS receivers, see *Field Service Bulletin (FSB), Introduction to Commercial GPS Units for Ka Installers* (FSB_080404_01).

Figure 16: Example of a GPS receiver display on page 24 shows an example of a GPS receiver display showing latitude and longitude along with the fields on the Installation Parameters screen where these values are entered.



Figure 16: Example of a GPS receiver display

For Latitude, the North radio button is selected by default. For Longitude, West is selected by default.

Figure 17: State code displayed below latitude and longitude fields on page 24 shows state code 7 displayed beneath the latitude and longitude fields.

atitude (DD MM.MMM)	Longitude (DDD MM.MMM)	
 North O South 		
39 deg 10.760 min	77 deg 14.810 min	

Figure 17: State code displayed below latitude and longitude fields

The current state code is displayed on several of the installation screens and on some System Control Center screens. The state code indicates the current operational state of the satellite modem.

While you are entering installation parameters but before you click **Submit Installation Parameters**, it is normal to see state code 4, 5, 7, or 8. To see a list of state codes with explanation, click the state code. For additional information, see *Table 17: State codes* on page 88.

Note: Do not change the Antenna Pointing Indicator Delay value.

6. Click Submit Installation Parameters.

The modem saves the information you entered to flash memory. If you enter a new parameter or modify a parameter, the modem reboots. After the reboot, the Terminal Pointing Info screen appears. See *Figure 18: Terminal Pointing Info screen* on page 25.

C Terminal Local User Interface - Wine	dows Internet Explorer		
🚱 🕤 🔻 🙋 http://169.254.0.1/stlui/fs/a	dvanced/pointing.html		Google
😭 🏘 🏠 • 🖾 - 🖶 • 🔂 Bage	• 🔯 Tgols • 🕢 • 🛍 🕉	-	
ST Name: HNSHSO1ØØØ Site ID: ESN: 110100002043 Commissioning Sw Version: 0740/ Operating Sw Version: 07502	Advanced Config N/A MO10 BCa 22aa Disable Auto Refresh	guration and Statist	tics Home Restart HN9000 Submit UpTime 000:00:03:16
	Terminal Pointing Info		_ (
+ Control	Computed Para	ameters	Signal Strength
- Status Status	Azimuth: 206.8 Elevation: 41.1	Antenna Size: 0.74 m ODU Power: 1.00 Watts	Highest SQF: 158 Current SQF: 0
Factory Info Validation Data Shell Installation	Tilt Angle: 20.5 Setting for ODU Polarization: RHCP		Current SQF
	Modify Installation P	arameters	Abort Pointing
	Terminal Info		
	Terminal Operational State: Down Suspension State: Not Suspended Desired State: Unknown	Securit Barred	y Keys: Not Valid State: Not Barred
	Rx Air Interface State: Down Tx Air Interface State: Down ECL State: Disabled	QoS Ba BOD/H	ackground State: Not Enabled IVUL Mode: BOD Mode
	Rx Signal Strength (SQF): 153	Packet: Packet:	s Received from Satellite: 1553 s Sent to Satellite: 0
	Uplink Cell ID: 59	Downlin	nk Polarization: LHCP
	SQF at azimuth 1 position: 0 SQF at elevation 1 position: 0 Max SQF during AP: 0 AP pass/fail flag: Fail	SQF at SQF at SQF C SQF at	t azimuth 2 position: 0 t elevation 2 position: 0 enter1: 0 t final position: 0
	State code: 8(Waiting for MIPs in boot p	phase)	

Figure 18: Terminal Pointing Info screen

If you want to change any of the values you previously entered on the Installation Parameters screen, click **Modify Installation Parameters**. This returns you to the Installation Parameters screen.

Do not click the **Abort Pointing** button. This would skip the pointing phase and subsequently cause registration to fail. Then you could only register the modem by obtaining a pointing override from the NOCC. The **Abort Pointing** button is used only during manual IDU (modem) replacement, for which the NOCC explicitly approves an antenna pointing override for the site.

- **Note:** At this point, prior to antenna pointing, the SQF value may be 0, indicating that the demodulator is initializing, or 1, indicating that the demodulator is searching for a beacon signal. Most of the time the SQF value is 1 until the demodulator acquires the beacon signal; then it is > 1.
- 7. Make a note of the values shown in the **Computed Parameters** area of the Terminal Pointing Info screen:
 - Azimuth
 - Elevation
 - Tilt angle
 - ODU polarization setting (LHCP or RHCP)

You will need the azimuth and elevation values to point the antenna.

Note: When you install the antenna, be sure to set LHCP or RHCP as indicated on the Terminal Pointing Info screen (Setting for ODU Polarization). If you set polarization incorrectly—for example, LHCP when RHCP is specified—the satellite modem will not receive a signal.

For explanation of the information in the Terminal Info section (lower part) of the Terminal Pointing Info screen, see *Table 6: Parameters in Terminal Info section (appears on two installation screens)* on page 38.

Chapter

4

Installing outdoor equipment and antenna pointing

Topics:

- Installing the IFL cables
- Pointing the antenna

After you enter the installation parameters on the Installation Parameters screen and click **Submit Installation Parameters**, the satellite modem enters pointing mode. This allows you to point the antenna.

This section provides some general information about antenna installation and pointing, especially as these tasks relate to modem installation. For complete instructions on installing antenna mounts, antennas (including radio assemblies) and pointing, refer to the manuals listed in *Instructions for other terminal components* on page 9.

The HN9000 satellite modem can be used with a .74 m or .98 m two-way satellite antenna. Assemble and install the antenna assembly according to the antenna installation manual. If you do not have the antenna installation manual, find the required antenna type and model on the Installation Reference Sheet. Then find the installation manual for the specified antenna on your installation support web site. The antenna and satellite modem are shipped in separate boxes.



When you install the antenna assembly, read and follow all safety alerts and instructions in the antenna installation manual and in the *Antenna Site Preparation and Mount Installation Guide* (1035678-0001).

Installing the IFL cables

Before you can point the antenna, you must route the IFL cables between the indoor satellite modem location and the antenna. Then you connect the modem and the antenna by connecting the IFL cable to both components.

(See also Requirements for IFL cables, connectors, and ground blocks on page 12.)

Routing and connecting the IFL cables

To point the antenna, you must connect the modem to the antenna and install the DAPT (a Hughes tool that displays antenna pointing values.)

- 1. Route the IFL cables from the indoor satellite modem location to the antenna. The routing path depends on the building configuration. Guidelines for installing IFL cables are included in the *Antenna Site Preparation and Mount Installation Guide* (1035678-0001).
- 2. Connect the transmit IFL cable to the transmit connector on the radio transmitter. (The transmit cable is not shown in *Figure 19: In-line connection of the DAPT* on page 28.)
- **3.** Connect the receive IFL cable to the DAPT, as shown in *Figure 19: In-line connection of the DAPT* on page 28.



Figure 19: In-line connection of the DAPT

For additional information on pointing and the DAPT, see the *Ka-Band Antenna Pointing Guide* (1037663-0001).

4. Use a temporary cable to connect the DAPT to the LNB on the radio assembly as shown in *Figure 19: In-line connection of the DAPT* on page 28.

This is a temporary arrangement that is required for antenna pointing.

Note: The connectors on the DAPT are labeled IDU and LNB. If the cable from the satellite modem (the IDU) and the cable from the radio assembly on the antenna are connected to the wrong connectors, the DAPT will not receive a signal.

IFL grounding requirement

The coaxial IFL cables and the ground block to which they are connected must meet the grounding requirements specified in the following warning:



You must comply with applicable local codes and the grounding requirements in Field Service Bulletin (FSB), *HNS Broadband Requirements for RG-6 and RG-11 IFL Cable Connectors, Ground Blocks, and Ground Block Location* (FSB_050518_01). Improper grounding can result in electric shock injury and/or property damage.

Labeling the IFL cables

Label the receive and transmit IFL cables at the outdoor point-of-entry and at the indoor location where the satellite modem is installed as follows:

- Wrap a piece of *red* electrical tape around the receive cable, and mark SAT IN on the tape.
- Wrap a piece of *blue* electrical tape around the transmit cable, and mark SAT OUT on the tape.

Connecting the IFL cables to the modem

Connect the transmit and receive IFL cables to the satellite modem.

1. Connect the transmit and receive cables to the connectors on the rear panel of the modem as shown in *Figure 20: Connecting the transmit and receive cables* on page 29.





NOTICE

The transmit and receive cable connectors must be securely tightened.

- Make sure each connector is properly aligned (not cross-threaded).
- The connector should be finger tight with no play.
- **Note:** The satellite modem may operate correctly when first installed even if the transmit and receive cable connectors are not adequately tightened. However, problems could

develop later. Therefore, successful modem operation is not an indication that the cables are adequately tightened.

- **2.** Make sure neither the satellite modem nor the customer's computer are connected to an Ethernet device.
 - **Note:** Do not connect any device to the satellite modem at this time except the installer laptop computer. Ethernet devices may only be connected to the modem after it is installed and commissioned.

Pointing the antenna

Make sure you have the DAPT and the correct squinter for the radio assembly to be installed. You will need these tools to point the antenna.

- **1.** Go outside to the antenna location.
- **2.** Follow the procedure explained in the *Ka-Band Antenna Pointing Guide* (1037663-0001) to point the antenna using the DAPT and squinter.

When you finish the pointing procedure, a screen message on the DAPT asks if you want to store the pointing information in the satellite modem. If you answer *yes*, the modem exits pointing mode. When the modem finishes downloading the pointing information, the DAPT displays a Pointing Done message.

3. Make sure you see the Pointing Done message on the DAPT.

NOTICE

Do not remove the DAPT until you see the Pointing Done message.

- Remove the DAPT and connect the receive IFL cable from the satellite modem to the LNB on the radio assembly.
 At this point the modem automatically begins the process of *commissioning*—which includes
- registering with the NOCC, downloading operational software, and related activities.
- 5. Go back inside to complete installation of the modem.

Chapter

5

Commissioning the satellite modem

Topics:

- Prerequisites for commissioning
- Monitoring the commissioning process
- Troubleshooting installation problems

During the *commissioning* phase of installation the satellite modem downloads software and completes other activities so it can become an operational element of the network. When commissioning is completed, the modem is ready for service activation.

The NOCC and the modem communicate to make sure commissioning software is loaded in the modem. If necessary, commissioning software is downloaded to the modem. The commissioning software is only sufficient to complete commissioning steps; it does not support end-user data transfer capabilities.

The modem interacts with the satellite to establish transmit timing and synchronization. It interacts with the NOCC for authentication and registration; and to obtain required software, security keys, and a preliminary configuration. The NOCC notifies the NSP that the satellite modem has registered with the network.

The modem downloads a temporary configuration from the NOCC. The temporary configuration allows the modem to communicate with the NSP so the broadband service can be activated. Final configuration is provided to the modem after service activation.

Prerequisites for commissioning

The following are prerequisites for commissioning:

- The satellite modem must be physically installed.
- The antenna must be pointed, and the modem must have exited pointing mode.
- Service for the modem must be configured by the service provider and the NOCC, and the terminal site name previously entered by the installer (*Figure 14: Installation Parameters screen* on page 22) must match the terminal site name configured by the service provider and NOCC.
- The satellite modem must be defined at the NOCC and authorized for commissioning by the service provider.

Monitoring the commissioning process

Commissioning activities are performed automatically by the satellite modem, the satellite, and the NOCC. Commissioning begins when the modem exits pointing mode and progresses until the modem reboots into normal operational mode. Normally, there is no need for intervention.

After you point the antenna and respond *Yes* on the DAPT to store the pointing information, the modem exits pointing mode and displays the Terminal Initialization Sequence screen on your browser (*Figure 21: Terminal Initialization Sequence in progress* on page 33).

The Terminal Initialization Sequence screen lists each commissioning activity and each activity's progress as the satellite modem proceeds through the commissioning (or *initialization*) sequence. *Figure 21: Terminal Initialization Sequence in progress* on page 33 shows the commissioning process at a point when several commissioning activities have completed, but commissioning is still underway. The activities occur in the order they are listed on the screen, top to bottom, beginning with the self test.



Figure 21: Terminal Initialization Sequence in progress

An activity in progress is indicated by three dots after the name of the activity, for example: Acquiring Keys...

Note: Downloading the *commissioning* software, if required, takes approximately 5 minutes. Do not remove power during this download because you think it's taking too long. If you do, you will have to wait until the commissioning software is broadcast again from the NOCC *plus* the download time. The wait for the software broadcast your modem needs can be as long as 20 to 25 minutes.

Downloading *operational* software takes about 10 to 20 minutes. This download occurs after the commissioning software download, as shown in *Figure 22: Terminal Initialization Sequence complete* on page 34.

During the initialization sequence, numerous procedures are performed that are critical for operation of the satellite modem. In addition to the procedures listed on the Terminal Initialization Sequence screen, the satellite modem *probes* to optimize its timing and power levels. *Registration* refers to equipment identification, authentication, and registration with the satellite network. During *configuration reconciliation*, the modem makes sure it has the correct configuration. The modem also loads numerous profiles that are required for network operation.

Monitor the commissioning process by viewing the Terminal Initialization Sequence screen. Unless there is a problem (as indicated by an error message), you should not have to take any action during this sequence except to monitor the process.

Monitor the initialization sequence screen while the modem progresses through the commissioning process:

1. Monitor the commissioning progress messages on the Terminal Initialization Sequence screen.

When commissioning is complete, the Terminal Initialization Sequence screen shows Installation Complete as the last progress message. This message is indicated by the arrow in *Figure 22: Terminal Initialization Sequence complete* on page 34. **Note:** Some error messages are temporary. For example, you may see a message that says a commissioning activity is halted; then in a short time the activity resumes.

🖉 Status: Status - Windows Internet Exp	plorer		- 7 🛛
COO - 1 http://www.systemcontrolcen	ter.com/stlui/fs/advanced/advcfg_reload.html	Google	P -
😭 🏟 🏠 • 📾 - 🖶 • 🔂 Bage •	💮 Tgols + 🕢 + 🚉 🦓		
ST Name: HNSHSO10005 Site ID: 70 ESN: 11010002043 Commissioning Sw Version: 07501 Operating Sw Version: 07502	599 Advanced Configuration 939 010 6ca 2aa ■ Disable Auto Refresh Interval	and Statistics Restart Hi (sec): 60 Submit UpTime 000:00	Home N9000):19:43
+ Control	Terminal Initialization Sequence		^
+ Control + Diagnostics - Status Status Transmission Detailed Status Reception Detailed Status TP Detailed Status Summary Status UP Detailed Status	Self Test Satellite Downlink Signal Commissioning Software Satellite Uplink Signal Receive Satellite Information Registration Process Access Keys Synchronization Configuration and Operational Software Configuration Reconciliation Normal Mode	: Passed : Acquired : Download Completed : Acquired : Complete : Registered : Synchronized : Downloaded : Complete : Installation Complete	
VP Detailed Status	Terminal Info		
Rate Statistics Factory Info Validation Data	Terminal Operational State: Up Suspension State: Not Suspended Desired State: In Service	Security Keys: Valid Barred State: Not Barred	
+ Vadb + Logs	Rx Air Interface State: Up Tx Air Interface State: Up ECL State: Tx Allowed	QoS Background State: Not Enabled BOD/HVUL Mode: Regular	
Shell Installation	Rx Signal Strength (SQF): 154	Packets Received from Satellite: 947039 Packets Sent to Satellite: 120	
	Uplink Cell ID: 59	Downlink Polarization: LHCP	
	SQF at azimuth 1 position: 0 SQF at elevation 1 position: 0 Max SQF during AP: 0 AP pass/fail flag: Fail	SQF at azimuth 2 position: 0 SQF at elevation 2 position: 0 SQF Center1: 0 SQF at final position: 0	
	State code: 25(Terminal is fully operational)		~
Done		🏹 🌍 Internet 🔍	100% -

Figure 22: Terminal Initialization Sequence complete

2. In the event that an error condition prevents the commissioning process from completing, refer to *Table 7: Guidelines for installation troubleshooting* on page 40 for troubleshooting steps you can take.

Successful commissioning ends with the modem rebooting into normal operational mode.

For detailed information about the commissioning process, the Terminal Initialization Sequence screen, and possible error messages, see *Commissioning and installation reference information* on page 35. There is also a section on installation troubleshooting (*Troubleshooting installation problems* on page 40). Unless you encounter a problem, you should not need this reference or troubleshooting information, and you can proceed to *Activating the HughesNet service* on page 51.

Implementation of second IP address

After commissioning has completed, the installer should continue to use the address settings specified in *Setting the installer laptop IP address* and should continue to use the 169.254.0.1 address to access the modem from the installer laptop. However, after the modem is activated (a subsequent step), the installer cannot use this address to browse the Internet.

After commissioning, using the customer's browser, you (or the customer) can type www.systemcontrolcenter.com (or 192.168.0.1) to open the System Control Center. To use 192.168.0.1, DHCP must be enabled on the computer.



34 HN9000 Satellite Modem Installation Guide 1037576-0001 Revision E

Commissioning and installation reference information

This reference section:

- Lists the commissioning activities and corresponding progress messages that are displayed on the Terminal Initialization Sequence screen.
- Includes explanation of error messages you could see in the event of a problem.
- Explains the fields in the Terminal Info section, which appears on the Terminal Pointing Info screen and on the Terminal Initialization Sequence screen.

For explanation of state codes, which appear on the installation screens (and System Control Center screens) as *State code* plus a number, see *Table 17: State codes* on page 88.

Commissioning activities and progress messages

All possible progress (or status) messages for each commissioning activity are shown in *Table 4: Commissioning progress messages* on page 35. If a status message indicates a problem, refer to *Table 7: Guidelines for installation troubleshooting* on page 40.

Phase (activity)	Progress messages indicating normal progress	Possible error messages
Self Test	Passed	
Satellite Downlink Signal	Acquiring Acquired	Attempting to acquire downlink signal in microcell {number}, retry # {number} Downlink signal acquisition failed, retry # {number} Final cell selection failed. (This message could mean you are trying to install the modem in a location that is outside the network service area. Corrective action: Make sure you entered the correct latitude and longitude on the Installation Parameters screen.)
Commissioning Software	Waiting for System Information Downloading beginning Download Completed Please wait for next broadcast of Software in { <i>number</i> } mins	
Satellite Uplink Signal	Acquiring Signal Acquired	Uplink signal acquisition failed (Ack attempt # {number}) Attempting Probing (attempt # {number}) Probing failed (attempt # {number}) Probing Failed: Downlink Signal Lost Corrective actions: Make sure the transmit cable is connected. (Pointing completion verifies the receive cable connection.)

Table 4: Commissioning progress messages

Phase (activity)	Progress messages indicating normal progress	Possible error messages
		b) The Lat/Long values entered in the Installation Parameters screen are not correct for the site. Probing is quite sensitive to the accuracy of these values, whereas pointing is not as sensitive.
Receive Satellite Information	Receiving Data Complete	
Registration Process	Registering Registered	Registering (attempt # { <i>number</i> }) Unable to register Registration Failed For details concerning Registration messages, see <i>Registration error messages</i> on page 36.
Access Keys Synchronization	Acquiring Keys Synchronized	
Configuration and Operational Software	Downloading Software Download Complete Downloaded	
Configuration Reconciliation	In Progress Complete	
Normal Mode	Installation Complete.	

Messages in **bold text** in the second column indicate completion of the activity.

Fields in the Terminal Info part of the Terminal Initialization Sequence screen are explained in *Terminal Info parameters* on page 38.

Registration error messages

Modem *registration* refers to registration with the satellite network. Even after registration, the modem cannot connect to the Internet until it is activated.

Reasons for possible registration error messages are listed in *Table 5: Reasons for registration errors and corrective actions* on page 36. This table includes only the most common registration error messages; it does not include all possible registration error messages.

Note: If you see **Registration Failed**... with no additional error information, the modem will try to register again after a short time.

Table 5: Reasons for registration errors and corrective actions

Error message	Reason	Corrective action	
Last Fail Reasons (reason for the last registration failure)			

Error message	Reason	Corrective action
Antenna Pointing Validation Failure	Antenna is not properly pointed or the pointing process has been aborted.	Repoint the antenna and ensure that Azimuth and Elevation validations pass as indicated in the DAPT during pointing.
ODU Radio Power Mismatch	The C code (ODU power) selected on the Installation Parameters screen does not match the wattage of the installed radio.	Check the radio and check the Installation Parameters screen to make sure the correct C code is specified.
Registration Not Authorized	Operator has explicitly disabled registration capability for this satellite modem.	Call Installer Support with site name to resolve the issue.
Relocation Not Authorized	Attempting to register previously registered ST Site Name or ST Site ID using latitude and longitude values outside of assigned microcell.	Call Installer Support with site name to resolve the issue.
SAM ESN Blacklisted by Operator	The satellite modem's security access module is barred for a reason such as nonpayment for service.	Call Installer Support with the satellite modem's ESN and ST Name to resolve the issue.
ST ESN Already In Use	Attempting to register a previously registered ST Site Name or ST Site ID at a different location.	Call Installer Support with the satellite modem's ESN to resolve the issue.
ST Replacement Not Authorized	Attempting to register different equipment using a previously registered ST Site Name or ST Site ID.	Call Installer Support with site name to resolve the issue.
Invalid Site Name. Please verify name and try again.	The ST Site Name sent by the satellite modem is not known at the NOCC.	Check to make sure the Terminal Site Name is the correct name and was entered correctly.
	Management reasons for registra	tion failure
Group Barred	The satellite modem is included in a group of modems that are barred from service.	Call Installer Support with site name to resolve the issue.
Individually Barred	The satellite modem is barred from service.	Call Installer Support with site name to resolve the issue.
Registration Services Disabled	Registration services are not available because internal maintenance is underway.	No action is required. Registration service will be enabled when maintenance is complete.
Rx Air Interface Down	Satellite receive link is down.	Verify the installation, for example, check cable connections and connectivity to the antenna. If the problem is not corrected, repoint the antenna.
Tx Air Interface Down	Satellite transmit link is down.	Verify the installation, for example, check cable connections and connectivity to the antenna. If the problem is not corrected, repoint the antenna.

Terminal Info parameters

The following table explains the parameters in the Terminal Info section, which is the common lower part of the two screen shown in *Figure 18: Terminal Pointing Info screen* on page 25 and *Figure 22: Terminal Initialization Sequence complete* on page 34.

Table 6: Parameters in Terminal Info section (appears on two installation screens)

Parameter	Possible values	Comments
	Let	ft column
Terminal Operation State	Up Down	This is a summarized state. <i>Up</i> indicates satellite modem is healthy and able to transmit and receive. <i>Down</i> indicates the modem is not healthy or is unable to transmit because of its configuration.
Suspension State	Suspended Not Suspended	The NOCC may put the satellite modem in a suspended state, meaning user data traffic is suspended, but management traffic between modem and NOCC is not affected.
Desired State	In Service	The NOCC may put the modem in these states.
	Out of Service	In Service – No restrictions.
	Maintenance	Out of Service and Maintenance – User data traffic is blocked; management traffic between modem and NOCC is restricted (no unsolicited messages may be sent to the NOCC).
Tx Air Interface State	Up	Up – Modem is able to transmit data to the satellite.
	Down	
Rx Air Interface State	Up Down	Up – Modem is able to receive data from the satellite.
ECL State	Disabled Tx Allowed	The ECL function ensures that the modem uses a transmit power that falls within acceptable limits for correct operation of the terminal.
	Tx Prevented	Disabled – Checks are disabled.
		Tx Allowed – Modem is not being restricted by ECL.
		Tx Prevented – Modem is being restricted for short periods of time, in seconds, and is not transmitting to the satellite.
Rx Signal Strength (SQF)	0 – 255	Receive signal strength as measured by the modem.
Uplink Cell ID	1 – 112	Uplink cell in the system where the modem is currently installed.
SQF at azimuth 1 position	0 – 255	Receive signal strength with squinter in azimuth 1 position during antenna pointing.
SQF at elevation 1 position	0 – 255	Receive signal strength with squinter in elevation 1 position during antenna pointing.

38

Parameter	Possible values	Comments
Max SQF during AP	0 – 255	Maximum receive signal strength during any phase of antenna pointing.
AP pass/fail flag	Pass	Antenna pointing validation result.
	Fail	
State code	1 – 35	State codes indicate the operational state of the satellite modem. Click the state code value on the screen to see what it means. All state codes are explained in <i>Table 17: State codes</i> on page 88.
	Rig	ht column
Security Keys	Valid Not Valid	Valid – Modem has current security keys and is able to transmit data.
Barred State	Terminal Individually Barred Group Barred Not Barred	Barred State indicates if the modem is barred from transmitting to the satellite. The modem can be barred individually or as part of a group of modems.
QoS Background State	Not Enabled Successful Failed	QoS stands for quality of service. This value indicates the state or results of background QoS tests that are being run.
BOD/HVUL Mode	Regular High Volume	To provide BOD, the modem communicates with the satellite and uses uplink bandwidth capacity as required and allocated to it by the satellite. High Volume – High Volume Uplink; modem is configured
Packets Received from Satellite	{number}	by NOCC for dedicated use of uplink bandwidth. Number of packets received from the satellite from the time the satellite modem was powered on. Includes system control traffic, not just user traffic addressed to the modem.
Packets Sent to Satellite	{number}	Number of packets sent to the satellite from the time the modem was powered on.
Downlink Polarization	RHCP	Polarization in which the downlink signal from the satellite
	LHCP	is being received. (This is not the same as ODU polarization.)
SQF at azimuth 2 position	0 – 255	Receive signal strength with squinter in azimuth 2 position during antenna pointing.
SQF Center1	0 – 255	Receive signal strength without the squinter on the feed horn, measured at the start of the validation phase. Also known as the <i>center value</i> .
SQF at elevation 2 position	0 – 255	Receive signal strength with squinter in elevation 2 position during antenna pointing.

Troubleshooting installation problems

If you see an error message or other indication of a problem during commissioning or other phases of modem installation, try the solutions given in *Table 7: Guidelines for installation troubleshooting* on page 40. These are the most common installation problems and solutions.

Symptom	Possible cause	Corrective action and comments
Low signal strength	Antenna may not be pointed accurately.	Repoint the antenna.
	A cable may be improperly terminated.	Check cable connections and re-terminate if necessary.
Receive signal strength is 0 or 1.	LHCP or RHCP polarization setting may be incorrect.	Make sure ODU polarization is set to LHCP or RHCP as indicated on the Terminal Pointing Info screen (Setting for ODU Polarization).
	Transmit and receive cables may be swapped (connected to the wrong connectors).	Check the cables and reconnect them if necessary.
	Faulty receive cable.	Inspect the cable and re-terminate it if necessary.
System Status button on System Control Center screen is RED.	Bad weather.	Heavy rain or snow can interfere with the satellite signal. The site can be affected by weather that is overhead or by weather that is close but far enough away that it is not yet visible.
State code is	NOCC restriction or NOCC problem.	Wait to see if the problem goes away.
32 (Barred),		
33 (Suspended),		
34 (Maintenance) or		
35 (Out of Service).		
Or a message indicates Security Keys Not Valid.		
Or Registration Last Fail Reason is NOCC-related.		

Table 7: Guidelines for installation troubleshooting

For additional troubleshooting information, see *Troubleshooting* on page 99. If you have tried the appropriate troubleshooting actions but still cannot install and commission the modem, call Installer Support.

Chapter

6

Validating the installation

Topics:

- A quick look at the validation procedure
- Prerequisites
- Accessing the OVT

As part of every HN9000 installation **you are required to validate the overall installation (modem, antenna, cables, and connections) using the Onsite Validation Tool (OVT)**. This browser-based tool helps to ensure a high-quality installation. If the site performance is not satisfactory, the OVT suggests corrective actions you can take and then analyzes the results of your actions.

Important: Run the OVT on your installer laptop after the modem has completed commissioning and registration, but before the customer activates the HughesNet service.

The OVT helps you obtain the best possible performance for a newly installed site by comparing current measured values from the site with target values. **Before using the OVT, you must first complete the installation to the best of your ability.**

The OVT is automated, but it does require certain inputs from the installer. Online instructions and prompts guide the installer through the validation process.

The OVT logs the measured values and corrective actions taken by the installer (if any) to the Installer Support database. When you successfully complete the OVT process, the tool issues a sign-off code that you record on the Installation Reference Sheet.

A quick look at the validation procedure

This section summarizes how you use the OVT to evaluate the performance and quality of a newly installed HN9000 site. For detailed information on the OVT, see *Installer's Guide to the Ka-Band Onsite Validation Tool (OVT)* (1038091-0001).

The basic validation steps are:

1. With your installer laptop computer connected to the modem, use Internet Explorer to access and log onto the HughesNet Installation Portal.

Specific steps for accessing the Portal are explained later.

- 2. Click the Onsite Validation Tool link.
- **3.** Enter SAN and FSO numbers from the Installation Reference Sheet (which is also used for repairs) to identify the site.
- 4. A subsequent screen shows the latest and target values for selected performance parameters for the site, as shown in *Figure 23: Latest values compared to target values (partial screen)* on page 42. *If all target values for the performance parameters are met* (all difference values are green), click the **Sign Off** button (not shown in this Figure) and record the sign-off code.

If the first screen after login shows that the site met the target values and you obtained the sign-off code, validation is complete. If any target values were not met, as indicated by a red difference value, continue.

	Last Timestamp	Uplink Power Word	SQF	Uplink SNR	PTP SNR
Target Values		[37-41]	153	14	10
Latest Values	10/10/2008 4:03:14 PM	38.5	167	15.6	15.8
Difference		0	14	1.6	

Figure 23: Latest values compared to target values (partial screen)

- **5.** *If target values are not met,* follow the recommended actions displayed by the OVT. Examples of recommended actions are *Check line of sight to the satellite* or *Replace IDU.*
- 6. For each recommended action (they are displayed in succession, as appropriate), click the **Checked** or **Repaired** button.
 - Depending on results, the OVT may display additional recommended actions.
- 7. When the target values are met (all difference values are green), click the **Sign Off** button and record the sign-off code.

The site performance and installation quality are validated when all target values have been met and you have obtained the sign-off code.

For validation procedure details, see the *Installer's Guide to the Ka-Band Onsite Validation Tool (OVT)* (1038091-0001).

Prerequisites

The following are prerequisites for using the OVT to validate VSAT site installation:

• The VSAT physical installation must be complete.

- Commissioning and registration must be complete, as indicated by state code 25, which means the modem is fully operational.
- To access the OVT software, you must:
 - Be able to log into the Installation Portal. This requires a registered user name (Installer ID) and password.

If you are not registered, contact your dealer or distributor to create an account and obtain an Installer ID and password.

- Know the site SAN and FSO numbers. These numbers appear on the Installation Reference Sheet.
 - **Note:** SAN refers to the *site account number* or *master account number*. FSO refers to the *field service order number*.

Accessing the OVT

The IP address configuration on the installer laptop is critical for accessing the OVT. If the laptop is configured for a link-local IP address, you will not be able to access the OVT unless you remove the link-local address or unless you have 192.168.0.2 configured as an alternate private address. If you are not using the alternate private address option, make sure DHCP is enabled on the laptop. For detailed information, see *Configuring the installer laptop IP address* on page 13.

To access the OVT, click the **Validate** link that appears on the modem's System Control Center home page after commissioning completes, as shown in *Figure 24: Validate link on System Control Center page* on page 44.

If for any reason you cannot access or use the OVT, call Installer Support.

To access and start the OVT:

- 1. Make sure your laptop computer is connected to the modem's LAN port.
- After commissioning and registration have completed, type www.systemcontrolcenter.com or 192.168.0.1 into the browser address bar, then press Enter. The System Control Center home page appears, as shown in *Figure 24: Validate link on System Control Center page* on page 44, displaying an Activate link and a Validate link.



Figure 24: Validate link on System Control Center page

3. Click Validate.

The HughesNet Installation Portal installer login screen opens, as shown in *Figure 25: Installation Portal, installer login screen* on page 45.



Figure 25: Installation Portal, installer login screen

- 4. Log in to the Installation Portal:
 - a) Enter your Installer ID as the User Name.
 - b) Enter your password (your phone number registered in the installer database).
 - c) Click LOGIN.

If you have any problems logging in, contact Installer Support.

Note: Do not use the Installer IDs shown in the screen illustrations in this guide. These Installer IDs are used for illustration only; they are not real Installer IDs.

When you successfully log in to the Portal, the Welcome screen shown in *Figure 26: Installation Portal Welcome screen* on page 46 appears.



Figure 26: Installation Portal Welcome screen

5. Click the **Onsite Validation Tool** link (which is indicated by a label with an arrow in the Figure).

Your browser displays the screen shown in Figure 27: Data Collection screen on page 47.

HughesNet™ Installation Portal - Windows Internet Explorer
COO - Rhttps://dwayinstalls.hns.com/personal/usrFrame.jsp
Ele Edit View Favorites Tools Help
Google 🖸 🗸 🖸 Go () 🚳 🚱 🗸 😰 Bookmarks 🛛 🖗 7 blocked 💞 Check 👻 AutoLink 👻 🥥 Settings -
😪 🏟 💎 HughesNet™ Installation Portal 🔄 👻 🗟 👻 🔂 Page ▼ 🎯 Tools ▼ "
HughesNet Manage Orders Technical Info. / Documentation Personal Log out
OnSite Validation Tool - Data Collection
All Fields Required to Launch Onsite Validation Tool
San: TAH 10005193 (Validated with Service Order)
Service Order: 20/7203 (Validated with San)
Launch Clear
2000 HUDUPE I Anna Alia sita I Primero Dalian I Pair Annae Dalian I Pukanikas Annaemast
Subus Huighes Facoul this site Physicy Policy Pair Addess Policy Subscribe Agreement 3

Figure 27: Data Collection screen

- **6.** Enter the SAN and service order number (FSO) from the Installation Reference Sheet (top of the first page).
- 7. Click Launch.

The OVT displays the screen shown in *Figure 28: Site and installer ID information* on page 48. This screen shows:

- SAN
- Installer Name
- Installer ID
- FSO

HughesNet	t/- spaceway Site Diagn Spaceway Onsi	te Validation Tool ver1.0	
Step 1. Select Visit Type	Step 2. Fil	ll the Following Entries	
 New Installation Repair Other 	SAN: Installer Name: Installer ID: FSO:	TAH10005193 Joe Smith 2222222 2077203	
<u>Step 3. Make sure all ab</u>	oove information is en	ntered and click on Submit	×

Figure 28: Site and installer ID information

The OVT automatically enters the information on this screen.

8. Check the displayed information.

You cannot edit this screen. If you entered the SAN or FSO number incorrectly, close the window, repeat the log in steps and enter the correct SAN and FSO numbers.

9. Click Submit.

Based on the FSO number you entered, the OVT:

- Determines whether the site is Ka-band or Ku-band and presents the appropriate OVT software.
- Displays a new screen showing the latest recorded performance parameter values (Latest Values), target values, and for each parameter, the difference between the latest values and the target values. These data are the basis for the validation process.

Figure 29: OVT screen comparing latest and target values on page 49 shows an example of an OVT screen showing the latest measured values and target values. In this example, all values meet the target values, meaning that the site can be validated and signed off.

🖉 Spaceway Site Di	agnostic Tool - Windows Inte	rnet Explorer				-	
🕞 🕞 🗣 🖻 http://f	56.82.4.217/development/NewInstal	ll1.aspx			•	🖘 🗙 Google	2.
Ele Edit View Fav	vorites Tools Help						-
🚖 🏟 🏾 🏈 Spaceway	/ Site Diagnostic Tool					🟠 🔹 🗟 👻 🖶 👻 🔂 Page 💌 🎯 To	ols • '
HughesNe	t Spaceway On	site Validation	Тоо	l ver1.0			Ĩ
	SAN: DSS7700472	Channel Rate: 51	2	Downl	ink Cell ID: 748	Visit Type: New Install	ŀ.
	Site ID: 77633	Antenna Size: 0.7	74	Uplink	Cell ID: 90	FSO: HSO100046	48
	ESN: 1101000038104	476 ODU Power: 1		L	atitude: 44°	Installer Name: Joe	
Last Activat	tion Date: 06-JUN-08 tenuation: 4.8	Polarization: R		Lo	ngitude: -67° 2.664'	Installer ID: 222222 Service Profile:	
	Last Timestamp	Uplink Power Word	SOF	Uplink SNR	PTP SNR		
Target Values		[37-41]	153	14	10		
Latest Values	10/10/2008 4:03:14 PM	38.5	167	15.6	15.8		
Difference		0	14	1.6			
To meet target are met, please Recommended	values, all Difference valu click on the Sign Off butt Actions.	ues must be zero or po ton. If the Target Valu	ositive Ies ar	. If the Target e not met, follo	t Values ow the		
	Detrie	ve State encreeded		Get Late	st Stats		
	Kettle	ve stats succeeded					
		s	ign O	ff			

Figure 29: OVT screen comparing latest and target values

For detailed information about the OVT, see the *Installer's Guide to the Ka-Band Onsite Validation Tool (OVT)* (1038091-0001).

Chapter

7

Activating the HughesNet service

Topics:

- Service activation prerequisites
- Connecting the satellite modem to the customer's computer
- Activation procedure

Activating the HughesNet broadband service is the final step in installing the satellite modem. **The customer performs this step,** and at the same time accepts the HughesNet subscriber agreement.

You, the installer, prepare the customer for activation by connecting the satellite modem to the customer's computer. You are required to stay at the installation site until the customer can connect to the Internet so you can offer guidance and assistance if necessary.

You are guided through the activation process by instructions and prompts displayed on the computer that is connected to the satellite modem.

Service activation prerequisites

Before proceeding, make sure the modem and the customer's computer are ready for service activation. Prerequisites for service activation are:

- The modem must be commissioned.
- The modem must be connected to the customer's computer (next step.)
- The customer must have the SAN (a string that may include both numbers and letters) and PIN (a four-digit number) available to enter when the activation process prompts for them. Both numbers are provided in the Order Confirmation email and on the Installation Reference Sheet.
- The customer's computer must be configured for DHCP. If you need help in configuring DHCP, see *Configuring a computer to use DHCP* on page 109.

Connecting the satellite modem to the customer's computer

In this procedure you make sure the modem is ready for activation and then connect the modem to the customer's computer.

1. From the Terminal Initialization Sequence screen (*Figure 30: Terminal Initialization Sequence screen (top part)* on page 52) or other Advanced Pages screen, click the **Home** link in the upper right corner to open the screen that contains the **Activate** link.

C HNSHSO10004915 - Window	vs Internet Exp	lorer			
🚱 🕤 👻 http://169.254.0.3	1/stlui/fs/advanced	l/advcfg_reload.html		Live Search	P -
🔶 🏟 🏈 HN5H5010004915					Page ▼
ST Name: HNSHSO1 Site ESN: 1101000 Commissioning Sw Version: (Operating Sw Version: (10004915 1D:66159 001932767 074041aa 074044aa	Advanced Config	uration and Statistic	S ubmit Uį	Home Kestart HN9000
+ Control + Diagnostics	Termi Self T Satell	inal Initialization Sequence est ite Downlink Signal	: Passed		

Figure 30: Terminal Initialization Sequence screen (top part)

The System Control Center home page appears, showing the **Activate** link below the HN9000 System Control Center screen title. See *Figure 31: Activate link indicating modem is ready for service activation* on page 53. **Do not click the link at this time.**

The **Activate** link indicates that the modem is ready for service activation. This link appears only on a new modem when the modem is ready to be activated (after commissioning is complete).



Figure 31: Activate link indicating modem is ready for service activation

- 2. Use an Ethernet cable to connect the satellite modem to the customer's computer as shown in *Figure 32: Connecting Ethernet cable to customer's computer or other device* on page 54.
 - a) Disconnect the Ethernet cable from the installer laptop computer. The Ethernet cable is already connected to the LAN port on the rear panel of the satellite modem.
 - b) Connect the Ethernet cable to the LAN port on the PC or other device as shown in *Figure* 32: Connecting Ethernet cable to customer's computer or other device on page 54.

Note: If the customer wants to connect the modem to a router, the router cannot be connected until activation is complete.



Figure 32: Connecting Ethernet cable to customer's computer or other device

Activation procedure

The customer, not the installer, activates the HughesNet service. A summary of the activation process is provided here, so that you, the installer, will know what the customer should expect. *This summary description is not a complete description of the activation process, and it does not show all the screens the customer will see during service activation.* The screens that follow are selected to give you an idea of what to expect during service activation.

The customer activates the HughesNet service on the customer's computer. Do not use the installer laptop for activation, unless the customer's computer is not working. If you use the installer laptop for activation, close your browser at the **Downloading Software** screen to prevent the HughesNet Tools from being downloaded to the installer laptop. If you have only the link-local IP address 169.254.10.10 configured on the installer laptop, you must enable DHCP to demonstrate Internet browsing to the customer.

Following the instructions in the *Quick Start Guide*, which is shipped with the modem, the customer opens a supported web browser, types www.systemcontrolcenter.com (or 192.168.0.1) into the address bar and presses Enter.

The System Control Center home page appears, showing the Activate link below the HN9000 System Control Center screen title. See *Figure 33: Activate link on the System Control Center home page* on page 55.

The **Activate** link appears only on a new modem when the modem is ready to be activated (after commissioning is complete). The **Activate** link is not present after activation is completed.



Figure 33: Activate link on the System Control Center home page

If you see a Page not found error, check the following:

- Make sure the modem is powered on.
- Check the Ethernet connection. The orange LED on the LAN port should blink if you send data from the computer to the modem.
- Make sure a router is not connected between the modem and the PC.
- 2. Before proceeding to the next step, make sure at least 5 minutes have passed since the Terminal Initialization Sequence screen showed Installation Complete.

This allows the modem to complete its final configuration.

3. Direct the customer to click the **Activate** link and then follow the on-screen directions.

From this point on, most customers should be able to complete the activation process without assistance.

- **Note:** As a customer progresses through the activation screens, they may see Security Alert screens with messages about Internet site security certificates. The customer should click **Yes** to accept the certificate and continue.
- **4.** To activate the service, the customer must agree to the HughesNet subscriber agreement (*Figure 34: Subscriber agreement* on page 56). If the customer declines, a link is displayed to exit the activation process.
 - **Note:** If the customer's browser cannot access the subscriber agreement screen, make sure the browser's pop-up blocker is disabled and that the browser's privacy setting is set to **Medium High** or lower.

💪 HughesNet Activation - Windows Internet Explorer	
🕞 😌 👻 http://www.myhughesnet.com/kaas/ActivationServlet.servlet?SITEID=00(💙 😝 🗙 Live Search	2
😭 🂠 🖉 HughesNet Activation	e 🕶 🎯 T <u>o</u> ols 🕶 »
HughesNet Broadband Unbound: You are here: Subscriber Agreement > Welcome > Start > Requirements > Software > Connection > Optimization > C	Completion
Subscriber Agreement	
Please read the Subscriber Agreement below and confirm that you accept the terms by clicking the checkbox "I accept the terms of the Subscriber Agreement." Click ACCEPT to continue.	
Thank you for choosing HughesNet®!	< 100 million (100
PLEASE READ THIS SUBSCRIBER AGREEMENT CAREFULLY, AS IT CONSTITUTES A BINDING CONTRACT BETWEEN YOU AND HUGHES NETWORK SYSTEMS, LLC. BY APPLYING FOR OR ESTABLISHING AN ACCOUNT WITH HUGHES NETWORK SYSTEMS, LLC, YOU AGREE TO BE BOUND BY THE TERMS OF THIS AGREEMENT.	
Subscriber Agreement Organization	
This Subscriber Agreement is organized into five Parts: Part I-The Service, Your Subscription and This Subscriber Agreement; Part II-Payment;	
Part III-Permitted Use and Restrictions on Use;	~
✓ I accept the terms of the Subscriber Agreement	
Decline Accept	
	~
Done	🔍 100% 🔹 🔡

Figure 34: Subscriber agreement

5. When the customer clicks the *I accept*... checkbox and the Accept button, two fields are added to the bottom of the subscriber agreement screen, as shown in *Figure 35: Subscriber agreement with SAN and PIN fields* on page 56. The customer enters their SAN and PIN in these two fields. The SAN and PIN are provided on the customer's Order Confirmation email and on the Installation Reference Sheet. If the customer enters information incorrectly, they can try again.

Subscriber Agreement Organization This Subscriber Agreement is organiz Part I-The Service, Your Subscriptior	zed into five Parts: and This Subscriber Agreement;	=
Part II-Payment; Part III-Permitted Use and Restriction	hs on Use;	<u>~</u>
Decline Accept		
Fields marked with * are required.		
Fields marked with * are required. * Site Account Number (SAN):	HSO10004915 (SAN can be found in the Order Confirmation Email.)	
Fields marked with * are required. * Site Account Number (SAN): * PIN:	HSO10004915 (SAN can be found in the Order Confirmation Email.) 9878 (PIN can be found in the Order Confirmation Email.)	
Fields marked with * are required. * Site Account Number (SAN): * PIN:	HSO10004915 (SAN can be found in the Order Confirmation Email.) 9878 (PIN can be found in the Order Confirmation Email.) Continue	~

Figure 35: Subscriber agreement with SAN and PIN fields
6. After the SAN and PIN information is entered and validated, a welcome screen appears that includes the customer's name (*Figure 36: Welcome screen* on page 57).



Figure 36: Welcome screen

The box near the middle of this screen displays the modem's Site ID, Terminal IP Address, and Terminal Subnet Mask. The customer should write down this information or use the **Print** button to print this screen for reference. If the customer is going to use a public IP address (also known as a *routable* address), this screen shows the address to use to configure the customer's computer or other IP devices connected to the satellite modem.

- 7. The License Agreement screen (not shown here) is an agreement to use the satellite modem activation software.
- 8. At one point a screen titled **Downloading Software** appears (*Figure 37: Downloading Software screen* on page 58). To continue the installation, the customer must click the yellow bar at the top of the screen. The add-on is an ActiveX Control. For additional information, see the text on the screen.

C HughesNet Activation - Window	rs Internet Explorer	×			
💽 🗸 🙋 http://chughescw.ceri	t.motive.com/wizlet/spaceway/licenseP 🚽 🚱 🔀 Live Search	•			
😭 💠 🌈 HughesNet Activation	🚵 🔹 🗟 🔹 🖶 Eage 🕶 🎯 T <u>o</u> ols 🔹	»			
This website wants to install the followin install it, click here	ng add-on: 'Mcci_6-1-0.cab' from 'Motive Inc'. If you trust the website and the add-on and want to	×			
HughesNet		<			
You are here: Start > Requirement	ts > Software > Connection > Optimization > Completion				
Downloading Softwa	ire				
You must agree to install the softw be installed, click on the yellow Ini Information Bar near the top of yo again. Your user account must be	are provided by Hughes in order to continue the installation. To allow the software to formation Bar displayed above and choose "Install ActiveX Control". If the yellow bur browser window does not appear, you may click Retry to attempt the download apart of the Administrators group to complete the download and installation.				
This website wants to install the f	ollowing add-on: 'Mcci_6-1-0.cab' from 'Motive Inc'.				
HughesNet	What's the Risk?				
Broadband Unbound:	More information				
You are here: Start > Requirements > Software > Connection > Optimization > Co					
		Y			
🕖 Done	🏹 🌍 Internet 🔍 100% 🕶	.:			

Figure 37: Downloading Software screen

9. The screen shown in *Figure 38: Computer verified screen* on page 59 lets you know the activation software has inspected the computer and verified that it meets the necessary requirements.

The software advises if your computer does not meet the requirements. In some cases it may tell you that your computer does not meet all requirements, but that you can still proceed and use the satellite modem if you choose to.

C HughesNet Activation - Windows Internet Explorer	
🚱 🕤 👻 🛃 http://chughescw.cert.motive.com/wizlet/spaceway/getSysI 💌 🖅 🔀 Live Search	-
Image: Second	• »
HughesNet Broadband Unbound:	~
You are here: Start > Requirements > Software > Connection > Optimization > Completion	
Your Computer Was Verified	
Your computer meets the prerequisites for Internet access. Click Next> to continue with the installation.	
 ✓ Processor ✓ Disk Space 	
V Memory	
<back next=""> Cancel</back>	X
📑 🔮 Internet 🔍 100%	•

Figure 38: Computer verified screen

10. The Configure Software screen lets the customer know the activation software is about to install HughesNet Tools. HughesNet Tools is a suite of software tools that can help users solve Internet browsing problems and improve browsing performance and Internet security.



Figure 39: Configure Software (HughesNet Tools) screen

11. This step only applies if the customer ordered a service plan with a public IP address option. On the Implement Public IP? screen (*Figure 40: Implement Public IP? screen* on page 60), the customer clicks Implement to implement a public IP address or Next to configure a private IP address. For nearly all home installations, a private IP address is appropriate. You can only use a public IP address if your service plan provides for it.

The second seco	way/getDevi 💙 🚱 🗙 Live Search
HughesNet Activation	🟠 🔹 📾 🔹 🖶 Page 🔹 🎯 Tools 🔹
HughesNet	
Broadband Unbound:	
Implement Public IP?	
ns computer then click "Implement" below. If you do no hen click "Next".	of want to implement the Public IP address on this computer
his computer then click "Implement" below. If you do no then click "Next". 	of want to implement the Public IP address on this computer
his computer then click "Implement" below. If you do no hen click "Next". Seck [Implement>]	 Next> Cancel

Figure 40: Implement Public IP? screen

- **Note:** The Implement Public IP? screen appears only if the customer ordered a service plan with a public IP address option.
- **12.** The **HughesNet Activation Complete** screen informs the customer that the activation process has completed.



Figure 41: Activation Complete screen

When the customer clicks **Finish**, an Internet web page opens. Which page opens depends on how the service is configured.

The customer can now use the satellite modem to browse the Internet.

Many automatic processes occur during the activation process. Most are transparent to the user. Activities performed for the user by the activation agent software include:

- Check the customer's computer to make sure it meets minimum requirements. Some issues such as insufficient disk space will halt the activation process. In other cases, for example, if a computer does not meet the requirements but may be marginally suitable, the customer will be offered the choice to abort or continue.
- Install HughesNet Tools.
- Change the home page to www.myhughesnet.com.
- Configure browser and email settings for optimal operation over the HughesNet service.
- Implement a public IP address as the configured LAN IP address if the service plan allows it and if the customer desires.
- Perform connectivity tests. If connectivity to the agent software's server is not available, a 16-digit SXCode is made available to the user for use in calling Hughes Customer Care.
- Configure a list of browser favorites or bookmarks.

Service activation is a complex but mostly automated process. These are only some of the automatic processes that occur.

After activation, if you (the installer) want to use the installer laptop to access the satellite modem's System Control Center, enable DHCP on the installer laptop and type www.systemcontrolcenter.com *or* 192.168.0.1 on the browser, then press Enter. To use 192.168.0.1, the satellite modem must be using a service plan with private IP addressing, and DHCP must be enabled on the computer.

If for any reason the customer cannot download HughesNet Tools before you leave, tell the customer to download HughesNet Tools from www.myhughesnet.com when the computer is

working. Tell the customer to click the <u>HughesNet Customer Care</u> link and the look for the HughesNet Tools download link.

Chapter

8

Completing the installation

Topics:

- Printing the System Information page
- Creating a shortcut to the System Control Center
- Installation and activation complete

To complete the satellite modem installation:

- Print the System Control Center System Information page for the customer for future reference.
- Create a shortcut to the System Control Center for the customer to use.

Printing the System Information page

Help the customer print a copy of the System Control Center's System Information page, which contains important information about the status of the satellite modem. Explain to the user that they will need the information on this page if they ever contact Hughes Customer Care at a time when they cannot access the System Information page.

- 1. Show the customer how to open the System Control Center home page. If you need instructions, see *Accessing the System Control Center* on page 66.
- 2. Tell the customer to click the System Info link to open the System Information Page.
- 3. Tell the customer to click the Print this page link near the center of the screen.



The page should print. Tell the customer to keep it in a safe place.

Note: If the you cannot print the page, you can capture the screen image by pressing **Alt+PrintScreen**. Paste the captured image into a word processing document or image editor program and then save the image in a file.

Creating a shortcut to the System Control Center

Create a desktop shortcut to the System Control Center home page on the customer's computer. If you need instructions for this, see *Creating a shortcut to the System Control Center* on page 66.

Installation and activation complete

At this point installation and activation of the satellite modem are complete. The remaining information in this manual is provided for reference or troubleshooting purposes. You may or may not need it.

Once the satellite modem is installed and activated, the customer may connect a router in the path using the IP information shown in *Figure 36: Welcome screen* on page 57.

Chapter

9

System Control Center

Topics:

- Accessing the System Control Center
- System Control Center home page
- Common features on System
 Control Center screens
- System Status page
- Reception Information page
- Transmission Information page
- Terminal Status page
- System Information page
- State codes
- Connectivity Test page

The System Control Center is a set of screens and links you can use to monitor your broadband service and troubleshoot the satellite modem in the event of a problem. The System Control Center provides access to system status, configuration information, and online documentation through a web browser on the computer that is connected to the satellite modem. Use the System Control Center to find system information for configuring networks or to check system performance if the satellite modem does not seem to be functioning properly.

Accessing the System Control Center

To open the System Control Center on a web browser installed on a computer that is connected to the satellite modem, double-click the System Control Center shortcut on your computer desktop, or follow these steps:

- 1. Open a web browser such as Internet Explorer or Netscape.
- 2. In the browser address bar, type www.systemcontrolcenter.com *or* 192.168.0.1 and press Enter.

Note: To use **192.168.0.1**, DHCP must be enabled on the computer.

The System Control Center home page appears as shown in *Figure 43: System Control Center home page* on page 67.

If you are unable to access the System Control Center, refer to *Cannot access the System Control Center* on page 100.

Creating a shortcut to the System Control Center

Create a shortcut to the System Control Center home page on the customer's Windows desktop.

- 1. Open a web browser.
 - **Note:** The method described here works for Internet Explorer and Netscape Navigator. It may work with other browsers.
- 2. Type www.systemcontrolcenter.com *or* 192.168.0.1 in the browser address bar and press Enter.

Note: To use 192.168.0.1, DHCP must be enabled on the computer.

The System Control Center home page appears.

3. Drag the icon that appears in front of the address displayed in the browser to the computer desktop.



Figure 42: Icon for creating shortcut

System Control Center home page

The System Control Center home page contains numerous links to satellite modem features and important information regarding the operation of the satellite modem.

The button links at the top of the page appear on all System Control Center screens and are explained in *Button links* on page 69.



Figure 43: System Control Center home page

Note: On some screens and in some messages you may see the word *terminal*. This word refers to the satellite modem.

Text links

The System Control Center home page includes the following text links:

System Status links

- <u>View System Status</u> Opens the System Status page, which displays general system status information such as signal strength and administrative status.
- <u>View Reception Information</u> Opens the Reception Information page, which displays information on data received by the satellite modem.
- <u>View Transmission Information</u> Opens the Transmission Information page, which displays information on data transmitted by the satellite modem.
- <u>View Terminal Status</u> Opens the Terminal Status page, which displays detailed information about the operational status of the satellite modem such as interface packet counts and acceleration statistics.
- <u>View System Information</u> Opens the System Information page, which displays information such as modem identification information and IP address information.
- **Note:** These links take you to the same destinations as the button links at the top of each System Control Center page.

Diagnostic utilities link

<u>Connectivity Test</u> – Opens the Connectivity Test page, which can be used to test the connection between the satellite modem and the satellite. If you can access the satellite, there is no problem with your physical site connectivity between the modem (inside) and the radio assembly and antenna (outside). See *Connectivity Test page* on page 92.

Help link

<u>View Help Topics</u> – Opens the Help page, which includes a variety of topics such as recommended browser and TCP/IP settings.

<u>Restart HN9000</u> – Restarts the satellite modem.

myHughesNet

<u>Go to myHughesNet</u> provides access to the HughesNet Web Portal, which contains a variety of useful tools, resources, and information. Access to the HughesNet portal is determined by the service plan purchased by the customer.

From the HughesNet portal you can click the <u>HughesNet Customer Care</u> link to access a wide variety of support resources. For example, you can check online usage, test satellite speed, find troubleshooting scripts, manage passwords, access email, check your account and service plan information, and more. The specific portal information and available features are determined by the customer's service plan.

Common features on System Control Center screens

Certain features are common to some or all of the System Control Center screens, as shown in *Figure 44: Common features on System Control Center screens* on page 69. These features and other common features are explained in the following sections.

🔗 🕸 🏀 HN9000 System Control Center					• 🗟 • 👼 • 🛙	Page • 🎯 Tools •
HughesNet.	System Re Status	eception Info	Transmission Info	Terminal Status	System Info	Button links
			What do these control	ols mean?	M	
<u>Home</u> <u>Connectivity Test</u> <u>Help</u>		R	ECEPTION I	NFO	[<u>Ì</u>
		Receiv	<u>e Status</u>	<u>Up (State Co</u> operational)	de 25 : Ter Adv	n for acces vanced Pac
	Satellite Interface Statistics	Receiv	e Signal Strength	160 (11.10dE	3)	
ks in left nanel		CONU	<u>IS SNR</u>	15.92dB		
ks in left parler		PIP S.	NK Del Fede	14.63dB	1	
		Dr. Em	e Path Fault	Feature Not 1	mplemented	
		Total S	atellite Packets Receiva	ed 5006803		
		CONI	IS Packets Received	226		
		PTP P	ackets Received	5006577		
		Unicas	t Data IP Datagrams	31872	31872 226 4974705	
	Turffin Statistica Dessing	Multica	ast IP Datagrams	226		
	Irathe Statistics: Receive	Manag Datagr	ement and Signaling IP ams	4974705		
		Satellit	e Packets Dropped	0		
		Frame	s With No Signal	0	0	
		Numbe	r of TIPS Received	8922		

Figure 44: Common features on System Control Center screens

Button links

At the top of each System Control Center page are five round buttons with labels above them as shown in *Figure 45: System Control Center button links* on page 69. These five buttons appear at the top of every System Control Center page to provide an easy means of navigation. Each button is a link to the System Control Center page identified by the label—for example, the **System Status** is a link to the System Status page.

The System Status and System Info buttons are always visible; the remaining three buttons are visible only after the modem has been commissioned and is operational.



Figure 45: System Control Center button links

Click the button to go to the page identified by the label.

The destination page for each button link is identified below:

Table 8: Button lin	ks on System	Control Center	r screens
---------------------	--------------	----------------	-----------

Button	Destination	Description of destination page
System Status	System Status page	Displays general status information such as signal strength and commissioning status. For more information see <i>System Status page</i> on page 73.

Button	Destination	Description of destination page
Reception Info	Reception Information page	Displays statistics about received data and receive connection status. For more information see <i>Reception Information page</i> on page 77.
Transmission Info	Transmission Information page	Displays statistics about the transmitted data and transmit connection status. For more information see <i>Transmission</i> <i>Information page</i> on page 80.
Terminal Status	Terminal Status page	Displays detailed information about the operational status of the satellite modem. For more information see <i>Terminal</i> <i>Status page</i> on page 81.
System Info	System Information page	Displays system information such as ST Name (assigned name of the satellite modem name) and operational software version. For more information see <i>System Information page</i> on page 84.

System Status button

The System Status button (only) is a status indicator as well as a link. It changes color to indicate the satellite modem's current status, as explained in *Table 9: Meaning of System Status button colors* on page 70. To see more detailed status information, click the System Status button to open the System Status page.

Table 9: Meaning of System Status button colors

Button color		Meaning
٩	Green	OK – The satellite modem is operating normally.
0	Yellow	 Degraded – Degraded means performance is degraded for any of the following reasons: The Web Acceleration not functioning or in progress. Web Acceleration may be temporarily inactive while you are browsing on a secure HTTP site (https). The modem is in fallback mode. A number of transmissions beyond a certain threshold have not been received by the satellite (state code 30). This could be caused by weather conditions.
0	Orange	FAP threshold exceeded – The satellite modem has exceeded the FAP threshold specified in the HughesNet service plan. Subscribers who exceed the threshold experience reduced download speeds for approximately 24 hr.
•	Red	Problem detected – There is a problem with satellite transmit or receive connectivity or both.

If the System Status button is red or yellow, you can look for a red flag next to any value or values on the System Control Center information pages (those with tables listing parameters

and values). The red flag indicates a problem related to the parameter listed next to the flagged value. Click the parameter name to see a pop-up window that may include helpful information, depending on what the problem is.

Links in left panel

The following links appear in the left panel of each System Control Center page (except the home page):

- <u>Home</u> Opens the System Control Center home page.
- <u>Connectivity Test</u> Opens the Connectivity Test page, which allows you to test the connection between the modem and the satellite. See *Connectivity Test page* on page 92.
- <u>Help</u> Opens the Help page. Refer to the Help page, which includes a variety of topics such as getting started and recommended browser settings.

Icon to access Advanced Pages

The icon indicated by the arrow in the following illustration opens the Advanced Pages. This icon appears on all System Control Center pages. For more information on the Advanced Pages, see *Advanced Pages* on page 103.



Figure 46: Icon for accessing the Advanced Pages

Status and information screens

Five of the System Control Center screens list status and operational parameters and their current values in a tabular format. For example, the following illustration shows the Transmission Information page. The left column identifies the parameter category, the middle column lists the parameters, and the right column shows the current value of the parameter listed in the middle column. Parameters are listed in this format on all five status and information screens, which are listed below:

- System Status page
- Reception Information page
- Transmission Information page
- · Terminal Status page
- System Information page

😋 💽 🔻 🙋 http://192.168.0.1/				~	🖌 🗙 Live Searc	h	P
😭 🕸 🎉 HN9000 System Control Center					1 · 5 ·	🖶 🔹 🔂 Page 🕤	• 🙆 T <u>o</u> ols •
HughesNet	System F Status	Reception Info	Transmission Info	Terminal Status	Sys Ir	stem 1fo	
Home	Parameter categories		Parameters	<u>ls mean?</u>	Current value) ×	_
Connectivity Test			RECEITION IN	NFO			
Help		Re	ceive Status	Up (Si operat	tate Code 25 : To ional)	erminal is fully	
		Re	ceive Signal Strength	160 (1	1.10dB)		
	Satellite Interface Statistic	s CC	ONUS SNR	15.92	đB		
		PT	P SNR	14.63	dB		
		Re	ceive Path Fault	Featur	e Not Implement	ted	
		Rx	Error	13			
		To	tal Satellite Packets Receive	d 50068	03		
		CC	NUS Packets Received	226			
		PT	P Packets Received	50065	77		
		Un	icast Data IP Datagrams	31872	1		
		Mu	ilticast IP Datagrams	226			
	Traffic Statistics: Receive		anagement and Signaling IP tagrams	49747	05		
		Sat	tellite Packets Dropped	0			
		Fra	umes With No Signal	0			
		Nu	mber of TIPS Received	8922			
		Sat Fra Nu	tellite Packets Dropped ames With No Signal mber of TIPS Received	0 0 8922			

Figure 47: Format of status and information screens

Each status and information screen contains categories of parameters that relate to various aspects of satellite modem operation, as explained in the sections that follow for each status and information screen. To see a definition of any parameter, click the parameter name. The definition appears in a pop-up window. For many parameters this window also includes additional information. If you do not see the pop-up window, it may be hidden by other windows; in this case, minimize other open windows.

Count values such a count of errors or packets received may start at or revert to zero when they reach a maximum number or if the modem is restarted.

State codes on status and information screens

A state code is a number that indicates the operational state of the satellite modem. State codes are displayed with an explanation in words, as shown in the following example. On the System Control Center status and information screens, state codes are shown next to selected parameters, as shown in *Figure 48: Example of a state code* on page 72, or next to a parameter that is related to an error condition.



Figure 48: Example of a state code

For a list and explanation of all state codes, see Table 17: State codes on page 88.

Red flag indicator

On the status and information screens, a red flag next to a value indicates a problem related to the parameter listed in the same row where the flagged value appears. The flagged value appears in the right column; the parameter appears in the middle column. The value indicates the current state of the parameter.



Figure 49: Red flag problem indicator

The red flag may help you identify and troubleshoot a problem.

If you see a red flag, click the parameter name. The pop-up window that appears may include troubleshooting information. For detailed troubleshooting information concerning red flag indicators, see:

- Red flags on System Status page on page 76
- Red flags on Reception Information page on page 78
- Red flags on Transmission Information page on page 81

In these three sections you can find the probable cause and possible solution for a red flag next to a specific parameter.

System Status page

The System Status page displays important information about the satellite modem's operational status.

Available system status values may vary, depending on how the satellite modem is configured. Therefore, some options shown in *Figure 50: System Status page* on page 74 may not appear on your System Status screen.

vystem R tatus	eception Info	Transmission Info What do these controls	Terminal Status	System Info	Tor
vstem R tatus	eception Info	Transmission Info What do these controls	Terminal Status mean?	System Info	
		What do these controls	mean?	ž.	
	CN				
	C				
	51	STEM STAT	US		
	Pacaina	Signal Strangth	160		
	Note: Sig can affect status me successfu	mal Strength is not an i t Signal Strength. If you ssages on this page, yo ally.	ndicator of browsing a do not see a red fla ou should be able to l	speed. Precipitation g next to any of the browse the internet	
ite Interface	Normaliz	ed Power Word	38		
	Receive S	Status	Up (State Code 2 operational)	5 : Terminal is fully	
	Transmit	Status	Up (State Code 2 operational)	5 : Terminal is fully	
	Data Pat	h	Satellite Normal		
	Summary	/ Operational State	Up		
	Software	Download Status	All files are up to	date	
	Desired S	State	In Service		
nistrative States	Suspensi	on State	Not Suspended		
	Barred S	tate	Not Barred		
	Security 1	Keys State	Valid		
	Fair Acco Exceeded	ess Policy Threshold d	No		
	ite Interface inistrative States	inistrative States Note: Sig can affect status me successfi Receive : Transmit Data Pat Summary Software Desired S Security Fair Acc Exceede	inistrative States Note: Signal Strength is not an i can affect Signal Strength. If yor status messages on this page, yo successfully. Normalized Power Word Receive Status Transmit Status Data Path Summary Operational State Software Download Status Desired State Suspension State Barred State Security Keys State Fair Access Policy Threshold Exceeded	Note: Signal Strength is not an indicator of browsing can affect Signal Strength. If you do not see a red fla status messages on this page, you should be able to 1 successfully. lite Interface Normalized Power Word 38 Receive Status Operational) Transmit Status Up (State Code 2 operational) Data Path Satellite Normal Summary Operational State Up Software Download Status All files are up to 0 Desired State In Service Suspension State Not Suspended Barred State Not Barred Security Keys State Valid Fair Access Policy Threshold No	Note: Signal Strength is not an indicator of browsing speed. Precipitation can affect Signal Strength. If you do not see a red flag next to any of the status messages on this page, you should be able to browse the internet successfully. lite Interface Normalized Power Word 38 Receive Status Up (State Code 25 : Terminal is fully operational) Transmit Status Up (State Code 25 : Terminal is fully operational) Data Path Satellite Normal Summary Operational State Up Software Download Status All files are up to date Desired State In Service Suspension State Not Suspended Barred State Not Barred Security Keys State Valid Fair Access Policy Threshold No

Figure 50: System Status page

The operational parameters listed on the System Status page are shown in a tabular format. The first (left) column identifies the parameter categories:

- Satellite Interface Contains information on the receive status and signal strength, as well as error messages related to satellite modem receive information.
- Administrative States Contains information on software downloads to this satellite modem, security keys, and other administrative functions.

Typical values for System Status parameters

The following table lists typical values and the range of values for parameters on the System Status page. This information may help you understand the values displayed by a customer's satellite modem.

To see the definition of any parameter, click the parameter name on the screen.

Parameter	Typical values	Range of values
S	y)	
Receive Signal Strength (value is not displayed until about 2 minutes after certain events such as modem re-boot or antenna repointing)	160–220	0–255
Normalized Power Word (value is not displayed until about 2 minutes	29–45	20–65

Table 10: System Status parameters – typical values and range

Parameter	Typical values	Range of values
after certain events such as modem re-boot or antenna repointing)		
Receive Status	Up	Up – The modem is receiving signals from the satellite.
		Down – The modem is not receiving signals from the satellite.
Transmit Status	Up	Up – The modem is transmitting signals to the satellite.
		Down – The modem is not transmitting signals to the satellite.
Data Path	Satellite Normal	Satellite Normal – Usual value.
		Fallback – The data rate is reduced.
		VADB – The modem is in dial backup mode. This mode does not apply to the HN9000 modem.
	Administrative States	<u> </u>
Summary Operational State	Up	Up – The modem is fully functional.
		Down – The modem is not functional.
		Startup – The modem is being commissioned.
Software Download Status	All files are up to date	In progress – Download in progress.
		All files are up to date.
Desired State	In Service	In Service
		Out of Service
		Maintenance
		Unknown
Suspension State	Not Suspended	Suspended
		Not Suspended
Barred State	Not Barred	Modem Individually Barred – The modem can receive but cannot transmit.
		Group Barred – Same as individually barred except barred as part of a group of modems.
		Not Barred

Parameter	Typical values	Range of values
Security Keys State	Valid	Valid – Security keys are valid. Not Valid – Security keys are invalid.
Fair Access Policy Threshold Exceeded	No	Yes – FAP threshold is exceeded, so transmission is reduced or disabled for a period of time. No – FAP threshold has not been exceeded.

Red flags on System Status page

A red flag next to a value on the System Status page indicates a problem related to the parameter listed in the same row where the flagged value appears. For explanation, find the flagged parameter in this table. *If a state code is displayed next to the parameter,* refer to *State codes* on page 88 to identify the probable cause and possible solution.

Flagged parameter	Probable cause	Possible solutions
Receive Status (or)	Various causes are indicated by state codes 26-35.	See <i>Table 17: State codes</i> on page 88.
Transmit Status	Probing failure (occurs only during commissioning).	There is a problem with the configured latitude and longitude. Make sure the entered latitude and longitude values are correct and in the correct format.
	Registration failure (occurs only during commissioning).	See Table 5: Reasons for registration errors and corrective actions on page 36.
Data Path	VADB – System is in VADB mode. The Satellite link is down and the modem is using the dialup backup link.	VADB does not apply to the HN9000 modem.
	Fallback – System is in fallback mode. The modem is experiencing severe weather conditions affecting the data rate. The data rate has been reduced to improve the transmission.	Wait for weather to improve.
Operational State	Modem is not fully operational.	Look for red flags next to other parameters.
Desired State	Modem is in an unknown state.	Look for red flags next to other parameters.
	Modem is out of service.	Call Installer Support with site name to resolve the issue.

Table 11: Explanation of red flags on System Status page

76

Flagged parameter	Probable cause Possible solution		
	Modem is under maintenance.	Call Installer Support with site name to resolve the issue.	
Suspension State	Modem is suspended by the NOCC.	Call Installer Support with site name to resolve the issue.	
Barred State	Modem has been barred individually or as part of a group by the NOCC.	Call Installer Support with site name to resolve the issue.	
Security Keys	Modem has not acquired security keys.	Wait to see if the flag goes away. If it does not, call Installer Support with site name to resolve the issue.	
FAP Status	The modem has greatly exceeded the FAP threshold, and so the modem's data rate is reduced for a period of time.	Wait for normal operation to resume.	

Reception Information page

The Reception Information page shown in *Figure 51: Reception Information page* on page 77 displays information about data received by the satellite modem.

e nop.//172.100.0.1)				ive bedreff
HN9000 System Control Center			<u>∆</u> .	🔊 🔹 🖶 🔹 🔂 Page
where Niet 1	System Rece	ption Transmission	Terminal	System
gnesivet	Status In	fo Info	Status	Info
	0		0	•
		What do these controls t	nean?	
Home				
Connectivity Test		RECEPTION INI	FO	
Help		Receive Status	Up (State Code	e 25 : Terminal is fully
		receive status	operational)	
		Receive Signal Strength	160 (11.10dB)	
	Satellite Interface Statistics	CONUS SNR	15.92dB	
		PTP SNR	14.63dB	
		Receive Path Fault	Feature Not Im	plemented
		Rx Error	13	
		Total Satellite Packets Received	5006803	
		CONUS Packets Received	226	
		PTP Packets Received	5006577	
		Unicast Data IP Datagrams	31872	
	Traffic Statistics: Receive	Multicast IP Datagrams	226	
	france stansacs. Receive	Management and Signaling IP Datagrams	4974705	
		Satellite Packets Dropped	0	
		Frames With No Signal	0	
		Number of TIPS Received	8922	
	L			

Figure 51: Reception Information page

The operational parameters listed on the Reception Information page are shown in a tabular format. The first (left) column identifies the parameter categories:

- Satellite Interface Statistics Contains information on the receive status and signal strength, as well as error messages related to satellite modem receive information.
- Traffic Statistics: Receive Contains statistical information on data received from the satellite including number of packets received or dropped, etc.

Typical values for Reception Information parameters

The following table lists typical values and the range of values for parameters on the Reception Information page. This information may help you understand the values displayed by a customer's satellite modem.

To see the definition of any parameter, click the parameter name on the screen.

Parameter	Typical values	Range of values
Satellit	e Interface Statistics (parameter cat	egory)
Receive Status	Up	Up – The modem is receiving signals from the satellite.
		Down – The modem is not receiving signals from the satellite.
Receive Signal Strength	160–220	0–255.
CONUS SNR	16	4.5–18.0.
PTP SNR	14	4.5–18.0.
Receive Path Fault	ОК	Not applicable (parameter reserved for future use).
RX Error	0	Any whole number.
	Traffic Statistics: Receive	
Total Satellite Packets Received	0	Any whole number.
CONUS Packets Received	0	Any whole number.
PTP Packets Received	0	Any whole number.
Unicast Data IP Datagrams	0	Any whole number.
Multicast IP Datagrams	0	Any whole number.
Management and Signaling IP Datagrams	0	Any whole number.
Satellite Packets Dropped	0	Any whole number.
Frames With No Signal	0	Any whole number.
Number of TIPS Received	0	Any whole number.

Table 12: Reception Information parameters - typical values and range

Red flags on Reception Information page

A red flag next to a value on the Reception Information page indicates a problem related to the parameter listed in the same row where the flagged value appears. For explanation, find the

flagged parameter in this table. *If a state code is displayed next to the parameter,* refer to *Table 17: State codes* on page 88 identify the probable cause and possible solution.

Flagged parameter	Probable cause	Possible solutions
Receive Status	Various causes are indicated by state codes 26–35.	See <i>Table 17: State codes</i> on page 88. Most of these problems must be corrected by a qualified installer.
	Probing failure (occurs only during commissioning).	There is a problem with the configured latitude and longitude. Make sure the entered latitude and longitude values are correct and in the correct format. This problem must be corrected by a qualified installer.
	Registration failure (occurs only during commissioning).	See Table 5: Reasons for registration errors and corrective actions on page 36.
Receive Signal Strength	No Beacon (or) SQF of 0 or 1.	Make sure the receive cable connected to the modem's rear panel is tightly connected. Any other cable connections must be checked by a qualified installer.
		If all cable connections are tight, the antenna may need to be repointed by a qualified installer.
	Weather interference – occurs if rain, snow, or wind is heavy enough to interfere with signal reception.	Wait. When the weather clears, the signal strength should return to normal.
	Receive IFL cable is loose, faulty, or has been disconnected.	Make sure the receive cable connected to the modem's rear panel is tightly connected. Any other cable connections must be checked by a qualified installer.
	Antenna has been severely deflected.	Antenna pointing by a qualified installer is required.
	Foreign object is blocking the antenna	In most cases this problem must be corrected by a qualified installer or other professional (for example, a tree specialist).
	Wrong power supply	Make sure you are using the correct power supply. (See <i>Power supply</i> <i>information</i> on page 10.)
PTP SNR	Average SNR is too low. Severe weather condition.	Wait for the weather to improve.

Table	13:	Explanation	n of rec	l flags o	n Receptio	on Information	page

Transmission Information page

🖉 HN9000 System Control Center - Win	dows Internet Explorer					
🚱 🕞 👻 http://192.168.0.1/				🖌 🛃 🗙 L	ive Search	P-
🔶 🕸 🔾 HN9000 System Control Center				- 🛍 -	🔊 - 🖶 • 🕞 Page •	💮 T <u>o</u> ols 🔹 🎇
HughesNet	System Status	Reception Info	Transmission Info	Terminal Status	System Info	
Home		_	What do these controls	mean?	**	_
<u>Connectivity Test</u>		TR	ANSMISSION I	NFO		
<u>Help</u>			it Status	Up (State Coo operational)	de 25 : Terminal is fully	
	Satellite Interface Statistics	stics Tx Erro	r	2		
		Transm	it Path Fault	Feature Not Is	mplemented	
	Traffic Statistics: Transmit		atellite Packets Transmittee	2046		
	Tranc Stadsucs. Trans	Total S	atellite Packets Dropped	0		
	If the Tx error count is there is not a weather i screen, clicking on the increases. If the Numb Number of Messages transmission problem.	increasing and yot ssue. Then check t Reception Info but er of TIPS Receiv Sent is not zero an	a suspect a transmission (ca hat you can receive transm ton several times, and cheo ed increases, run a Connec d the Number of Messages	able or radio) prob issions by navigati cking that the Num tivity Test. If the ra Received is zero,	lem, first check that ng to the Reception Info iber of TIPS Received esults are that the then you may have a	
(2 items remaining) Downloading picture http://192.	168.0.1/stlui/static/images/gre	en.gif			Internet	100% •

The Transmission Information page shown in *Figure 52: Transmission Information page* on page 80 displays information about data transmissions from the satellite satellite modem.

Figure 52: Transmission Information page

The operational parameters listed on the Transmission Information page are shown in a tabular format. The first (left) column identifies the parameter categories:

- Satellite Interface Statistics Contains information on transmit status and signal strength, as well as transmission-related error messages.
- Traffic Statistics: Transmit Contains statistical information on the specific data transmitted to the satellite from this satellite modem.

Typical values for Transmission Information parameters

The following table lists typical values and the range of values for parameters on the Transmission Information page. This information may help you understand the values displayed by a customer's satellite modem.

To see the definition of any parameter, click the parameter name on the screen.

Table 14: Transmission	Information	parameters -	typical	values	and	range

Parameter	Typical values	Range of values		
Satellite Interface Statistics (parameter category)				
Transmit Status	Up	Up – The modem is transmitting signals to the satellite.		

Parameter	Typical values	Range of values
		Down – The modem is not transmitting signals to the satellite.
Tx Error	0	Any whole number.
Transmit Path Fault	ОК	Not applicable (parameter reserved for future use).
	Traffic Statistics: Transmit	
Total Satellite Packets Transmitted	0	Any whole number.
Total Satellite Packets Dropped	0	Any whole number.

Red flags on Transmission Information page

If you see a red flag next to Transmit Status on the Transmission Information page, see Transmit Status in *Table 11: Explanation of red flags on System Status page* on page 76. The information for Transmit Status in that table also applies to the Transmission Information page.

Terminal Status page

The Terminal Status page displays information about the operational state of the satellite modem and operational statistics such as messages and packets sent, received, and dropped. It indicates whether acceleration is enabled and provides a count of traffic that moves across the LAN to the satellite modem.

🖉 HN9000 System Control Center - Win	idows Internet Explorer					
🚱 🕞 👻 🖉 http://192.168.0.1/				▼ 47 × L	ive Search	P -
🔗 🏟 🎉 HN9000 System Control Center				· 🖄 •	■ • ● • ● Page •	• 💮 T <u>o</u> ols • »
HughesNet	System R Status	Reception Info	Transmission T Info	erminal Status	System Info	
		-	What do these controls me	an?	ž	
<u>Home</u> <u>Connectivity Test</u>			TERMINAL STATE	US		
<u>Help</u>		Ī	AN Interface Status	Up		=
		I	Dial Backup Status	Disabled		
	Overall Status	1	ICP Acceleration Status	Enabled		
		1	SEL A and another Status	Disabled		
		S 10	DNS Acceleration Status	Enabled		-
	Transport Interface Recei	ta T	Data Messages Received	32105		-
	Statistics	NC N	Vessages Dropped: Protocol Error	0		-
		Ī	Data Messages Sent	1187		
	Transport Interface Transmit Statistics	mit I	Data Messages Dropped: Configuration Error	0		
		τ	Unicast Messages Received	26734		
		N	Multicast Messages Received	10		_
	Same and	I	P Fragments Received	0		_
	LAN Interface Statistics	E	Ethernet Input Errors	0		
		L	Unicast Messages Sent	45725		
		N	Multicast Messages Sent	0		
		E	Ethernet Output Errors	0		
		I	P Packets Dropped: Forwarding	6		~
Done				i 🖓 😌	Internet	🔍 100% 🔹 💡

Figure 53: Terminal Status page (top part)

The operational parameters listed on the Terminal Status page are shown in a tabular format. The first (left) column identifies the parameter categories:

- Overall Status Shows the major features such as dial backup or acceleration. (Some listed features may not be included in your service plan.)
- Transport Interface Receive Statistics Indicates messages received and decoded by the satellite modem from the satellite.
- Transport Interface Transmit Statistics Indicates messages being queued up by the satellite modem for transmission to the satellite.
- LAN Interface Statistics Shows traffic across the LAN interface to the satellite modem.
- IP Forwarding and Routing Statistics These refer to system control messages.
- Local IP Interface Statistics Sum of various counts of messages.
- Dial Backup Status Count of dial backup traffic if the feature is enabled. (Some listed features may not be included in your service plan.)
- TCP Acceleration Statistics Counts of messages and connections used between the satellite modem and its destination if the feature is enabled. (Some listed features may not be included in your service plan.)
- SSL Acceleration Statistics Counts of SSL traffic if the feature is enabled. (Some listed features may not be included in your service plan.)
- DNS Caching Statistics Counts on local storage of data if the feature is enabled. (Some listed features may not be included in your service plan.)
- Management Statistics Various internal network management traffic counts.
- Turbo Page Statistics Counts of various web page requests and objects if the feature is enabled. (Some listed features may not be included in your service plan.)

Typical values for Terminal Status parameters

The following table lists typical values and the range of values for parameters on the Terminal Status page. This information may help you understand the values displayed by a customer's satellite modem.

To see the definition of any parameter, click the parameter name on the screen.

The Dial Backup Status parameter and Dial Backup Status category of parameters do not apply to the HN9000 satellite modem.

Parameter	Typical values	Range of values			
	Overall Status (parameter category)				
LAN Interface Status	Up	Up Down			
		Out of Service			
		Maintenance			
		Unknown			
Dial Backup Status	Disabled	Disabled			
		Connecting:			
		Disconnecting:			
		Disconnected:			
TCP Acceleration Status	Enabled	Enabled			
		Disabled			
Turbo Page Status	Enabled	Enabled			
		Disabled			
SSL Acceleration Status	Disabled	Disabled			
		Connected to Server			
		Connecting to Server			
		Disconnected from Server			
DNS Acceleration Status	Enabled				
		Disabled			
1	Transport Interface Receive Statistics	S			
Data Messages Received	0	Any whole number			
Messages Dropped: Protocol Error	0	Any whole number			

Table 15: Terminal Status parameters – typical values and range

Parameter	Typical values	Range of values			
	Transport Interface Transmit Statistics				
Data Messages Sent	0	Any whole number			
Data Messages Dropped: Protocol Error	0	Any whole number			
	LAN Interface Statistics				
Unicast Messages Received	0	Any whole number			
Multicast Messages Received	0	Any whole number			
IP Fragments Received	0	Any whole number			
Ethernet Input Errors	0	Any whole number			
Unicast Messages Sent	0	Any whole number			
Multicast Messages Sent	0	Any whole number			
Ethernet Output Errors	0	Any whole number			
	IP Forwarding and Routing Statistics	;			
IP Packets Dropped : Forwarding Errors	0	Any whole number			
ICMP Redirects Sent	0	Any whole number			
ISRP Redirects Sent	0	Any whole number			
Current Number of Static Routes	0	Any whole number			
Current Number of RIP Routes	0	Any whole number			
Current Number of Redirect Routes	0	Any whole number			
Current Number of ISRP Routes	0	Any whole number			
Local IP Interface Statistics					
IP Packets Received	0	Any whole number			
IP Packets Sent	0	Any whole number			
	Dial Backup Status				
Data Packets Received	0	Any whole number			

System Information page

The System Information page shown in *Figure 53: Terminal Status page (top part)* on page 85 provides system information for the satellite modem such as ST name (modem name), Site ID (Site Id), and operational software version.

🖉 HN9000 System Control Center - Windows Internet Explorer						
🚱 🗸 🖉 http://192.168.0.1/				🖌 🛃 🗙 [ive Search	P -
😭 🔅 🖗 HN9000 System Control Center				<u>6</u> -	🔊 - 🖶 - 🕞 Page -	• () T <u>o</u> ols • *
HughesNet	System Status	Reception Info	Transmission Info	Terminal Status	System Info	
	•	•	•	•	•	
			What do these controls	mean?	ž.	
Home			SYSTEM INFO)		<u>^</u>
Connectivity Test						
Connectivity Test			Ale Delet diama			
Help			Print this page.			
		ST	Name	HNSHSO1	0005599	
		Sit	e Id	70939	0005555	
	Identification	ES	N	110100002	043010	
		OI	 DU Serial Number	123456789	012	
		OI	OU Part Number	1500913-0	001	
		Bo	ot Software Version	075016jj		
		Co	mmissioning Software Versio	on 074046ca		
	Software	Ot	perational Software Version	075022aa		
		Mi Ve	nimum Commissioning Softw rision Required	are 551		
		Ur	olink Cell	59		
		Do	wnlink Microcell	499		
		Up	link Polarization	RHCP		
		Do	wnlink Polarization	LHCP		
	Satellite	Sh	aped Beam Types	Full & East	Conus	
		Sh	aped Beam Polarization	LHCP		
		Ur	<u>blink Mode</u>	Regular		_
		Tr	ansmit Radio Wattage	1.000000		×
Done				🕠 🚱	Internet	🔍 100% 🔹 🛒

Figure 54: System Information page (top part)

Note: Print the System Information page and tell the customer to save it. The customer might need it if they cannot access the System Control Center and they need to call Hughes Customer Care or their service provider for assistance. (If a printer is not available, tell the customer to capture the screen image and save it to a file. Provide assistance if necessary.)

The operational parameters listed on the System Information page are shown in a tabular format. The first (left) column identifies the parameter categories:

- Identification Contains system ID information such as Site ID (installation site ID) and ST name (a unique name that identifies the satellite modem).
- Software Contains version information on the various software applications resident on the satellite modem such as commissioning and operational software.
- Satellite Contains information pertaining to communication with the satellite such as antenna size, transmit radio wattage, and uplink transmission mode.
- Addressing Contains addressing information such as LAN port address and subnet mask and available public IP addresses (if any, depending on your service plan).
- Software Features This section lists the optional features and provides information on whether they are currently active. These features are enabled or disabled according to the customer's service offering. The customer cannot use the satellite modem to change these features.

Typical values for System Information parameters

The following table lists typical values and the range of values for parameters on the System Information page. This information may help you understand the values displayed by a customer's satellite modem.

To see the definition of any parameter, click the parameter name on the screen.

Parameter	Typical values	Range of values		
Identification (parameter category)				
ST Name	Characters and numbers	Not applicable		
Site ID	A number	Not applicable		
ESN	A number	Not applicable		
ODU Serial Number	A number	Not applicable		
ODU Part Number	A number	Not applicable		
	Software			
Boot Software Version	Characters and numbers	Not applicable		
Commissioning Software Version	Characters and numbers	Not applicable		
Operational Software Version	Characters and numbers	Not applicable		
Minimum Commissioning Software Version Required	A number	Not applicable		
	Satellite			
Uplink Cell	A number	Not applicable		
Downlink Microcell	A number	Not applicable		
Uplink Polarization	Not applicable	RHCP		
		LHCP		
Downlink Polarization	Not applicable	RHCP		
		LHCP		
Shaped Beam Types	Not applicable	No Conus		
		Full Conus		
		West Conus		
		Full West Conus		
		East Conus		
		Full East Conus		
Shaped Beam Polarization	Not applicable			
		I HCP		
Liplink Mode	Pogulor			
	Regular	Regular		
		High Volume		
Transmit Radio Wattage	Small integer	1.000000		
		2.800000 (nominal 2-W radio)		

Table 16: System Information parameters - typical values and range

Parameter	Typical values	Range of values
		5.000000 (nominal 4-W radio)
		13.000000 (nominal 10-W power booster)
Antenna Size	A real number	0.740000m
		0.980000m
		1.200000m
		1.800000m
	Addressing	
LAN Port Address	An IP Address	Unassigned {IP Address}
LAN Port Subnet Mask	An IP Address	Unassigned {IP Address}
Last Usable IP Address	An IP Address	Unassigned {IP Address}
Default Gateway	Satellite	Satellite {IP Address}
Local Address Domain ID	A real number	Not applicable
Address Translation Within Local Domain	An IP Address	Not applicable
Static Address Mapping Within Local Domain	An IP Address	Not applicable
Address Translation to External Domains	Not applicable	Not applicable
Static Address Mappings to External Domains	Not applicable	Not applicable
Dynamic Address Translation to External Domains	Enabled	Not applicable
	Software Features	
DHCP Mode	Server	Not applicable
IRDP Preference	Disabled	Not applicable
RIP Mode	Disabled	Not applicable
ISRP Mode	Disabled	Not applicable
ISRP Redirect Behavior	Disabled	Not applicable
IGMP Receive	Enabled	Not applicable
IGMP Send Mode	Enabled	Not applicable
H.323 Proxy	Disabled	Not applicable
Dialer Proxy	Disabled	Not applicable
TCP Acceleration	Enabled	Not applicable
HTTP GET Compression	Enabled	Not applicable
DNS Caching	Enabled	Not applicable

Parameter	Typical values	Range of values
Turbo Page	Enabled	Not applicable
SSL Acceleration	Disabled	Not applicable

State codes

A state code is a number that indicates the operational state of the satellite modem. Some state codes indicate an error condition. State codes are identified as *State code* followed by a number from 1-35. They are displayed with an explanation in words, as shown in the following examples.

State codes appear on installation screens, on screens displayed during a hard reboot (when power is removed and then restored), and on System Control Center pages.







Example from a System Control Center screen

Figure 55: Examples of state codes

Table 17: State codes on page 88 lists and explains all HN9000 state codes.

In the state code table, *modem* refers to the *satellite modem*.

State code	State name	Explanation	Corrective action
		Installation – Boot phase	
1	Starting Up in Boot	Satellite modem is starting up in boot phase.	Transient – No action is necessary.

State code	State name	Explanation	Corrective action
2	Waiting for Installation Parameters	Modem has not been installed, and installation parameters have not been submitted.	Transient – No action is necessary.
3	Coarse Pointing in Progress	Antenna pointing is in progress (coarse or fine pointing). Occurs during modem installation only.	Transient – No action is necessary.
4	Acquiring Beacon in Boot	Occurs during Auto modem replacement only: Modem is searching for beacon.	Transient – No action is necessary.
5	Acquiring PTP SNR in Boot	Occurs during Auto modem replacement only: Modem is searching for point-to-point signal.	Transient – No action is necessary.
6	Waiting for Uplink Polarization Change	Modem is waiting for installer to switch uplink polarization at the radio assembly. <i>Occurs during</i> <i>installation only.</i>	Installer should switch polarization.
7	Downlink Established in Boot	Modem is in boot phase. Downlink has been established; that is, beacon is being tracked and transmission information packets are being received.	Transient – No action is necessary.
8	Waiting for MIPs in Boot	Modem is in boot phase and is waiting for indirect and direct management packets.	Transient – No action is necessary.
9	Downloading Commissioning Software	Modem is in boot phase and is downloading commissioning software.	Transient – No action is necessary.
10	Waiting for Antenna Pointing Complete	Modem is waiting for antenna pointing validation to complete. Occurs during installation only.	Installer must complete validation.
	In:	stallation – Commissioning phase	9
11	Starting Up in Commissioning	Modem is starting up in commissioning phase.	Transient – No action is necessary.
12	Downlink Established in Commissioning	Modem is in commissioning phase. Downlink has been established; that is, beacon is being tracked and transmission information packets are being received.	Transient – No action is necessary.
13	Waiting for MIPs in Commissioning	Modem is in commissioning phase and is waiting for indirect and direct management packets.	Transient – No action is necessary.
14	Probing in Progress	Modem is in commissioning phase. Probing is in progress. Occurs during installation only.	Transient – No action is necessary.

State code	State name	Explanation	Corrective action
15	Probing Failure	Modem is in commissioning phase. Probing has failed. <i>Occurs only</i> <i>during installation.</i>	See next row.

Probing failure (code 15) corrective actions:

- 1. Latitude and/or longitude entered during installation may be incorrect or in wrong format. Verify and re-install.
- **2.** Transmit cable from modem to antenna may be bad or disconnected. Verify and correct as necessary. Modem will keep retrying.
- **3.** Radio may be unable to transmit. Replace it. If any changes are made to the antenna, it may become mispointed, so repoint it.

16	Registering ST	Modem is in commissioning phase. Modem is registering with the NOCC.	Transient – No action is necessary.
17	ST Registration Failure	Modem is in commissioning phase: registration with the NOCC has failed.	See Table 5: Reasons for registration errors and corrective actions on page 36.
18	Waiting for Capacity Keys	Modem is in commissioning phase; modem is waiting for capacity keys from the NOCC.	Transient – No action is necessary.
19	Reconciling Profiles in Commissioning	Modem is in commissioning phase; modem is reconciling profiles with the NOCC.	Transient – No action is necessary.
20	Downloading Operational Software	Modem is in commissioning phase and is downloading operational software.	Transient – No action is necessary.

Note: State codes 1 - 20 appear only while the modem is being installed or during a hard reboot (resulting from power being removed and then restored).

Operational phase				
21	Starting Up in Operation	Modem is starting up in operational phase.	Transient – No action is necessary.	
22	Downlink Established in Operational	Modem is in operational phase. Downlink has been established; that is, beacon is being tracked and transmission information packets are being received.	Transient – No action is necessary.	
23	Waiting for MIPs in Operational	Modem is in operational phase and is waiting for indirect and direct management packets.	Transient – No action is necessary.	
24	Reconciling Profile in Operational	Modem is in operational phase. Profiles are being distributed to various subsystems.	Transient – No action is necessary.	
25	Fully Operational (normal operation)	Modem is fully operational.	Steady state – No action is necessary.	
Error opdog				

90

State code	State name	Explanation	Corrective action
26	Rx Connectivity Down	Rx cable connectivity tests have failed.	Verify cabling and pointing. If antenna has moved or been disturbed, repoint it.
27	No Beacon	Modem is unable to track beacon.	Verify cabling and pointing. If antenna has moved or been disturbed, repoint it.
28	No TIPs	Modem is not receiving transmission information packets from satellite.	Verify cabling and pointing. If antenna has moved or been disturbed, repoint it.
29	Tx Connectivity Down	Tx cable connectivity tests have failed.	Verify cabling and pointing. If antenna has moved or been disturbed, repoint it.
30	Too Many Bad Slots	<i>Bad slots</i> are transmissions from the modem that are not received by the satellite. State code 30 indicates a percentage of bad slots within the last hour that exceeds a preset value.	Rain or snow can cause this condition. If it continues during clear weather, verify cabling and pointing. If antenna has moved or been disturbed, repoint it.
31	ECL Active	Transmitter has been shut down due to ECL. ECL measures total transmitted power over 30-minute periods and turns off the transmitter if the total power exceeds a preset limit imposed by the FCC.	Transient – No action is necessary.
Restricted states (NOCC-imposed restrictions)			
32	Barred	Modem has been barred from transmitting by the NOCC. Possible reasons for barring include interference isolation, uplink failure, or government order.	Call Installer Support with site name to resolve the issue.
33	Suspended	Modem has been put in a suspended state by the NOCC. This occurs if a customer's bill is overdue or if service is terminated.	Call Installer Support with site name to resolve the issue.
34	Maintenance	Modem has been put in maintenance state by the NOCC.	Call Installer Support with site name to resolve the issue.
35	Out of Service	Modem has been put in out-of-service state by the NOCC.	Call Installer Support with site name to resolve the issue.

Viewing the state codes list

To view a list of state codes with an explanation of each code:

1. Click the underlined state code number.



A pop-up window appears that briefly identifies each state code. If you do not see the pop-up window, it may be hidden by other windows; if this happens, minimize other open windows.

2. Scroll down to see the entire list of state codes.

Connectivity Test page

You can use the Connectivity Test page to test the connection between the satellite modem and the satellite. Instructions for the test are provided on the screen. No special configuration is required.



Figure 56: Terminal Connectivity Test page
For details about this test, see *Testing connectivity to the satellite* on page 100.

Chapter 10

LEDs

Topics:

- Front panel LEDs
- LAN port LEDs

The satellite modem has a vertical row of LEDs on the front panel and small LEDs on the Ethernet port on the back of the modem. The LEDs provide information about the satellite modem's operating status.

Front panel LEDs

The satellite modem has five LEDs on the front panel, as shown in *Figure 57: Front panel LEDs* on the *HN9000 modem* on page 96. By their appearance—on, off, or blinking—the LEDs indicate the modem's operating status.

LAN Indicates whether the satellite modem's JGHES LAN port is connected to the user's computer or other device and is ready for user traffic. Transmit Indicates whether the satellite modem is transmitting data, is able to transmit data, or has a problem in the transmit path. Receive Indicates whether the satellite modem is receiving data, has good signal quality or has a problem in the receive path. System Indicates whether the satellite modem is in boot or commissioning phase or if it is ready or not ready to handle user traffic.

Power

Indicates whether the satellite modem is receiving power; also used to indicate if the modem overheats.

Figure 57: Front panel LEDs on the HN9000 modem

Table 18: Front panel LED indications on page 96 explains what the modem status is when the LEDs are on, off, or blinking. *On* means the LED is continuously lit. *Blinking* means the LED is usually on, but intermittently turns off briefly.

LED	Appearance	Satellite modem status	Corrective action
LAN	On	The modem's LAN port is connected to another network device such as the user's computer.	
	Off	LAN cable disconnected or other problem with the LAN configuration; requires user intervention.	Check network connections.
Transmit	On	The modem is able to transmit.	
	Blinking	The modem is transmitting data packets to the network satellite.	
	Off	Problem in the transmit path.	Check transmit cable connection.

Table 18: Front panel LED indications

LED	Appearance	Satellite modem status	Corrective action
Receive On		Downlink beacon signal is locked; signal quality is good.	
	Blinking	The modem is receiving data packets from the satellite.	
	Off	Problem in the receive path.	Check receive cable connection.
System	On	Ready to handle user traffic.	
	Blinking	In boot or commissioning phase.	
	Off	Not ready to service user traffic.	
Power	On – blue	The satellite modem is receiving power from its power supply.	
	On – red	Modem temperature is too hot.	Make sure the environmental
		(If the modem overheats, it turns off. When it cools it recovers to operational status.)	temperature is within range, that the modem is positioned vertically, and that its vents are not blocked.
	Off	Not receiving power.	Check power connection.
Bold type	indicates LED ap	ppearance during normal operation.	

LAN port LEDs

Green and orange LEDs on the LAN (Ethernet) port on the modem's rear panel indicate link status and speed, as explained in *Figure 58: LAN port LEDs* on page 97.



<u>Green</u> indicates link speed: **ON** – Connected to a 100-Mbps network (100BaseT mode) **OFF** – Connected to a 10-Mbps network (10BaseT mode)

Orange indicates link status: ON – Port is connected to a powered-on device BLINKING – Port is receiving data OFF – No link established

Figure 58: LAN port LEDs

Chapter 11

Troubleshooting

Topics:

- Rescue switch
- Cannot access the System
 Control Center
- Testing connectivity to the satellite

If you encounter a problem with the satellite modem, refer to the relevant troubleshooting procedure or procedures in the sections that follow. If you cannot correct the problem, contact Installer Support.

Other sections in this guide that contain troubleshooting information are listed below:

- For help on troubleshooting **installation problems**, see *Troubleshooting installation problems* on page 40.
- For explanation of **state codes**, which appear on various screens, see *Table 17: State codes* on page 88.
- For explanation of **red flags**, see *Red flag indicator* on page 73.
- Improper **settings on the computer** connected to the satellite modem can cause problems. For instructions on configuring a computer to work properly with the modem see *Computer settings* on page 107.

Rescue switch

NOTICE

Do not use the recessed rescue switch on the modem's rear panel unless you are a qualified technician. Pressing this switch could cause the modem to become inoperable.

Cannot access the System Control Center

Follow these steps if you cannot access the System Control Center after installation of the satellite modem.

1. If the modem is using a private IP address, confirm that DHCP is enabled on the customer's computer.

This procedure is explained in *Configuring a computer to use DHCP* on page 109.

- 2. Open a web browser on a computer connected to the satellite modem.
- 3. In the browser address bar, type www.systemcontrolcenter.com or 192.168.0.1 and press Enter.

Note: To use **192.168.0.1**, DHCP must be enabled on the computer.

If the System Control Center does not appear, continue with the remaining steps.

- 4. Make sure that the satellite modem is powered up. The Power and LAN LEDs should be continuously lit—except that the LAN LED may blink if there is LAN activity.
- 5. Make sure the DC power cord adapter is securely attached to the satellite modem.
- 6. If the LEDs are off, make sure the Ethernet cable is securely attached to the satellite modem and the customer's computer.
- 7. If you complete the installation and you still cannot access the System Control Center, contact Installer Support.

Testing connectivity to the satellite

If you have problems connecting to the Internet, you can use the Connectivity Test page to test connectivity between the modem and the satellite. This connectivity test sends test messages on a loop from the modem to the satellite and back to the modem, as shown in *Figure 59: Satellite loopback connectivity test* on page 101. If the test succeeds, it verifies that the modem can connect to the satellite.



Figure 59: Satellite loopback connectivity test

1. To conduct this test from any System Control Center page, click **Connectivity Test** in the left panel.

The initial Terminal Connectivity Test page appears.

6 HN9000 System Control Cente	r - Windows Internet Expl	orer				
🔆 🗸 🗸 🖉 http://192.168.0.1/				🖌 47 🗙 L	ive Search	P-
🙀 🏟 🏾 🏾 🏀 HN9000 System Control C	Ienter			🙆 •	🔊 - 🖶 • 🔂 Bag	ge 🔹 🌍 T <u>o</u> ols 🔹 »
HughesNet	System Status	Reception Info	Transmission Info	Terminal Status	System Info	
			What do these contr	rols mean?	*	
<u>Home</u>	Terminal Connectivi	ty Test				
<u>Connectivity Test</u> <u>Help</u>	Terminal Satellite I Connectivity Test can the satellite. This test Internet or to a server Click the button below Start Test	.oopback Connect be used to verify the does not verify cont on your company's to start the test.	ctivity QoS Diagnos at your terminal can c nectivity from your cor Intranet. This test take	tic communicate throug mputer to the es a few seconds.	h	
Done				a	Internet	€ 100% ·

Figure 60: Terminal Connectivity Test page

2. Click Start Test.

You may see a screen that asks you to wait while the test is conducted. When the test finishes, the Connectivity Test results page appears.



Figure 61: Connectivity Test results page

If the number of messages sent equals the number of messages received, the test is successful—there is good connectivity between the remote modem and the satellite.

If the number of messages received is greater than zero but not equal to the number of messages sent, you have physical connectivity to the satellite, but if this test result persists, you may have an access problem.

Typically the delay time (time message is sent until it is received) is approximately 1 second. The screen shows the minimum, average, and maximum delay times for the test messages in milliseconds. Most important is whether all messages are received or not.

For additional information, see How to interpret these results on the test results page.

Chapter 12

Advanced Pages

Topics:

- Accessing the Advanced Pages
- Expanding and collapsing menus
- Opening the Installation
 sub-menu

The Advanced Configuration and Statistics pages, also known as the *Advanced Pages*, contain a great deal of detailed information about the satellite modem—such as statistics, diagnostic information, logs, status, and operating parameters. You may need to access the Advanced Pages to find specific information or to configure special features.

Note: The Advanced Pages provide access to critical configuration parameters and other functions. Do not use these pages unless you are a qualified installer or other technician who thoroughly understands how the satellite modem operates or unless an Installer Support representative instructs you to access the Advanced Pages for troubleshooting purposes.

Accessing the Advanced Pages

To access the Advanced Pages:

- 1. Launch a web browser.
- 2. Type www.systemcontrolcenter.com *or* 192.168.0.1 in the browser address bar and press Enter.

Note: To use **192.168.0.1**, DHCP must be enabled on the computer.

The System Control Center home page appears.

3. Click the small icon below the System Info button. This icon is indicated by the arrow in *Figure 62: Icon for accessing Advanced Pages* on page 104.



If the modem has not been commissioned,



The Advanced Configuration and Statistics screen appears, as shown in *Figure 63: Advanced Pages example showing the Advanced menu* on page 105.

An alternate way to open the Advanced Pages is to type www.systemcontrolcenter/stlui/fs/advanced in the browser address bar and press Enter.

Figure 63: Advanced Pages example showing the Advanced menu on page 105 shows one of the many available Advanced Pages, the Terminal Initialization Sequence screen, which appears during installation. This Figure shows the Advanced menu in the left panel. Many other Advanced Pages are available through the Advanced menu.



Figure 63: Advanced Pages example showing the Advanced menu

Expanding and collapsing menus

To expand the Advanced Menu on the left side of the screen to show additional selections, click the + sign next to a menu item. If you expand another menu item, the previously expanded menu item collapses.

Opening the Installation sub-menu

Advanced Pages of particular interest to installers are listed in the **Installation** sub-menu. To open this sub-menu, click + next to **Installation**.

Appendix



Computer settings

For proper operation of the satellite modem, you may have to change certain settings on the computer that is connected to the modem.

Do not change any settings on a customer's computer unless you first obtain permission to do so.

Instructions are provided for:

- · Configuring a computer to support DHCP
- · Configuring a computer to use a public IP address
- Disabling a web browser's proxy connection

These procedures are explained in the sections that follow.

Understanding the modem address and computer address

The satellite modem and any computer or computers that connect to it must each have their own identifying network address. This network address is known as an *IP address*. An IP address may be *dynamic*, meaning that it can change, or *static*, meaning that it is fixed—it does not change. An IP address may also be public (or *routable*), meaning that it can be used on the Internet. A *private* IP address works on an internal network but not over the Internet. However, to gain access to the Internet, private addresses may be converted by a network address translation (NAT) service to a public IP address that can be used on the Internet. Both private and public addresses can be dynamic or static, although typically a private IP address is dynamic and a typically a public IP address is static.

Both the modem and a connected computer can have either type of address—private or public. The type used depends on requirements a customer might have and their service plan. A public IP address or addresses are available only if they are specified in the service plan. Typically home users use a private IP address, but some home users use a public IP address.

To find specific address information, go to the System Control Center System Information page *Figure 53: Terminal Status page (top part)* on page 85. Scroll down until you see Addressing in the left column. Look at the first three parameters in the Addressing field, as shown in the following two examples.

Private IP addresses

Figure 64: Example of Addressing parameters showing available private IP addresses on page 108 is an example of System Information page address parameters for a satellite modem with a service plan that provides private IP addresses.

LAN Port Address	192.168.0.1 🔸	- Modem address
LAN Port Subnet Mask	255.255.255.0	
Last Usable IP Address	192.168.0.254 -	- Last address that
Default Gateway	Satellite	can be assigned
	1.5	to a computer

Figure 64: Example of Addressing parameters showing available private IP addresses

In this example, the satellite modem is assigned a private IP address (LAN Port Address) of 192.168.0.1.

There are 253 available private IP addresses that can be assigned to computers connecting to the satellite modem. These addresses are in the range from 192.168.0.2 to 192.168.0.254 (the Last Usable IP Address).

Public IP address

Figure 65: Example of Addressing parameters showing one available public IP address on page 108 is an example of System Information page address parameters for a satellite modem with a service plan that provides one public IP address. Some service plans provide multiple public IP addresses.

LAN Port Address	97.73.73.65 🔶	 Modem address
LAN Port Subnet Mask	255.255.255.252	
Last Usable IP Address	97.73.73.66 🔶	- Last address that
Default Gateway	Satellite	can be assigned
provide and a second		to a computer

Figure 65: Example of Addressing parameters showing one available public IP address

In this example, the satellite modem is assigned the public IP address (LAN Port Address) 97.73.73.65. The modem's DHCP server has only one public IP address to assign to a connecting computer: 97.73.73.66 (the Last Usable IP Address).

For instructions on configuring a public IP address on your computer, see the applicable section in *Configuring a computer for a public IP address* on page 117. Find the section that applies to your computer operating system.

Multiple public IP addresses

If a service plan provides more than one public IP address, the range (or difference) from the LAN Port Address to the Last Usable IP Address will be greater than one. For example, if the LAN Port Address is 97.73.73.65 and the Last Usable IP Address is 97.73.73.70, the range (or difference) is 5, meaning there are five available public IP addresses.

If you don't know the modem's public IP address...

To access the satellite modem when the service plan provides a public IP address, you need to know the public IP address of the satellite modem (the LAN Port Address). If you do not know the LAN Port Address (and you cannot access the System Information page), you can set a *link local* address on your computer as explained below:

- 1. Use the Windows Control Panel on the connected computer to open the Local Area Connection Properties dialog and then the Internet Protocol (TCP/IP) Properties dialog. If you need more specific instructions, see *Configuring a computer for a public IP address* on page 117.
- 2. In the Internet Protocol Properties dialog, click Use the following IP address.

- **3.** Enter the following:
 - a) In the IP address field, type 169.254.10.10.
 - b) Typically the Subnet mask field auto-populates to 255.255.0.0. If it does not, enter this value manually.
 - c) In the Default gateway field, type 169.254.0.1.
 - d) In the Preferred DNS server field, type 66.82.4.8.
 - e) Click **OK** twice to close the Internet Protocol Properties dialog and the Network Connections dialog.
- 4. With the computer configured as instructed above, type 169.254.0.1 in your browser address window to open the System Control Center.

If you click the link on the System Control Center home page for the System Information page, you can read the modem's IP address in the Addressing section. The LAN Port Address is the modem's IP address.

5. Record the LAN Port Address and the Last Usable IP Address.

Now you can enable DHCP on your computer (by selecting Obtain an IP Address automatically in the Internet Protocol Properties dialog). Then, the modem will dynamically assign a public IP address to the computer.

Alternatively, if you want to assign a particular public IP address to your computer, you can set that public IP address on your computer. To configure the public address, see *Configuring a computer for a public IP address* on page 117.

Configuring a computer to use DHCP

DHCP is a protocol that allows a computer to obtain its IP address from a DHCP server on a network when the computer connects to the network. This type of IP address is called a *dynamically assigned* IP address because it can change when the computer disconnects from the network and later re-connects.

The satellite modem incorporates a DHCP server (always enabled) to assign IP addresses to computers that connect to it. The modem can assign *private* IP addresses or *public IP addresses*, depending on the service plan purchased by the satellite modem customer.

In most cases, DCHP should be enabled on a computer or computers that connect to the satellite modem so the computer(s) can ask for and receive an IP address (private or public) from the satellite modem DHCP server.

DHCP should be disabled on the customer's PC if the customer has purchased a service plan with a public IP address(es) and wants to use a particular public IP address.

The following sections explain how to configure computers with various operating systems to use DHCP in the event that DHCP is disabled on the computer. To enable DHCP, use the instructions for your specific computer operating system.

Configuring Windows Vista to use DHCP

This section explains how to configure your computer to use DHCP if your computer operating system is Microsoft Windows Vista.

1. From the Windows desktop, select Start \rightarrow Settings \rightarrow Network Connections.

A list of network adapters appears as shown in *Figure 66: Network connections – Windows Vista* on page 110. The Local Area Connection-NIC Card icon *must* appear under the LAN or High-Speed Internet heading. If it does not, the network is not installed correctly.



Figure 66: Network connections – Windows Vista

- **Note:** If a red X appears next to the Local Area Connection icon, check your connections. You cannot successfully configure your system if the red X is present.
- Right-click the Local Area Connection-NIC Card icon, which represents the satellite modem network connection, and select Properties.

The Local Area Connection-NIC Card Properties dialog appears as shown in *Figure 67: Local Area Connection Properties – Windows Vista* on page 110.

Note: Depending on the computer's security settings, a pop-up User Account Control message may appear, requesting that you confirm the action before proceeding. If you see this message, click **Continue** to proceed.

Stidning		
Connect using:		
Realtek RTL81	69/8110 Family PCI Gi	gabit Ethernet NIC (
		Configure
his connection uses	the following items:	
Client for Mic	rosoft Networks	
I De en la		
I BuoS Packet	Scheduler	
 ☑ Image Quo S Packet ☑ Image G Pile and Print 	Scheduler er Sharing for Microsoft	Networks
GoS Packet File and Print Antemet Prote	Scheduler er Sharing for Microsoft pcol Version 6 (TCP/IP	t Networks v6)
GoS Packet G	Scheduler er Sharing for Microsoft ocol Version 6 (TCP/IP ocol Version 4 (TCP/IP	t Networks v6) v4)
✓ Gracket ✓ Gracket ✓ Gracket ✓ Gracket ✓ File and Print ✓ Internet Prote ✓ Internet Prote ✓ Link-Layer To	Scheduler er Sharing for Microsoft pool Version 6 (TCP/IP pool Version 4 (TCP/IP opology Discovery Map	: Networks v6) v4) per I/O Driver
 House Packet File and Print Internet Proto Internet Proto Internet Proto Ink-Layer Tri Ink-Layer Tri 	Scheduler er Sharing for Microsoft bool Version 6 (TCP/IP- bool Version 4 (TCP/IP- boology Discovery Map opology Discovery Res	: Networks v6) v4) per I/O Driver ponder
	Scheduler er Sharing for Microsoft occil Version 6 (TCP/IP) occil Version 4 (TCP/IP) opology Discovery Map opology Discovery Res	: Networks v6) v4) per I/O Driver ponder
Gos Packet G	Scheduler er Sharing for Microsoft occil Version 6 (TCP/IP) occil Version 4 (TCP/IP) opology Discovery Map opology Discovery Res	: Networks v6) v4) per I/O Driver ponder Properties
Gestand States G	Scheduler er Sharing for Microsoft soci Version 6 (TCP/IP) soci Version 6 (TCP/IP) soci Version 7 (TCP	: Networks v6) v4) per I/O Driver ponder Properties
Ges Packet Ges Packet Ges Pile and Print Anternet Prote Anternet Anternet Prote Anternet Anternet	Scheduler er Sharing for Microsoft cool Version 6 (TCP/IP) poology Discovery Map poology Discovery Map poology Discovery Res Uninstall ol Protocol/Internet Pro protocol Internet Pro protocol Internet Pro-	: Networks v6) v4) per I/O Driver ponder Properties tocol. The default tommunication
Ges Packet Ges Packet Ges Pile and Pint Anternet Prote Anternet Protein Anternet Protein Anternet Protein Anternet Protein Anternet Anternet Protein Anternet Protein Anternet Protein Anternet Anternet Anternet Protein Anternet Anterne	Scheduler er Sharing for Microsoft Jocol Version 6 (TCP/IP) acol Version 6 (TCP/IP) acol Version 6 (TCP/IP) apology Discovery Map apology Discovery Map ap	: Networks v6) (4) per I/O Driver ponder Properties tocol. The default communication

Figure 67: Local Area Connection Properties - Windows Vista

- **3.** Ensure that both Client for Microsoft Networks and Internet Protocol (TCP/IP) are installed and checked as shown.
- 4. If NetBEUI is installed and checked, uncheck it or uninstall it.

- 5. Highlight the appropriate TCP/IP connection. Be careful not to uncheck the checkbox.
- 6. Click Properties.

The Internet Protocol Properties dialog appears as shown in *Figure 68: Internet Protocol Properties – Windows Vista* on page 111.

You car this cap for the	a get IP settings assigned a pability. Otherwise, you ner appropriate IP settings.	utomatically if ed to ask your	your n networ	etwork s k admini	supports istrator
() Oł	btain an IP address automa	tically			
- O Us	se the following IP address				
IP ac	ddress:	() ()	ġ.	÷	
Subr	net mask:			\sim	
Defa	ult gateway;		э.	÷	
() Oł	btain DNS server address a	utomatically			
O Us	se the following DNS server	addresses:			
Prefe	erred DNS server:				
Alter	nate DNS server:	+	a.		
				Adva	anced

Figure 68: Internet Protocol Properties – Windows Vista

- 7. Ensure that both the Obtain an IP address automatically and Obtain DNS server address automatically options are selected.
- 8. Click OK.
- 9. Confirm that you have an IP address:
 - a) Click **Start** \rightarrow **Run**.
 - b) Type cmd and click OK.
 - c) Type ipconfig/renew and press Enter.
 - d) Make sure an IP address is shown on the line that starts with IP Address.

Configuring Windows XP to use DHCP

This section explains how to configure your computer to use DHCP if your computer operating system is Microsoft Windows XP.

- 1. From the Windows desktop, select Start \rightarrow Settings \rightarrow Control Panel.
- 2. Double-click the Network and Dialup Connections icon.

Note: If Control Panel is in category view, select **Network and Internet Connections**; then select **Network Connections**.

A list of network adapters appears as shown in *Figure 69: Network connections – Windows XP* on page 112. A Local Area Connection icon *must* appear under the LAN or High-Speed Internet heading. If it does not, the network is not installed correctly.

S Network Conne	ections	×
File Edit View	Favorites Tools Advanced Help	1
🕝 Back 🔹 🕥	🕞 🌮 Search 🎼 Folders 🕼	»
LAN or High-Spee	d Internet	^
Local Area Connection Wizard	Disable Status Repair Bridge Connections Create Shortcut Delete Rename	III
New Connection Wizard	Properties	<
🚽 View or change se	ttings for this connection, such as adapter, prot	0:

Figure 69: Network connections - Windows XP

- **Note:** If a red X appears next to the Local Area Connection icon, check your connections. You cannot successfully configure your system if the red X is present.
- **3.** Right-click the Local Area Connection icon that represents the network adapter connecting the computer to the Satellite Gateway, and select **Properties**. The Local Area Connection Properties dialog appears as shown in *Figure 70: Local Area Connection Properties Windows XP* on page 112.

Gener	al Advanced					
Conn	nect using:				_	
B	Intel(R) PRO	100 VI	M Network	Conn	Confi	gure
This	connection use	es the fo	ollowing ite	ems:		
> > >	Client for M File and Pri QoS Packe Internet Pro	licrosofi inter Sh et Sche otocol (t Networks aring for N duler TCP/IP)	s ∕licrosoft №	Vetworks	
	Install		Uninsta		Prope	erties
Tr wi ac	ansmission Cor ide area networ cross diverse int	trol Pro k proto erconn	tocol/Inte col that pr ected net	met Proto ovides co works.	col. The d mmunicatio	efault on
▼ S ▼ N	how icon in not lotify me when t	ificatior	n area whe mection ha	en connectas limited (cted or no conn	ectivity

Figure 70: Local Area Connection Properties - Windows XP

- **4.** Ensure that both Client for Microsoft Networks and Internet Protocol (TCP/IP) are installed and checked as shown.
- 5. If NetBEUI is installed and checked, uncheck it or uninstall it.
- 6. Highlight Internet Protocol (TCP/IP). Be careful not to uncheck the checkbox.

7. Click Properties.

The Internet Protocol Properties dialog appears as shown in *Figure 71: Internet Protocol Properties – Windows XP* on page 113.

Internet Protocol (TCP/IP)	Properties ?
General Alternate Configuration	
You can get IP settings assigned a this capability. Otherwise, you need the appropriate IP settings.	utomatically if your network supports to ask your network administrator for
 Obtain an IP address automat 	ically
Use the following IP address:	
IP address:	
Subnet mask:	
Default gateway:	
Obtain DNS server address at	utomatically
O Use the following DNS server	addresses:
Preferred DNS server:	
Alternate DNS server:	
	Advanced
	OK Cancel

Figure 71: Internet Protocol Properties – Windows XP

- **8.** On the General tab, ensure that both the Obtain an IP address automatically and Obtain DNS server address automatically options are selected. If not, select them.
- 9. Click OK.
- 10. Confirm that you have an IP address:
 - a) Click Start \rightarrow Run.
 - b) Type cmd and click OK.
 - c) Type ipconfig/renew and press Enter.
 - d) Make sure an IP address is shown on the line that starts with IP Address.

Configuring Windows 2000 to use DHCP

This section explains how to configure your computer to use DHCP if your computer operating system is Microsoft Windows 2000.

- 1. From the Windows desktop, select Start \rightarrow Settings \rightarrow Control Panel.
- 2. Double-click the Network and Dialup Connections icon in the Control Panel window.

A list of network connections appears. A Local Area Connection icon *must* appear on this page. If it does not, the network is not installed correctly.

3. Right-click the Local Area Connection icon that represents the satellite modem network connection, and select **Properties** as shown in *Figure 72: Accessing Local Area Connection Properties – Windows 2000* on page 122.



Figure 72: Accessing Local Area Connection Properties - Windows 2000

4. Ensure that both Client for Microsoft Networks and Internet Protocol (TCP/IP) are installed and checked in the Local Area Connection properties dialog as shown in *Figure 73: Local Area Connection Properties Dialog – Windows 2000* on page 122.

Connect usina:		
Intel(R) PR0/1	00 VM Network Connecti	on
		Configure
Components checker	d are used by this connect	ion:
🗹 🔜 Client for Mici	rosoft Networks	
 Client for Mich File and Print 	rosoft Networks er Sharing for Microsoft Ne	etworks
Client for Mic File and Print	rosoft Networks er Sharing for Microsoft Ne icol (TCP/IP)	etworks
✓ □ Client for Mici ✓ □ □ File and Print ✓ ↓ Internet Proto	rosoft Networks er Sharing for Microsoft Ne icol (TCP/IP)	etworks
 ✓ ■ Client for Mic: ✓ ■ File and Print ✓ ▼ Internet Proto 	rosoft Networks er Sharing for Microsoft Ne icol (TCP/IP)	etworks
 ✓	rosoft Networks er Sharing for Microsoft Ne hcol (TCP/IP) Uninstall	etworks Properties
Client for Mici File and Print File and Print File and Print Internet Proto Install Description	rosoft Networks er Sharing for Microsoft Ne col (TCP/IP)	etworks Properties
Client for Mic: Client for Mic: File and Print Install Description Transmission Cont	rosoft Networks er Sharing for Microsoft Ne wool (TCP/IP) Uninstall	Properties
Client for Micc File and Print File and Print File and Print File and Print Posciption Transmission Cont wide area network	rosoft Networks er Sharing for Microsoft Ne locol (TCP/IP) Uninstall rol Protocol/Internet Proto protocol that provides cor	Properties
Client for Mici File and Print File and Print File and Print File and Print Description Transmission Cont wide area network across diverse inte	rosoft Networks er Sharing for Microsoft Ne locol (TCP/IP) Uninstall rol Protocol/Internet Proto protocol that provides cor reconnected networks.	Properties Col. The default

Figure 73: Local Area Connection Properties Dialog - Windows 2000

- 5. If NetBEUI is installed and checked, uncheck it or uninstall it.
- 6. Highlight Internet Protocol (TCP/IP). Be careful not to uncheck the checkbox.
- 7. Click Properties.
 - The Internet Protocol Properties dialog appears as shown in *Figure 74: Internet Protocol Properties Windows 2000* on page 123.

ernet Protocol (TCP/IP) Pro	perties				?
ieneral					
You can get IP settings assigned this capability. Otherwise, you no the appropriate IP settings.	d automatic eed to ask	ally if y your ne	vour ne etwork	twork sup administra	ports tor for
 Obtain an IP address auto 	matically				
C Use the following IP addre	\$\$:				
IP address;	Г		55	+	
Subnet mask:	Г		<i>1</i> .		
Default gateway:	Г	4	÷.		
Obtain DNS server addres	s automatio	ally			
C Use the following DNS ser	ver addres	ses:—			
Preferred DNS server:	Г	÷	÷.		
Alternate DNS server.	Г	ų.	d.	-	
				Advar	nced
		Г	OK	1	Cancel

Figure 74: Internet Protocol Properties – Windows 2000

- **8.** On the General tab, ensure that both the Obtain an IP address automatically and Obtain DNS server address automatically options are selected. If not, select them.
- 9. Click OK to close the dialog box.
- 10. Click OK again to save the settings and close the Local Area Connection Properties dialog.
- 11. Confirm that you have an IP address:
 - a) Click Start \rightarrow Run.
 - b) Type cmd and click OK.
 - c) Type ipconfig/renew and press Enter.
 - d) Make sure an IP address is shown on the line that starts with IP Address.

Configuring a Mac computer to use DHCP

This section explains how to configure your computer to use DHCP if you are using an Apple Mac computer.

1. From the Mac interface, select System Preferences.

The System Preferences menu appears as shown in *Figure 75: Mac System Preferences menu* on page 116.

000		S	ystem Prefere	nces		(
Show All	Displays Soun	Network	Startup Disk			
Personal						
		File	(3)	6	1	e
Desktop	Dock	General	International	Login Items	My Account	Screen Effects
Hardware						
0			\bigcirc	9		
CDs & DVDs	ColorSync	Displays	Energy Saver	Keyboard & Mouse	Sound	
Internet &	Network					
	6	0	a			
Internet	Network	QuickTime	Sharing			
System						
11	9	A	(0)	6	?	$(\mathbf{\hat{x}})$
Accounts	Classic	Date & Time	Software Update	Speech	Startup Disk	Universal Access
Other						
	1					
	2-39					



2. Under Internet & Network, click the Network icon (shown circled in the figure). The Network screen appears as shown in *Figure 72: Accessing Local Area Connection Properties – Windows 2000* on page 122.

how All Displays Sour	nd Network Startup Disk		
	Location: Automatic	:	
Show: Built-in Ether	net 🗘)	
	TCP/IP PPPoE App	oleTalk Proxies	
Configure:	Using DHCP	;	
		DNS Servers	(Optional)
IP Address:	139.85.158.186 (Provided by DHCP Server)		
Subnet Mask:	255.255.255.0		
Router:	139.85.158.1	Search Domains DIRECPC.COM	(Optional)
DUCP Client ID:			
DHCP Client ID:	(Optional)		

Figure 76: Mac Network screen

- **3.** Ensure that the TCP/IP tab is selected.
- 4. Select Using DHCP from the Configure drop-down list as shown in *Figure 77: Select DHCP from the configure drop-down menu* on page 117. The IP Address field becomes disabled.

	work
ice isplays Sound Network Startup D	isk
Location: Autom	atic 🗘
Show: Built-in Ethernet	•
Manually Using DHCP with Configure	manual IP address
Using BootP	(Optional)
IP Address: 139.85.158.186 (Provided by DHCP Serv	er)
Subnet Mask: 255.255.255.0	
Router: 139.85.158.1 DHCP Client ID: (Optional)	Search Domains (Optional) DIRECPC.COM
	Example: apple.com



5. Click Apply Now to close the screen.

Configuring a computer for a public IP address

If it is desired or necessary for a computer to have a fixed or permanent public IP address, the computer should be configured for a *public IP address*. For more information about IP addresses, see *Understanding the modem address and computer address* on page 107.

To configure the computer to use a public IP address, you manually enter the following information:

- IP address. You need a valid IP address for the computer. If the computer is part of a LAN, each computer on the LAN must have its own unique address.
- Subnet Mask. This is the subnet mask assigned to your satellite modem. You should have recorded this information in your *Quick Start Guide* during the registration process. You can also obtain it from the System Information page of the System Control Center.
- Default Gateway. This is the IP address of the satellite modem. You should have recorded this information in your *Quick Start Guide* during the registration process. You can also obtain it from the System Information page of the System Control Center.

Configuring Windows Vista – Public IP address

Perform the following procedures to configure a computer running on Windows Vista for a public IP address.

- 1. Connect the installer laptop to the satellite modem using an Ethernet cable.
- 2. From the Windows desktop on the installer laptop, select Start → Settings → Network Connections.

A list of network adapters appears as shown in *Figure 78: Network connections – Windows Vista* on page 118. A Local Area Connection-NIC Card icon *must* appear under the LAN or High-Speed Internet heading. If it does not, the network is not installed correctly.



Figure 78: Network connections – Windows Vista

- **Note:** If a red X appears next to the Local Area Connection icon, check your connections. You cannot successfully configure your system if the red X is present.
- **3.** Right-click the icon that represents the satellite modem network connection, and select **Properties**.

The Local Area Connection-NIC Card Properties dialog appears as shown in *Figure 79: Local Area Connection Properties – Windows Vista* on page 118.

Note: Depending on your security settings, a pop-up User Account Control message may appear, requesting that you confirm the action before proceeding. If you see this message, click **Continue** to proceed.

Connect using: Connect using: Configure Pris connection uses the following items: Configure This connection uses the following items: Configure Configure This connection uses the following items: Configure Config	Connect using: Realtek RTL8169/8110 Family PCI Gigs This connection uses the following items: Client for Microsoft Networks Gos Packet Scheduler File and Printer Sharing for Microsoft N Internet Protocol Version 4 (TCP/IPv4 Link-Layer Topology Discovery Mapp Link-Layer Topology Discovery Respondence Install Uninstall Description Transmission Control Protocol/Internet Protocol	etworks
Reatek RTL8169/8110 Family PCI Gigabit Ethemet NIC (Realtek RTL8169/8110 Family PCI Gigs This connection uses the following items: Gent for Microsoft Networks GoS Packet Scheduler Gent Protocol Version 6 (TCP/IPV6 Internet Protocol Version 4 (TCP/IPv6 Link-Layer Topology Discovery Mapp Link-Layer Topology Discovery Respondence Install Uninstall Description Transmission Control Protocol/Internet Protocol Internet Protocol/Internet Protocol Internet Protocol/Internet Protocol Internet Protocol Internet	etworks
Configure This connection uses the following items: Cient for Microsoft Networks Cient for Microsoft Networks Cient for Microsoft Networks Cienter Protocol Version 6 (TCP/IPv6) Cientemet Protocol Version 4 (TCP/IPv4) Cientemet Protoc	This connection uses the following items:	Configure etworks r I/O Driver
This connection uses the following items: Client for Microsoft Networks Client for Microsoft Networks Client for Microsoft Networks Client for Microsoft Networks Client Protocol Version 6 (TCP/IPv6) Clientet Protocol Version 6 (TCP/IPv6) Clientet Protocol Version 6 (TCP/IPv6) Clientet Protocol Version 9 (TCP/IPv6)	This connection uses the following items:	etworks
	Client for Microsoft Networks Client for Microsoft Networks Client for Microsoft Networks Client for Microsoft Networks Client for Microsoft Networks Client for Microsoft Networks Client for Microsoft Networks Client for Microsoft Networks Client for Microsoft Networks Client for Microsoft Networks Client for Microsoft Networks	etworks) r 1/O Driver
GoS Packet Scheduler GoS Packet Sched	QoS Packet Scheduler QoS Packet Scheduler Generation of the scheduler Generation of the scheduler Anternet Protocol Version 6 (TCP/IPv6 Anternet Protocol Version 4 (TCP/IPv6 Anternet Protocol 4 (TCP/IPv6	letworks) ir 1/0 Driver
Pie and Printer Sharing for Microsoft Networks Internet Protocol Version 6 (TCP/IPv6) Internet Protocol Version 4 (TCP/IPv4) Link-Layer Topology Discovery Mapper I/O Driver Link-Layer Topology Discovery Responder Install Uninstall Properties Description Transmission Control Protocol/Internet Protocol. The default wide area network protocol that provides communication across diverse intercommenced networks.	File and Printer Sharing for Microsoft I Anternet Protocol Version 6 (TCP/IPv6 Anternet Protocol Version 4 (TCP/IPv6 Anternet Protocol Ve	etworks) r I/O Driver
✓ Internet Protocol Version 6 (TCP/IPv6) ✓ Internet Protocol Version 4 (TCP/IPv4) ✓ Link-Layer Topology Discovery Mapper I/O Driver ✓ Link-Layer Topology Discovery Responder ✓ Description Transmission Control Protocol/Internet Protocol. The default wide area network protocol that provides communication across diverse interconnected networks.	A Internet Protocol Version 6 (TCP/IPv6 A Internet Protocol Version 4 (TCP/IPv6 A Internet Protocol Version 4 (TCP/IPv6 A Unk-Layer Topology Discovery Mapp A Unk-Layer Topology Discovery Response Install Uninstall Description Transmission Control Protocol/Internet Protocol Installer) r 1/O Driver
		r 1/0 Driver
Link-Layer Topology Discovery Mapper I/O Driver Link-Layer Topology Discovery Responder Install Uninstall Properties Description Transmission Control Protocol/Internet Protocol. The default wide area network protocol that provides communication across diverse interconnected networks.	A Link-Layer Lopology Discovery Mapp A Link-Layer Topology Discovery Resp Install Uninstall Description Transmission Control Protocol/Internet Proto wide area network protocol lint provides co	r I/O Driver
Install Uninstall Properties Description Transmission Control Protocol/Internet Protocol. The default wide area network protocol that provides communication across diverse interconnected networks.	Install Uninstall Description Transmission Control Protocol/Internet Proto wide area petwork protocol that provides po	nder
Install Uninstall Properties Description Transmission Control Protocol/Internet Protocol. The default wide area network protocol that provides communication across diverse interconnected networks.	Install Uninstall Description Transmission Control Protocol/Internet Proto wide area petwork protocol that provides po	nuer
Description Transmission Control Protocol/Internet Protocol. The default wide area network protocol that provides communication across diverse interconnected networks.	Description Transmission Control Protocol/Internet Proto wide area network protocol that provides on	Desarding
Description Transmission Control Protocol/Internet Protocol. The default wide area network protocol that provides communication across diverse interconnected networks.	Description Transmission Control Protocol/Internet Proto wide area network protocol that provides co	riopenies
vide area network protocol/internet Protocol. The default wide area network protocol that provides communication across diverse interconnected networks.	Vide area network protocol that provides on	
across diverse interconnected networks.		nmunication
	across diverse interconnected networks.	

Figure 79: Local Area Connection Properties - Windows Vista

- 4. Ensure that both Client for Microsoft Networks and Internet Protocol (TCP/IP) are installed and checked as shown.
- 5. If NetBEUI is installed and checked, uncheck it or uninstall it.

- 6. Highlight the appropriate TCP/IP connection. Be careful not to uncheck the checkbox.
- 7. Click Properties.

The Internet Protocol Properties dialog appears as shown in *Figure 80: Internet Protocol Properties – Windows Vista* on page 119.

You can get IP settings assig this capability. Otherwise, ye for the appropriate IP settin	ned automatically if your network supports ou need to ask your network administrator gs.	
Obtain an IP address a	utomatically	
• Use the following IP ad	dress:	This is an <i>example</i> of
IP address:	66 . 55 . 4 . 8	the dialog with address
Subnet mask:	255 . 255 . 255 . 248	information entered.
Default gateway:	66 . 55 . 133 . 105	Do not copy these
Obtain DNS server add	ress automatically	numbers.
Use the following DNS s	erver addresses:	
Preferred DNS server:		
Alternate DNS server:		
	Advanced	

Figure 80: Internet Protocol Properties – Windows Vista

- 8. On the General tab, select Use the following IP address.
- 9. Type the desired address in the IP address field. If you do not know what public IP address or range of addresses is available to you, see Understanding the modem address and computer address on page 107.
- 10. Type the desired subnet mask in the Subnet mask field.
 - **Note:** If you are configuring a computer for use with a newly installed satellite modem, you do not need to enter information in the Default gateway, Preferred DNS server, or Alternate DNS server fields.

11. Click OK.

Configuring Windows XP – Public IP address

Perform the following procedures to configure a computer running on Windows XP for a public IP address.

- 1. Connect the installer laptop to the satellite modem using an Ethernet cable.
- 2. From the Windows desktop, select Start \rightarrow Settings \rightarrow Control Panel.
- 3. Double-click the Network Connections icon in the Control Panel window.

A list of network adapters appears. A Local Area Connection icon *must* appear under the LAN or High-Speed Internet heading. If it does not, the network is not installed correctly.

 Right-click the Local Area Connection icon that represents the satellite modem network connection, and select Properties as shown in *Figure 81: Accessing Local Area Connection Properties – Windows XP* on page 120.

File Edit View Favorites Tools Advanced Help Back Search Folders Folders Chain or High-Speed Internet LAN or High-Speed Internet Disable Status Repair Bridge Connections Create Shortcut Delete Rename Vizard Properties New Connection Wizard	S Network Conn	ections	
Back Image: Constraint of the second sec	File Edit View	Favorites Tools Advanced Help	.
LAN or High-Speed Internet	🕞 Back 🔹 📀	🔹 🏂 🔎 Search 😥 Folders 🕼	»
Disable Status Repair Bridge Connections Create Shortcut Delete Rename Properties New Connection Wizard	LAN or High-Spee	d Internet	^
Wizard Rename Properties	Local Area Connection	Disable Status Repair Bridge Connections Create Shortcut Delete	III
	Wizard	Properties	

Figure 81: Accessing Local Area Connection Properties - Windows XP

- **Note:** If a red X appears next to the Local Area Connection icon, check your connections. You cannot successfully configure your system if the red X is present.
- 5. Ensure that both Client for Microsoft Networks and Internet Protocol (TCP/IP) are installed and checked in the Local Area Connection properties dialog as shown in *Figure 82: Local Area Connection Properties Dialog Windows XP* on page 120.

🕹 Local Area Connection Properties 🛛 🔹 💽
General Advanced
Connect using:
Intel(R) PRO/100 VM Network Conn Configure
This connection uses the following items:
Client for Microsoft Networks Gient for Microsoft Networks GoS Packet Scheduler Internet Protocol (TCP/IP)
Install Uninstall Properties Description Transmission Control Protocol/Internet Protocol. The default wide area network protocol that provides communication across diverse interconnected networks.
 ✓ Show icon in notification area when connected ✓ Notify me when this connection has limited or no connectivity
OK Cancel

Figure 82: Local Area Connection Properties Dialog - Windows XP

- 6. If NetBEUI is installed and checked, uncheck it or uninstall it.
- 7. Highlight Internet Protocol (TCP/IP). Be careful not to uncheck the checkbox.
- 8. Click Properties.

The Internet Protocol Properties dialog appears as shown in *Figure 83: Internet Protocol Properties – Windows XP* on page 121.

Internet Protocol (TCP/IF	P) Properties 🛛 🛛 🛛 🛛 🥐 🔀	
General Alternate Configuration		
You can get IP settings assigned this capability. Otherwise, you nee the appropriate IP settings.	automatically if your network supports ad to ask your network administrator for	
Ubtain an IP address autom	atically	This is an <i>example</i> of
IP address:	97 . 73 . 73 . 5	the dialog with address
Subnet mask:	255 . 255 . 255 . 252	information entered.
Default gateway:	66 . 82 . 133 . 105	Do not copy these
O Obtain DNS server address	automatically	numbers.
• Use the following DNS serve	er addresses:	
Preferred DNS server:		
Alternate DNS server:		
	Advanced	

Figure 83: Internet Protocol Properties – Windows XP

- 9. On the General tab, select Use the following IP address.
- **10.** Type the desired address in the IP address field. If you do not know what public IP address or range of addresses is available to you, see Understanding the modem address and computer address on page 107.
- **11.** Type the desired subnet mask in the Subnet mask field.
 - **Note:** If you are configuring a computer for use with a newly installed satellite modem, you do not need to enter information in the Default gateway, Preferred DNS server, or Alternate DNS server fields.

12. Click OK.

Configuring Windows 2000 – Public IP address

Perform the following procedures to configure a computer running on Windows 2000 for a public IP address.

- 1. Connect the installer laptop to the satellite modem using an Ethernet cable.
- 2. From the Windows desktop, select Start \rightarrow Settings \rightarrow Control Panel.
- 3. Double-click the Network and Dialup Connections icon in the Control Panel window. A list of network adapters appears. A Local Area Connection icon must appear on the page. If it does not, the network is not installed correctly.
- 4. Right-click the Local Area Connection icon that represents the satellite modem network connection, and select Properties as shown in Figure 72: Accessing Local Area Connection Properties – Windows 2000 on page 122.



Figure 84: Accessing Local Area Connection Properties - Windows 2000

5. Ensure that both Client for Microsoft Networks and Internet Protocol (TCP/IP) are installed and checked in the Local Area Connection properties dialog as shown in *Figure 73: Local Area Connection Properties Dialog – Windows 2000* on page 122.

neral		
onnect using:		
Intel(R) PRO/10	00 VM Network Connec	tion
		Configure
omponents checked	are used by this conne	ction:
🗹 📇 Client for Micro	osoft Networks	and an
I 📑 File and Printe	r Sharing for Microsoft P	letworks
🗹 🧯 Internet Protoc	col (TCP/IP)	
L	11-5-1-11	Decention
Install	Uninstall	Properties
Install	Uninstall	Properties
Install Description Transmission Contro	Uninstall	Properties ocol. The default
Install Description Transmission Contro wide area network p	Uninstall of Protocol/Internet Prot protocol that provides c	Properties ocol. The default ommunication
Install Description Transmission Contro wide area network p across diverse inter	Uninstall of Protocol/Internet Prot protocol that provides c connected networks.	Properties ocol. The default ommunication
Install Description Transmission Contro wide area network p across diverse inter	Uninstall of Protocol/Internet Prot protocol that provides c connected networks.	Properties ocol. The default ommunication
Install Description Transmission Contro wide area network p across diverse inter Show icon in taskt	Uninstall Di Protocol/Internet Prot protocol that provides c connected networks. Dar when connected	Properties ocol. The default ommunication

Figure 85: Local Area Connection Properties Dialog - Windows 2000

- 6. If NetBEUI is installed and checked, uncheck it or uninstall it.
- 7. Highlight Internet Protocol (TCP/IP). Be careful not to uncheck the checkbox.
- 8. Click Properties.

The Internet Protocol Properties dialog appears as shown in *Figure 74: Internet Protocol Properties – Windows 2000* on page 123.

nternet Protocol (TCP/IP) Prop	erties	<u>? ×</u>
General		
You can get IP settings assigned this capability. Otherwise, you nee the appropriate IP settings.	automatically if your network supports d to ask your network administrator fo) Dr
Obtain an IP address autor	atically	This is an avama/a at
Use the following IP addres	8:	I his is an example of
IP address:	66 . 82 . 133 . 106	the dialog with addres
Subnet mask:	255 . 255 . 255 . 248	information entered.
Default gateway:	66 . 02 . 133 . 105	Do not copy these
C Obtain DNS server address	automatically	numbers.
☐ Use the following DNS serv	er addresses:	
Preferred DNS server:	· · ·	
Alternate DNS server:	<u> </u>	
	Advanced	
	OK Can	ncel

Figure 86: Internet Protocol Properties - Windows 2000

- 9. On the General tab, select Use the following IP address.
- 10. Type the desired address in the IP address field.

If you do not know what public IP address or range of addresses is available to you, see *Understanding the modem address and computer address* on page 107.

- 11. Type the desired subnet mask in the Subnet mask field.
 - **Note:** If you are configuring a computer for use with a newly installed satellite modem, you do not need to enter information in the Default gateway, Preferred DNS server, or Alternate DNS server fields.

12. Click OK to close the dialog box.

13. Click OK again to save the settings and close the Local Area Connection Properties dialog.

Configuring a Mac computer – Public IP address

Perform the following procedures to configure a Mac system for a public IP address.

 From the Mac interface, select System Preferences. The System Preferences menu appears as shown in *Figure 87: Mac System Preferences menu* on page 124.

000		S	ystem Prefere	nces		(
Show All	Displays Sou	und Network	Startup Disk			
Personal						
		File	(3)	6	1	e
Desktop	Dock	General	International	Login Items	My Account	Screen Effects
Hardware						
(\circ)			\bigcirc	9		
CDs & DVDs	ColorSync	Displays	Energy Saver	Keyboard & Mouse	Sound	
Internet &	Network					
	6	Ø	A			
Internet	Network	QuickTime	Sharing			
System						
11	9	Pa	(@)	8	?	$(\mathbf{\hat{x}})$
Accounts	Classic	Date & Time	Software Update	Speech	Startup Disk	Universal Access
Other						
	N					
	Minhay Marrie					

Figure 87: Mac System Preferences menu

2. Under Internet & Network, click the Network icon (shown circled in the figure). The Network screen appears as shown in *Figure 88: Mac Network screen* on page 124.

	Ne	etwork 1		
v All Displays S	ound Network Startup	Disk		
	Location: Autor	matic	•	
how: Built-in Eth	ernet	;		
	TCP/IP PPPoE	AppleTalk	Proxies	
Configure	e: Using DHCP		\$	
		DNS S	ervers	(Optional)
IP Addres	s: 139.85.158.186 (Provided by DHCP Ser	rver)		
Subnet Mas	<: 255.255.255.0			
		Search	Demains	(Ontional)
Route	r: 139.85.158.1	Searci	n Domains	(optional)
Route DHCP Client IE	r: 139.85.158.1): (Optional)	DIREC	PC.COM	(Optional)

Figure 88: Mac Network screen

- **3.** Ensure that the TCP/IP tab is selected.
- 4. Select Manually from the Configure drop-down list as shown in *Figure 89: Select Manually from the configure drop-down menu* on page 125.

000	Netwo	k	e
Show All Displays Sou	nd Network Startup Disk		
	Location: Automatic	;	
Show: Built-in Ether	net 🗘)	
	TCP/IP PPPoE App	oleTalk Proxies	,
Configure IP Address	/ Manually Using DHCP with ma Using DHCP Using BootP	nual IP address	
Subnet Mask:	255.255.255.0		
Subnet Mask: Router:	255.255.255.0 139.85.158.1	Search Domains DIRECPC.COM	(Optional)

Figure 89: Select Manually from the configure drop-down menu

- Select the desired IP address. There may be only one address available or a range of available addresses, depending on the customer's service plan. For additional information, see *Understanding the modem address and computer address* on page 107.
- 6. Click Apply Now to close the screen and complete the configuration.

Configuring proxy settings

If your web browser cannot connect to the Internet, check the browser's proxy settings. If the browser is configured for the computer to use a proxy server to connect to the Internet, try changing the setting to *not* use a proxy server.

Configuring Internet Explorer to not use a proxy server

Follow these steps to configure Internet Explorer to not use a proxy server.

- 1. Turn the computer on and open Internet Explorer.
- **2.** Select Tools \rightarrow Internet Options .
- **3.** Select the Connections tab and click LAN settings. The LAN settings dialog appears.

	utomatic cor se of manual	nfiguration ma l settings, disa	ay override manual setting able automatic configuratio	gs. To ensure the
Г	Use auton	natic configur	ation script	
	Address			
Pro	oxy server			
Г	Use a prov dial-up or	ky server for VPN connecti	your LAN (These settings ions).	will not apply to
	Address:		Port; 80	Advanced
	E Bypas	s proxy serve	er for local addresses	

Figure 90: LAN settings - Internet Explorer

- 4. Uncheck the check box next to Use a proxy server for your LAN.
- 5. Click OK.
- 6. Close Internet Explorer and re-launch it to enable the changes.

Configuring Netscape to not use a proxy server

Follow these steps to configure Netscape Navigator to not use a proxy server.

- 1. Turn the computer on and open Netscape.
- 2. Select Edit \rightarrow Preferences . The Preferences window appears.
- 3. In the Category pane on the left side of the window, select Advanced \rightarrow Proxies .

Category	Provies		
D Appearance			
▼Navigator History Languages Helper Applicat	Configure Proxies to Access the Internet O Manual proxy configuration		
Smart Browsing	HTTP Proxy:	Port: 0	
Internet Search	SSL Proxy:	P <u>o</u> rt: 0	
	ETP Proxy:	Po <u>r</u> t: 0	
D Composer	Gopher Proxy:	Port: 0	
D Mail & Newsgroups	SOCKS Host:	Port: 0	
Instant Messenger ICQ Privacy & Security	SOCKS v4 O No Proxy for: localhost, 127.0.0.1) SOCKS V5	
	Example: .mozilla.org	, .net.nz	
Scripts & Plugins Keyboard Navi	O Automatic proxy configuration URL:		
Proxies			
-HTTP Networking			
- Software Insta 💌			

Figure 91: Proxy settings in Netscape Preferences window

- 4. In the Proxies pane on the right side of the window, select Direct connection to the Internet.
- 5. Click OK.
- 6. Close Netscape and re-launch it to enable the changes.
Conformance with standards and directives

The HN9000 satellite modem has been certified to conform to the standards shown in *Table 19: HN9000 standards compliance* on page 129. Additional information follows the table.

Table 19: HN9000 standards compliance

Category	Standard
Electromagnetic Interference (EMI) standards	FCC Part 15 for the United States
	ICES-003 for Canada
Safety standards	UL60950-1 for the United States
	CAN/CSA-C22.2 No. 60950-1 for Canada

Electromagnetic interference (EMI)

This product conforms to EMI standards of the U.S. FCC and Canadian CSA. To ensure compliance with these standards, installers and users must follow the installation, maintenance, and configuration procedures in the installation guide and user guide.

NOTICE

This is a class B product. In a domestic environment this product may cause radio interference in which case the user may be required to take adequate measures.

FCC Part 15

This section applies to the HN9000 satellite modem.

Standards to which Conformity is declared: FCC Part 15

The modem complies with Part 15 of the FCC Rules. Operation is subject to the following two conditions: (1) This device may not cause harmful interference, and (2) this device must accept any interference received, including interference that may cause undesired operation.

Responsible party's name: Hughes Network System, LLC

Address: 11717 Exploration Lane, Germantown, MD 20876

Telephone: 1 (866) 347-3292

Trade name: HUGHES

Type of equipment: Two-way Hughes system

Model numbers: HN9000 (1500826-xxxx)

The two-way Hughes system (HN9000) complies with the Canadian ICES-003, Class B standard.

Canada Class B warning

This Class B digital apparatus complies with Canadian ICES-003.

Cet appareil numérique de la classe B est conforme á la norme NMB-003 du Canada.

Operational and safety requirements for Canada

In addition to the warnings and safety guidelines listed in this document, the following operating conditions apply to the modem when used in Canada:

The Canadian Department of Communications label identifies certified equipment. This certification means that the equipment meets certain telecommunications network protective operational and safety requirements. The Department does not guarantee that the equipment will operate to the user's satisfaction.

Before installing the equipment, users should make sure they are permitted connect to the facilities of the local telecommunications company. The equipment must also be installed using an acceptable method of connection. In some cases, the company's inside wiring associated with a single line individual service may be extended by means of a certified connector assembly (telephone extension cord). The customer should be aware that compliance with the above conditions may not prevent degradation of service in some situations.

Repairs in Canada

Repairs to certified equipment should be made by an authorized Canadian maintenance facility designated by the supplier. Any repairs or alterations made by the user to this equipment, or equipment malfunctions, may give the telecommunications company cause to request the user to disconnect the equipment.

Users should ensure for their own protection that the electrical ground connections of the power utility, telephone lines, and internal metallic water pipe system, if present, are connected together. This precaution may be particularly important in rural areas.



Users should not attempt to make electrical ground connections themselves, but should contact the appropriate electrical inspection authority, or electrician, as appropriate.

Acronyms used in this guide

AC	Alternating current
AP	Antenna pointing
AWG	American Wire Gauge
BOD	Bandwidth on demand
CAN	Canada
CONUS	Continental United States
CSA	Canadian Standards Association
DAPT	DiSeqC antenna pointing tool
DC	Direct current
DHCP	Dynamic Host Configuration Protocol
DNS	Domain Name System
ECL	Emission Control Logic
EU	European Union
EMI	Electromagnetic Interference
ESN	Electronic serial number
EU	European Union
FAP	Fair access policy
FCC	Federal Communications Commission
FSB	Field service bulletin
FSO	Field service order
GPS	Global Positioning System
НТТР	HyperText Transfer Protocol
HVUL	High volume uplink
ICES	Interference-Causing Equipment Standard
ICMP	Internet Control Message Protocol
ID	Identifier
IDU	Indoor unit (satellite modem)
IFL	Inter-facility link
IGMP	Internet Group Management Protocol

IP	Internet Protocol
IRDP	Internet Router Discovery Protocol
ISP	Internet service provider
ISRP	A Hughes proprietary routing protocol
LAN	Local area network
LHCP	Left-hand circular polarization
LLC	Limited Liability Company
LNB	Low-noise block
MIP	Management information packet
NAT	Network address translation
NetBEUI	Extended User Interface (network transfer protocol)
NIC	Network interface card
NOC	(Hughes) Network Operations Center
NOCC	(Hughes) Network Operations Control Center
NSP	Network service provider
ODU	Outdoor unit (antenna and radio assembly)
OVT	Onsite validation tool
PBP	PEP Backbone Protocol (PEP – Performance Enhancing Proxy)
РС	Personal computer
PIN	Personal identification number
POS	Point-of-sale device
РТР	Point-to-point
QoS	Quality of service
RHCP	Right-hand circular polarization
SAM	Security access module
SAN	Site account number
SAT IN	Satellite in
SAT OUT	Satellite out
SNR	Signal-to-noise ratio
SQF	Signal quality factor
SSL	Secure Sockets Layer (security protocol)
ST	Satellite terminal (an alternate name for <i>satellite modem</i> ; used on some software screens)
ТСР	Transmission Control Protocol
TIP	Transmission information packet
UL	Uplink
	Underwriters Laboratory
VAC	Voltage, alternating current

Appendix C

VAR	Value added reseller
VSAT	Very small aperture terminal

Index

A

Activate link 52, 54 Activating the HughesNet service 51, 52, 54 prerequisites 52 summary 54 Address, See IP address Advanced Pages (Advanced Configuration and Statistics) 71, 103 accessing 71 Alternate IP address for installer laptop 15 Antenna documentation 9 installing 6, 27 pointing 27, 30 Audience for this guide xv

B

Browser requirements 13 Button links (System Control Center pages) 69

С

Cable connectors, tightness 29 Cables, approved types 9 Canada Class B warning 130 Canadian safety standards 130 Checklist for installation 8 Class B warning (Canada) 130 Commissioning 31, 32, 33, 35 activities 35 monitoring 32 prerequisites 32 progress messages 35 reference information 35 software downloading times 33 Computer IP address 107 Computer requirements 12 Computer settings 107, 109, 117, 125 DHCP settings 109 proxy settings 125 public IP address 117 Conformance with standards and directives 129 Connecting IFL cables 28 IFL cables to modem 29 installer laptop to satellite modem 19 satellite modem to customer's computer 52 Connectivity test page 100

D

DAPT 11, 28, 30 DHCP 52, 61, 100 DHCP settings 109 Downloading times 33

E

Electromagnetic interference 129 EMI standards 129 Entering installation parameters 20 Equipment needed for installation 11 Error messages registration 36 state codes 72, 88

F

FCC Part 15 129 Format for entering latitude and longitude 23 Front panel LEDs 96

G

Gateway, Internet 2 GPS receivers 11 Grounding requirements, outdoor equipment 12

Η

Hub 12

I

Icon for accessing Advanced Pages 71 IFL cable connectors 9, 12 IFL cables 12, 28, 29 connecting to DAPT 28 connecting to modem 29 grounding 28 installing 28 requirements 12 routing 28 Implement Public IP? screen 60 Installation checklist 8 Installation parameters 22 Installation Reference Sheet 11 Installation summary 6 Installer laptop computer alternate IP address 15 IP address 14 requirements 12 Installing antenna 27 IFL cables 28 outdoor equipment 27 preparing 5 satellite modem entering installation parameters 20

Index

Installing (continued) satellite modem (continued) summary 6 tasks 17 troubleshooting 40 Internet Gateway 2 IP address 13, 14, 15, 21, 57, 60, 66, 85, 100, 107, 108, 117 available addresses for computers and other devices 107 computer 107 **DHCP 100** for opening System Control Center after commissioning 66 before commissioning 21 installer laptop computer 14, 15 alternate address 15 link-local 13, 14 modem 57, 107 Welcome screen 57 multiple 108 not known 108 private IP address 60, 100, 107 public IP address 57, 60, 107, 117 System Information page Addressing section 85

L

Labeling IFL cables 29 LAN port 4, 53, 97 connecting 53 LEDs 97 Latitude and longitude, entering 23 LEDs front panel 96 LAN port 97 purpose 95 Link-local IP address 13, 14 installer laptop computer 14 Links (System Control Center) 67, 69 Location for satellite modem 18

M

Modem IP address 107 Modem IP address on Welcome page 57 Multiple-host configuration 2

N

Network address translation 107 Networking requirements 13

0

Opening System Control Center after commissioning 21, 66 prior to commissioning 21 Overview of the satellite modem 1 OVT 41, 42, 43 accessing 43 description 41 prerequisites for using 42 OVT (continued) procedures summary 42

P

Parameters on System Control Center screens 71 PIN 56 Pointing the antenna 30 Polarization (ODU polarization) 26 Position for operating modem 18 Powering down the satellite modem 11 Powering up the modem 19 Power outlet 8, 10, 19 testing 8, 19 Power supply 10 Preparing for installation 5 Private IP address 60, 107 Private network configuration 3 Proxy settings 125 Public IP address 57, 60, 107, 117

R

Reception Information page 77 Red flag indicators 73, 76, 78, 81 Reception Information page 78 System Status page 76 Transmission Information page 81 Registration error messages 36 Related installation documentation 9 Repairs in Canada 130 Rescue switch 100 Restart modem control 68 Routing IFL cables 28

S

Safety standards, Canadian 130 SAN 56 Satellite loopback connectivity test 100 Satellite modem overview 1 Scope of this guide xv Single-host configuration 2 Site survey 9 Software downloading times 33 Specifications 4 SQF value 25 Squinter 11, 30 Standards and directives 129 State codes 72, 88 Subscriber agreement 55 Supported configurations 2 Surge protector 12 System Control Center button links 69 common features 68 description 65 home page 66, 67 text links 67 links in left panel 71

System Control Center *(continued)* opening 21, 66 after commissioning 21 prior to commissioning 21 parameters, format 71 Reception Information page 77 status and information screens, format 71 System Information page 84 System Status button colors 70 System Status page 73 Terminal Status page 81 Transmission Information page 80 System Information page 84 System Status button colors 70 System Status button colors 70 System Status button colors 70 System Status page 73

Т

Terminal Info parameters 38

Terminal Initialization Sequence screen 32 Terminal Pointing Info screen 25 Terminal Status page 81 Tests and testing, See Troubleshooting Tools 11 Transmission Information page 80 Troubleshooting 40, 99, 100 cannot access System Control Center 100 installation problems 40 testing connectivity to satellite 100

V

Validating the installation, See OVT

W

Welcome screen 57

Index